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PART I

Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements
 

This Annual Report on Form 10-K of SANUWAVE Health, Inc. and its subsidiaries (“SANUWAVE” or the “Company”) contains forward-looking statements.  All
statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including those made by the management of the Company, other than statements of historical fact, are forward-looking
statements. Examples of forward-looking statements include statements regarding the Company’s future financial results, clinical trial results, regulatory approvals, operating
results, business strategies, projected costs, products, competitive positions, management’s plans and objectives for future operations, and industry trends.  These forward-
looking statements are based on management’s estimates, projections and assumptions as of the date hereof and include the assumptions that underlie such
statements.  Forward-looking statements may contain words such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “could,” “would,” “expect,” “plan,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “predict,”
“potential” and “continue,” the negative of these terms, or other comparable terminology.  Any expectations based on these forward-looking statements are subject to risks and
uncertainties and other important factors, including those discussed in this report, including the sections titled “Risk Factors” and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations.”  Other risks and uncertainties are and will be disclosed in the Company’s prior and future Securities and Exchange Commission
(the “SEC”) filings. These and many other factors could affect the Company’s future financial condition and operating results and could cause actual results to differ materially
from expectations based on forward-looking statements made in this document or elsewhere by the Company or on its behalf.  The Company undertakes no obligation to
revise or update any forward-looking statements.

Except as otherwise indicated by the context, references in this Annual Report on Form 10-K to “we,” “us” and “our” are to the consolidated business of the Company.
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Item 1. BUSINESS

Overview

We are a shockwave technology company using noninvasive, high-energy, acoustic shockwaves for regenerative medicine and other applications.  The Company’s initial focus
is regenerative medicine – utilizing noninvasive, acoustic shockwaves to solicit a biological response resulting in the body healing itself through the repair and regeneration of
tissue, musculoskeletal and vascular structures.  Our new lead regenerative product in the United States is the demaPACE® device, used for treating diabetic foot ulcers, which
is in a supplemental Phase III clinical study with possible FDA approval in 2015 providing positive clinical study results.
 

Our portfolio of healthcare products and product candidates activate biologic signaling and angiogenic responses, including new vascularization and microcirculatory
improvement, helping to restore the body’s normal healing processes and regeneration.  We intend to apply our Pulsed Acoustic Cellular Expression (PACE®) technology in
wound healing, orthopedic, plastic/cosmetic and cardiac conditions.  We currently are not marketing any commercial products in the United States.  Revenues are from sales of
the European Conformity Marking (“CE Mark”) devices and accessories in Europe, Canada and Asia/Pacific.

We believe we have demonstrated that our technology is safe and effective in stimulating healing in chronic conditions of the foot and the elbow through our United
States FDA Class III Premarket Approval (“PMA”) approved OssaTron device, and in the stimulation of bone and chronic tendonitis regeneration in the musculoskeletal
environment through the utilization of our OssaTron®, Evotron®, and orthoPACE ® devices in Europe and Asia.  Our lead product candidate for the global wound care market,
dermaPACE, has received the CE Mark allowing for commercial use on acute and chronic defects of the skin and subcutaneous soft tissue.

We are focused on developing our Pulsed Acoustic Cellular Expression (PACE) technology to activate healing in:

 · wound conditions, including diabetic foot ulcers, venous ulcers, pressure sores, burns and other skin eruption conditions;
 · orthopedic applications, such as eliminating chronic pain in joints from trauma or arthritis, speeding the healing of fractures (including nonunion or delayed-union

conditions), improving bone density in osteoporosis, fusing bones in the extremities and spine, and other potential sports injury applications;
 · plastic/cosmetic applications such as cellulite smoothing, graft and transplant acceptance, skin tightening, scarring and other potential aesthetic uses; and
 · cardiac applications for removing plaque due to atherosclerosis and improving heart muscle performance.
 

In addition, we believe there are significant license/partnership opportunities for our shockwave technology in non-medical uses, including energy, water, food and
industrial markets, and we believe we have a broad intellectual property portfolio and broad know-how.
 
dermaPACE – Our lead product candidate

The U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) has granted approval of our Investigational Device Exemption (IDE) Supplement to conduct a supplemental clinical trial
utilizing our lead device product for the global wound care market, the dermaPACE device, in the treatment of diabetic foot ulcers.  We have already identified and contracted
with clinical study sites and are in the process of contracting with additional sites for participation in the clinical study.  Patient enrollment is expected to begin in the second
quarter of 2013.

The double-blind, multi-center, randomized, sham-controlled, parallel group clinical trial plan incorporates the same primary efficacy endpoint of complete wound closure at 12
weeks as was utilized in the pivotal trial.  Similar to the pivotal trial, four (4) dermaPACE procedures will be administered during the first two weeks following subject enrollment.
In the upcoming trial, however, up to four (4) additional dermaPACE procedures will be delivered bi-weekly, between weeks 4 and 10 following subject enrollment, which we
believe will increase the between-group difference in complete wound closure in favor of dermaPACE over that observed in the first clinical trial. 
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We worked closely with the FDA to amend the protocol and develop the statistical plan for the supplemental clinical study. A substantial component of this work
involved using Bayesian statistical principles to define the dermaPACE treatment benefit established in our previously conducted pivotal study. Bayesian designs are supported
by the FDA where there is strong prior evidence that can be incorporated into the clinical study design. By incorporating the prior positive information regarding complete
wound closure after one treatment cycle to bear on the design of the additional study, substantially fewer patients are required than would otherwise be the case while still
ensuring adequate statistical power. This approach will save significant time and preserve scientific rigor.

The supplemental clinical study will incorporate an independent group of medical professionals who will independently adjudicate wound closure of individual patients
and correspond with the respective principal investigator if the decisions are contradictory to that made by the principal investigator to determine a final decision on the state of
closure of the wound.

Importantly, the study design allows for controlled interim monitoring of the data by an independent Data Monitoring Committee (“DMC”) to determine whether study
success has been achieved.  The first analysis for making a study success determination is projected to occur after 90 patients (approximately 45 per arm) have completed the
12-week primary efficacy evaluation period. If study data achieves pre-defined statistical and clinical success criteria associated with wound closure favoring dermaPACE, then
the clinical trial can be stopped, and we will submit a PMA for approval.  The controlled interim monitoring plan also includes a provision for DMC review of data prior to
enrollment of the 90 subjects.  This provision has been established in order to monitor the progress of the trial and ensure its alignment with our statistical plan, or to increase
the sample size should additional subjects be needed to demonstrate study success, or stop the trial if study success is deemed unattainable.  By monitoring the data in this
way, appropriate steps can be taken to allocate resources based on the direction the data is heading, prior to arriving at the 90 patient mark, which is the first point at which
study success may be determined per our agreement with the FDA. 

Our dermaPACE device has received the European CE Mark approval to treat acute and chronic defects of the skin and subcutaneous soft tissue, such as in the
treatment of pressure ulcers, diabetic foot ulcers, burns, and traumatic and surgical wounds.  We are actively marketing dermaPACE to the European Community, Canada and
Asia/Pacific, utilizing distributors in select countries.

Previous clinical work supporting our current dermaPACE clinical study

The dermaPACE device completed its pivotal Phase III, IDE trial in the United States for the treatment of diabetic foot ulcers in 2011 and a PMA Application was filed
with the FDA in July 2011. The primary study goal was to establish superiority in diabetic foot ulcer healing rates using the dermaPACE treatment compared to Sham-control,
when both are combined with the current standard of care.  The standard of care included wet-to-dry dressings, the most widely used primary dressing material in the United
States, and offloading with a walking boot for ulcers located on the plantar surface of the foot.

A total of 206 patients entered the dermaPACE study at 24 sites.  The patients in the study were followed for a total of 24 weeks.  The study’s primary endpoint, wound
closure, was defined as “successful” if the skin was 100% reepithelialized at 12 weeks without drainage or dressing requirements confirmed at two consecutive study visits.
 

A summary of the key study findings were as follows:
 
 · Patients treated with dermaPACE showed a strong positive trend in the primary endpoint of 100% wound closure. Treatment with dermaPACE increased the proportion

of diabetic foot ulcers that closed within 12 weeks by 36%, although the rate of complete wound closure between dermaPACE and Sham-control at 12 weeks in the
intention-to-treat (“ITT”) population was not statistically significant at the 95% confidence level used throughout the study (p=0.363). There were 22 out of 107 (21%)
dermaPACE subjects who achieved complete wound closure at 12 weeks compared with 15 out of 99 (15%) Sham-control subjects.

 · In addition to the originally proposed 12-week efficacy analysis, the FDA expressed interest in seeing the efficacy analysis carried over the full 24 weeks of the study. In
response, we conducted a series of secondary analyses of the primary endpoint of complete wound closure at 12 weeks and at each subsequent study visit out to 24
weeks.  The primary efficacy endpoint of complete wound closure reached statistical significance at 20 weeks in the ITT population with 36% of dermaPACE subjects
achieving complete wound closure compared with 23% of Sham-control subjects (p=0.047); in the efficacy evaluable (“EE”) population 38% of dermaPACE subjects
achieved complete wound closure beginning at 20 weeks, compared with 21% of Sham-control subjects (p=0.018).
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 · Subjects treated with dermaPACE achieved a significant increase in the rate of complete and/or ≥90% wound closure. We analyzed a clinically relevant ≥ 90% wound

closure endpoint that demonstrated statistical significance (p=0.0161) in favor of dermaPACE subjects (51/107, 48%) compared to patients randomized to receive
Sham-control (31/99, 31%).

 · Within 6 weeks following the initial dermaPACE treatment, and consistently throughout the 24-week period, dermaPACE significantly reduced the size of the target
ulcer compared with subjects randomized to receive Sham-control (p<0.05).

 · Of the subjects who achieved complete wound closure at 12 weeks, the recurrence rate at 24 weeks was only 4.5% in the dermaPACE group compared with 20.0% in
the Sham-control group.

 · Importantly, there were no meaningful statistical differences in the adverse event rates between the dermaPACE treated patients and the Sham-control group.  There
were no issues regarding the tolerability of the treatment which suggests that a second course of treatment, if needed, is a clinically viable option.

We filed with the FDA the clinical module of the dermaPACE PMA application in June 2011. In December 2011, we received a major deficiency letter from the FDA
regarding the FDA’s review of the dermaPACE PMA. The FDA issues a major deficiency letter to the applicant when the PMA lacks significant information necessary for the
FDA to complete its review or to determine whether there is reasonable assurance that the device is safe and effective for its intended use. The FDA comments on the
application in detail and requests the applicant to amend the application to respond to the cited deficiencies and provide the necessary information.

In its December 2011 letter, the FDA cited, among other deficiencies, the dermaPACE study’s failure to meet the study’s primary endpoint of 100% wound closure
compared with Sham-control at the 12-week time point. Among the letter’s recommendations to address the deficiency was for us to design and conduct another clinical trial
using the findings from any subgroup(s) that may support the safety and effectiveness of the dermaPACE device. We evaluated the comments in the FDA’s letter and after
further analyses of the clinical data and informal, non-binding interaction with the FDA, we have decided to conduct additional clinical work, as discussed above.

Pulsed Acoustic Cellular Expression (PACE) Technology for regenerative medicine

Our PACE product candidates, including our lead product candidate, dermaPACE, deliver high-energy acoustic pressure waves in the shockwave spectrum to produce
compressive and tensile stresses on cells and tissue structures. These mechanical stresses at the cellular level have been shown in pre-clinical work to promote angiogenic
and positive inflammatory responses, and quickly initiate the healing cascade. This has been shown in pre-clinical work to result in microcirculatory improvement, including
increased perfusion and blood vessel widening (arteriogenesis), the production of angiogenic growth factors, enhanced new blood vessel formation (angiogenesis) and the
subsequent regeneration of tissue such as skin, musculoskeletal and vascular structures. PACE procedures trigger the initiation of an accelerated inflammatory response that
speeds wounds into proliferation phases of healing and subsequently returns a chronic condition to an acute condition to help reinitiate the body’s own healing response.  We
believe that our PACE technology is well suited for various applications due to its activation of a broad spectrum of cellular events critical for the initiation and progression of
healing.

High-energy, acoustic pressure waves in the shockwave spectrum are the primary component of our previously developed product, OssaTron, which was approved by
the FDA and marketed in the United States for use in chronic tendonitis of the foot in 2000 and the elbow in 2003.  Additionally, acoustic shockwaves have been used safely at
much higher energy and pulse levels in the lithotripsy procedure (breaking up kidney stones) by urologists for over 20 years and has reached standard of care status.

We research, design, manufacture, market and service our products worldwide and believe we have already demonstrated that our technology is safe and effective in
stimulating healing in chronic conditions of the foot and the elbow through our United States FDA Class III PMA approved OssaTron device, and in the stimulation of bone and
chronic tendonitis regeneration in the musculoskeletal environment through the utilization of our orthoPACE, Evotron and OssaTron devices in Europe and Asia.

 
We believe our experience from our preclinical research and the clinical use of our predecessor legacy devices in Europe and Asia, as well as our OssaTron device in

the United States, demonstrates the safety, clinical utility and efficacy of these products.  In addition, we have preclinical programs focused on the development and better
understanding of treatments specific to our target applications.
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Currently, there are limited biological or mechanical therapies to activate the healing and regeneration of tissue, bone and vascular structures.  As baby boomers age,
the incidence of their targeted diseases and musculoskeletal injuries and ailments will be far more prevalent.  We believe that our pre-clinical and clinical studies suggest that
our PACE technology will be effective in targeted applications.  If successful, we anticipate that future clinical studies, including our dermaPACE clinical study in the United
States for treating diabetic foot ulcers, should lead to regulatory approval of our regenerative product candidates in the United States, Europe and Asia/Pacific.  If approved by
the appropriate regulatory authorities, we believe that our product candidates will offer new, effective and noninvasive treatment options in wound healing, orthopedic injuries,
plastic/cosmetic uses and cardiac procedures, improving the quality of life for millions of patients suffering from injuries or deterioration of tissue, bones and vascular structures.

Growth Opportunity in Wound Care Treatment

We are focused on the development of products that treat unmet medical needs in large market opportunities. Our primary interest is obtaining FDA approval for our
lead product candidate, dermaPACE, for the wound care market, with the first focus in the United States on diabetic foot ulcers.  Diabetes is common, disabling and deadly. In
the United States, diabetes has reached epidemic proportions.  According to the American Diabetes Association, about 25.8 million people (8.3% of the total United States
population) have diabetes, and nearly two million new cases are diagnosed in people aged 20 years or older each year. If current trends continue, 1 in 3 Americans will develop
diabetes at some point in their lifetime, and those with diabetes will lose, on average, 10-15 years of life expectancy.  Importantly, up to 25% of people with diabetes will
develop a diabetic foot ulcer, resulting in 3 million diabetic foot ulcers annually in the United States alone. More than half of all foot ulcers will become infected, thus requiring
hospitalization, and 1 in 5 will require an amputation that carries a high risk of mortality. Diabetes puts tremendous economic pressure on the United States healthcare
system.  In January 2011, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (the “CDC”) reported the total costs (direct and indirect) of diabetes in the United States is $174
billion annually, and people with diagnosed diabetes have medical expenditures that are over two times higher than medical expenditures for people without diabetes.
Hospitalization costs alone are $16,000 to $20,000 for a patient with a diabetic foot ulcer, and direct and indirect costs of an amputation range from $20,000 to $60,000 per
patient. Advanced, cost-effective treatment modalities for diabetes and its comorbidities, including diabetic foot ulcers, are in great need globally, yet in short supply. According
to the American Diabetes Association, by the year 2025 the prevalence of diabetes is expected to rise by 72% to 324 million people worldwide.

A majority of challenging wounds are non-healing chronic wounds.  These wounds often involve physiologic, complex and multiple complications such as reduced blood
supply, compromised lymphatic systems or immune deficiencies that interfere with the body’s normal wound healing processes.  In addition, diabetic ulcers and pressure ulcers
are often slow-to-heal wounds.  These wounds often develop due to a patient’s impaired vascular and tissue repair capabilities.  These conditions can also inhibit a patient’s
healing process, and often fail to heal for many months, and sometimes, for several years.  Wounds that are difficult to treat do not always respond to traditional therapies,
which include hydrocolloids, hydrogels and alginates, among other treatments.  We believe that physicians and hospitals need a therapy that addresses the special needs of
these wounds with high levels of both clinical and cost effectiveness.
 

We believe we are developing a safe and advanced technology in the wound healing and tissue regeneration market with PACE.  dermaPACE is noninvasive and does
not require anesthesia, making it a cost-effective, time-efficient and painless approach to wound care.  Physicians and nurses look for therapies that can accelerate the healing
process and overcome the obstacles of patients’ compromised conditions, and prefer therapies that are easy to administer.  In addition, since many of these patients are not
confined to bed, healthcare providers want therapies that are minimally disruptive to the patient’s or the caregiver’s daily routines. dermaPACE’s noninvasive treatment is
designed to elicit the body’s own healing response.  dermaPACE’s noninvasive treatments,  followed by simple standard of care dressing changes, are designed to allow for
limited disruption to the patients’ normal lives and have no effect on mobility while their wounds heal.

Developing Product Opportunities - Orthopedic

We launched in Europe the orthoPACE device, which is intended for use in orthopedic, trauma and sports medicine indications, following CE Marking in 2010.  The
device features four (4) types of applicators including a unique applicator that is less painful for some indications and may reduce or completely eliminate anesthesia for some
patients.  In the orthopedic setting, the orthoPACE is being used to treat tendinopathies and acute and nonunion fractures, including the soft tissue surrounding the fracture to
accelerate healing and prevent secondary complications and their associated treatment costs.
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We believe there are significant opportunities in the worldwide orthopedic market, driven by aging baby boomers and their desire for active lifestyles well into retirement

and the growth in the incidence of osteoporosis, osteoarthritis, obesity, diabetes and other diseases that cause injury to orthopedic tissues and/or impair the ability of the body
to heal injuries.

We have experience in the sports medicine field that generally refers to the non-surgical and surgical management of cartilage, ligament and tendon injuries through our
legacy devices, OssaTron and Evotron.  Common examples of these injuries include extremity joint pain, torn rotator cuffs (shoulder), tennis elbow, Achilles’ tendon tears and
torn meniscus cartilage in the knee.  Injuries to these structures are very difficult to treat because the body has a limited natural ability to regenerate these tissues.  Cartilage,
ligament and tendons seldom return to a pre-injury state of function.  Due to a lack of therapies that can activate healing and regenerate these tissues, many of these injuries
will result in a degree of permanent impairment and chronic pain.  Prior investigations and pre-clinical work indicate that PACE can activate various cell types and may be an
important adjunct to the management of sports medicine injuries.

Trauma injuries are acute and result from any physical damage to the body caused by violence or accident or fracture . Surgical treatment of traumatic fractures often
involves fixation with metallic plates, screws and rods (internal fixation) and include off-loading to prevent motion, permitting the body to initiate a healing response. In the
United States, six million traumatic fractures are treated each year, and over one million internal fixation procedures are performed annually. The prevalence of non-union
among these fractures is between 2.5% and 10.0% depending on the fracture type and risk factors such as diabetes and smoking history or other systemic diseases.  At the
time of surgery, adjunctive agents (such as autograft, cadaver bone and synthetic filling materials) are often implanted along with internal fixation to fill bony gaps or facilitate the
healing process to avoid delayed union or non-union (incomplete fracture healing) results. Both pre-clinical and clinical investigations have shown positive results, suggesting
our technology could potentially be developed as an adjunct to these surgeries or primary treatment protocol for delayed or non-union events.

Non-Medical Uses For Our Shockwave Technology

We believe there are significant license/partnership opportunities for our shockwave technology in non-medical uses, including energy, water, food and industrial markets.

Due to their powerful pressure gradients and localized cavitational effects, we believe high-energy, acoustic pressure shockwaves can be used to clean, in an energy
efficient manner, contaminated fluids from impurities, bacteria, viruses and other harmful micro-organisms, which provides opportunities for our technology in cleaning industrial
and domestic/municipal waters.  Based on the same principles of action of the shockwaves against bacteria, viruses and harmful micro-organisms, we believe our technology
can be applied for cleaning or sterilization of various foods as milk, natural juices and meats.

In the energy sector, we believe shockwaves can be used to improve oil recovery (IOR), as a supplement or in conjunction of existing fracking technology, which utilizes
high pressurized water/gases to crack the rocks that trap oil in the underground reservoir, through the use of our high-energy, acoustic pressure shockwaves to improve the
efficiency and reduce the environmental impact of the fracking process.  Furthermore, we believe our technology can be used for enhance oil recovery (EOR) based on the
changes in fluid flow characteristics resulting from shockwave stimulation, as a tertiary method of oil recovery from older oil fields.

Additionally, we believe high-energy, acoustic pressure shockwaves can disrupt biofilms and thus can be used to unclog pipes in the energy industry (shore or off-
shore installations), food industry and water management industry, which will reduce or eliminate down times with significant financial benefits for maintenance of existing
infrastructure.

Market Trends

We are focused on the development of regenerative medicine products that have the potential to address substantial unmet clinical needs across broad market
indications.  We believe there are limited therapeutic treatments that directly and reproducibly activate healing processes in the areas in which we are focusing, particularly for
wound care and repair of certain types of musculoskeletal conditions.

According to AdvaMed and Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services data and our internal projections, the United States advanced wound healing market for the
dermaPACE is estimated at $5 billion, which includes diabetic foot ulcers, pressure sores, burns and traumatic wounds, and chronic mixed leg ulcers.  We also believe there are
significant opportunities in the worldwide orthopedic and spine markets, driven by aging baby boomers and their desire for active lifestyles well into retirement and the growth in
the incidence of osteoporosis, osteoarthritis, obesity, diabetes and other diseases that cause injury to orthopedic tissues and/or impair the ability of the body to heal injuries.

With the success of negative pressure wound therapy devices in the wound care market over the last decade and the recognition of the global epidemic associated
with certain types of wounds, as well as deteriorating musculoskeletal conditions attributed to various disease states such as obesity, diabetes and ischemia due to vascular and
heart disease, as well as sports injuries, we believe that Medicare and private insurers have become aware of the costs and expenditures associated with the adjunctive
therapies being utilized for wound healing and orthopedic conditions with limited efficacies in full skin closure, or bone and tissue regeneration.  We believe the wound healing
and orthopedic markets are undergoing a transition, and are interested in biological response activating devices that are applied noninvasively and seek to activate the body’s
own capabilities for regeneration of tissue at injury sites in a cost-effective manner.
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Strategy

Our objective is to be a leader in the development and commercialization of our shockwave technology, which utilizes noninvasive, high-energy, acoustic shockwaves
for regenerative medicine and other applications.  The Company’s initial focus is regenerative medicine – utilizing noninvasive, acoustic shockwaves to solicit a biological
response resulting in the body healing itself through the repair and regeneration of tissue, musculoskeletal and vascular structures.  Our new lead regenerative product in the
United States is the demaPACE device for treating diabetic foot ulcers, which is in a final Phase III clinical study with possible FDA approval in 2015 pending positive clinical
study results.  We have significant license/partnership opportunities for our shockwave technology in medical and non-medical uses, including energy, food and industrial
markets, and have a broad intellectual property portfolio and know-how.

Our portfolio of healthcare products and product candidates activate biologic signaling and angiogenic responses, including new vascularization and microcirculatory
improvement, helping to restore the body’s normal healing processes and regeneration.  We intend to apply our Pulsed Acoustic Cellular Expression (PACE) technology in
wound healing, orthopedic, plastic/cosmetic and cardiac conditions.

Our immediate goal for our regenerative medicine technology involves leveraging the knowledge we gained from our existing human heel and elbow indications to
enter the advanced wound care market with innovative treatments.  

The key elements of our strategy include the following:

·Obtain FDA approval for our dermaPACE device to treat diabetic foot ulcers.
 

Our initial focus is obtaining FDA approval for our lead product candidate, dermaPACE, for the wound care market.  Diabetic foot ulcers represent a large, unmet need
for the medical community.  The FDA has granted approval of our IDE Supplement to conduct a supplemental clinical trial utilizing the dermaPACE device in the
treatment of diabetic foot ulcers.  We have already identified and contracted with clinical study sites and are in the process of contracting with addition sites for
participation in the clinical study.  Patient enrollment is expected to begin in the second quarter of 2013.
 
·Develop and commercialize our noninvasive biological response activating devices in the regenerative medicine area for the treatment of tissue,
musculoskeletal and vascular structures.

 
We intend to use our proprietary technologies and know-how in the use of high-energy, acoustic pressure waves in the shockwave spectrum to address unmet medical
needs in wound care, orthopedic, plastic/cosmetic and cardiac indications through potential license and/or partnership arrangements.
 

·License and partner our non-medical shockwave technology platform, know-how and extensive patent portfolio.

We intend to use our shockwave technology and know-how for non-medical uses, including energy, water, food and industrial markets, through license/partnership
opportunities.
 
·Support the global distribution of our products.

Our portfolio of products, the dermaPACE, orthoPACE, and Evotron are CE Marked and sold through select distributors in certain countries in Europe, Canada and
Asia/Pacific.  Our revenues are from sales of the devices and related applicators. We currently are not marketing any commercial products in the United States.  We
intend to continue to add additional distribution partners in Europe and Asia/Pacific.
 

Scientific Advisors

We have established a network of advisors that brings expertise in wound healing, orthopedics, cosmetics, clinical and scientific research, and FDA experience.  We
consult our scientific advisors on an as-needed basis on clinical and pre-clinical study design, product development, and clinical indications.

We pay consulting fees to certain members of our scientific advisory board for the services they provide to us, in addition to reimbursing them for incurred
expenses.  The amounts vary depending on the nature of the services.  We paid our advisors aggregate consulting fees through the issuance of stock options in 2012 and
recorded stock based compensation expense of $27,750 for the year ended December 31, 2012.  We paid our advisors aggregate consulting fees of $37,500 for the year
ended December 31, 2011.
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Sales, Marketing and Distribution

We currently are not marketing any commercial products in the United States. We currently do not have the sales or marketing resources required to commercialize our
products in the United States. We intend to advance our products to FDA approval where we can evaluate the options to seek a development and/or commercialization
partnership, or to make the investment to commercialize a product alone.  Outside the United States, we employ distributors to represent our products in selective international
markets.  These distributors have been selected based on their existing business relationships and the ability of their sales force and distribution capabilities to effectively
penetrate the market with our PACE product line.  We rely on these distributors to manage physical distribution, customer service and billing services for our international
customers.

Manufacturing

We have developed a network of suppliers, manufacturers and contract service providers to provide sufficient quantities of our products.

We have a manufacturing supply agreement with Swisstronics Contract Manufacturing AG in Switzerland, a division of Cicor Technologies Ltd., covering the generator
box component of our products.  Our generator boxes are manufactured in accordance with applicable quality standards (EN ISO 13485) and applicable industry and regulatory
standards.  We produce the applicators and applicator kits for our products.  In addition, we program and load software and perform the final product testing and certifications
internally for all of our devices.

Our facility in Alpharetta, Georgia consists of 5,168 square feet and provides office, research and development, quality control, production and warehouse space.  It is a
FDA registered facility and is ISO 13485 certified.

Intellectual Property

Our success depends in part on our ability to obtain and maintain proprietary protection for our products, product candidates, technology and know-how, to operate
without infringing on the proprietary rights of others and to prevent others from infringing upon our proprietary rights.  We seek to protect our proprietary position by, among
other methods, filing United States and selected foreign patent applications and United States and selected foreign trademark applications related to our proprietary technology,
inventions, products and improvements that are important to the development of our business.  Effective trademark, service mark, copyright, patent and trade secret protection
may not be available in every country in which our products are made available.  The protection of our intellectual property may require the expenditure of significant financial
and managerial resources.

Patents

We consider the protection afforded by patents important to our business.  We intend to seek and maintain patent protection in the United States and select foreign countries
where deemed appropriate for products that we develop.  There are no assurances that any patents will result from our patent applications, or that any patents that may be
issued will protect our intellectual property, or that any issued patents or pending applications will not be successfully challenged, including as to ownership and/or validity, by
third parties.  In addition, if we do not avoid infringement of the intellectual property rights of others, we may have to seek a license to sell our products, defend an infringement
action or challenge the validity of intellectual property in court.  Any current or future challenges to our patent rights, or challenges by us to the patent rights of others, could be
expensive and time consuming.

We derive our patent rights, including as to both issued patents and “patent pending” applications, from three sources: (1) assignee of patent rights in technology we
developed; (2) assignee of patent rights purchased from HealthTronics, Inc. (“HealthTronics”); and (3) as licensee of certain patent rights assigned to HealthTronics.  In August
2005, we purchased a majority of our current patents and patent applications from HealthTronics, to whom we granted back perpetual and royalty-free field-of-use license rights
in the purchased patent portfolio primarily for urological uses.  We believe that our owned and licensed patent rights provide a competitive advantage with respect to others that
might seek to utilize certain of our apparatuses and methods incorporating extracorporeal shockwave technologies that we have patented; however, we do not hold patent rights
that cover all of our products, product components, or methods that utilize our products.  We also have not conducted a competitive analysis or valuation with respect to our
issued and pending patent portfolio in relation to our current products and/or competitor products.
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We are the assignee of seventeen (17) issued United States patents and seven (7) issued foreign patents which, on average, have remaining useful lives of ten years
or longer.  Our current issued United States and foreign patents include patent claims directed to particular electrode configurations, piezoelectric fiber shockwave devices,
chemical components for shockwave generation and detachable therapy heads with data storage.  Our United States patents also include patent claims directed to methods of
using acoustic shockwaves, including shockwave devices such as our products, to treat ischemic conditions, spinal cord scar tissue and spinal injuries, body tissues under
positive pressure, bone surface gaps, and, within particular treatment parameters, diabetic foot ulcers and pressure sores.  While such patented method claims may provide
patent protection against certain indirect infringing promotion and sales activities of competing manufacturers and distributors, certain medical methods performed by medical
practitioners or related health care entities may be subject to exemption from potential infringement claims under 35 U.S.C. § 287(c) and, therefore, may limit enforcement of
claims of our method patents as compared to device and non-medical method patents.

 
We also currently maintain seven (7) United States non-provisional patent applications and two (2) foreign patent applications.  Our patent-pending rights include

inventions directed to certain shockwave devices and systems, ancillary products and components for shockwave treatment devices, and various methods of using acoustic
pressure waves.  Such patent-pending methods include, for example, using acoustic pressure waves to treat soft tissue disorders, bones, joints, wounds, skin, blood vessels
and circulatory disorders, lymphatic disorders, cardiac tissue, fat and cellulite, cancer, blood and fluids sterilization, and to destroy pathogens.  All of our United States and
foreign pending applications either have yet to be examined or require response to an examiner’s office action rejections and, therefore, remain subject to further prosecution,
the possibility of further rejections and appeals, and/or the possibility we may elect to abandon prosecution, without assurance that a patent may issue from any pending
application.

Under our license to HealthTronics, we reserve exclusive rights in our purchased portfolio as to orthopedic, tendonopathy, skin wounds, cardiac, dental and neural
medical conditions and to all conditions in animals (the “Ortho Field”).  HealthTronics receives field-exclusive and sublicensable rights under the purchased portfolio as to (1)
certain HealthTronics lithotripsy devices in all fields other than the Ortho Field, and (2) all products in the treatment of renal, ureteral, gall stones and other urological conditions
(the “Litho Field”).   HealthTronics also receives non-exclusive and non-sublicensable rights in the purchased portfolio as to any products in all fields other than the Ortho Field
and Litho Field.

Pursuant to mutual amendment and other assignment-back rights under the patent license agreement with HealthTronics, we are also a licensee of certain patents and
patent applications that have been assigned to HealthTronics.  We received a perpetual, non-exclusive and royalty-free license to nine (9) issued foreign patents.  Our non-
exclusive license is subject to HealthTronics’ sole discretion to further maintain any of the patents and pending applications assigned back to HealthTronics.

A Switzerland based company, SwiTech Medical AG (“SwiTech”), filed an ex parte reexamination request on March 23, 2010, against United States Pat. No. 6,972,116
which was assigned by HealthTronics to us on August 30, 2011. On February 14, 2012, we filed an appeal against rejections that all pending claims of the 6,972,116 patent
were obvious in view of newly cited prior art and we are awaiting examiner’s response.  If the patent claims are finally rejected by the United States Patent & Trademark Office
(the “USPTO”), we will continue to be able to use the patented materials in our devices.  While the ultimate outcome of this matter is not presently determinable, it is the opinion
of management that the resolution will not have a material adverse effect on the financial position or results of operations of the Company.

As part of the sale of the veterinary business in June 2009, we have also granted certain exclusive and non-exclusive patent license rights to Pulse Veterinary
Technologies, LLC under most of our patent portfolio to utilize shockwave technologies in the field of non-human mammals.

Given our international patent portfolio, there are growing risks of challenges to our existing and future patent rights.  Such challenges may result in invalidation or
modification of some or all of our patent rights in a particular patent territory, and reduce our competitive advantage with respect to third party products and services.  Such
challenges may also require the expenditure of significant financial and managerial resources.

If we become involved in future litigation or any other adverse intellectual property proceeding, for example, as a result of an alleged infringement, or a third party
alleging an earlier date of invention, we may have to spend significant amounts of money and time and, in the event of an adverse ruling, we could be subject to liability for
damages, including treble damages, invalidation of our intellectual property and injunctive relief that could prevent us from using technologies or developing products, any of
which could have a significant adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operation.  In addition, any claims relating to the infringement of third party
proprietary rights, or earlier date of invention, even if not meritorious, could result in costly litigation or lengthy governmental proceedings and could divert management’s
attention and resources and require us to enter into royalty or license agreements which are not advantageous, if available at all.
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Trademarks

Since other products on the market compete with our products, we believe that our product brand names are an important factor in establishing and maintaining brand
recognition. 

We have the following trademark registrations:  SANUWAVE ® (United States, European Community, Canada, Japan, Switzerland, Taiwan and under the Madrid
Protocol), dermaPACE® (United States, European Community, Japan, South Korea, Switzerland, Taiwan and under the Madrid Protocol), angioPACE ® (Australia, European
Community and Switzerland), PACE® (United States, European Community, China, Hong Kong, Singapore, Switzerland, Taiwan), orthoPACE ® (United States and European
Community), DAP® (United States) and Healing Today. Curing Tomorrow. ® (United States). 

We also maintain trademark registrations for: OssaTron® (United States and Germany), evoPACE® (Australia, European Community and Switzerland), Evotron ® (United
States, Germany and Switzerland), Evotrode® (Germany and Switzerland), HMT ® (Switzerland), Orthotripsy® (United States), Reflectron® (Germany and Switzerland),
Reflectrode® (Germany and Switzerland), CSWT® (Switzerland), OSWT® (Switzerland) and TSWT® (Switzerland).

We have filed pending trademark applications for: dermaPACE ™ (Canada), angioPACE™ (United States), PACE™ (Canada) and Profile ™ (United States, European
Community and Switzerland).  

Potential Intellectual Property Issues

Although we believe that the patents and patent applications, including those that we license, provide a competitive advantage, the patent positions of biotechnology and
medical device companies are highly complex and uncertain.  The medical device industry is characterized by the existence of a large number of patents and frequent litigation
based on allegations of patent infringement.  Our success will depend in part on us not infringing on patents issued to others, including our competitors and potential
competitors, as well as our ability to enforce our patent rights.  We also rely on trade secrets, know-how, continuing technological innovation and in-licensing opportunities to
develop and maintain our proprietary position.

Despite any measures taken to protect our intellectual property, unauthorized parties may attempt to copy aspects of our products and product candidates, or to obtain
and use information that we regard as proprietary.  In enforcement proceedings in Switzerland, we are currently assisting HealthTronics as an informer of misappropriation by
SwiTech and related third parties of intellectual property rights in legacy software and devices relating to assets we purchased from HealthTronics in August 2005.  Such
present or future actions against violations of our intellectual property rights may incur material expense and divert the attention of management.

Third parties that license our proprietary rights, such as trademarks, patented technology or copyrighted material, may also take actions that diminish the value of our
proprietary rights or reputation.  In addition, the steps we take to protect our proprietary rights may not be adequate and third parties may infringe or misappropriate our
copyrights, trademarks, trade dress, patents and similar proprietary rights.

We collaborate with other persons and entities on research, development and commercialization activities and expect to do so in the future.  Disputes may arise about
inventorship and corresponding rights in know-how and inventions resulting from the joint creation or use of intellectual property by us and our collaborators, researchers,
licensors, licensees and consultants.  In addition, other parties may circumvent any proprietary protection that we do have.  As a result, we may not be able to maintain our
proprietary position.

For additional risks related to our intellectual property, see “Risk Factors - Risks Related to Intellectual Property.”
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Competition

We believe the advanced wound care market can benefit from our solution which up-regulates the biological factors that promote wound healing.  Current technologies
developed by Kinetic Concepts, Inc. (“KCI”), Advanced BioHealing, Inc. (acquired by Shire plc in 2011), Organogenesis, Inc., Smith & Nephew plc, Integra LifeSciences
Holdings Corporation and Systagenix Wound Management (US), Inc. manage wounds, but, in our opinion, do not provide the value proposition to the patients and care givers
like our PACE technology has the potential to do.  The leading medical device serving this market is the Vacuum Assisted Closure (“V.A.C.”) System marketed by KCI.  The
V.A.C. is a negative pressure wound therapy device that applies suction to debride and better manage wounds.

There are also several companies that market extracorporeal shockwave device products targeting lithotripsy and orthopedic markets, including Dornier MedTech,
Storz Medical AG and Tissue Regeneration Technologies, LLC, and could ultimately pursue the wound care market.  Nevertheless, we believe that dermaPACE has a
competitive advantage over all of these existing technologies by achieving wound closure by means of a minimally invasive process through innate biological response to
PACE.

Developing and commercializing new products is highly competitive.  The market is characterized by extensive research and clinical efforts and rapid technological
change.  We face intense competition worldwide from medical device, biomedical technology and medical products and combination products companies, including major
pharmaceutical companies.  We may be unable to respond to technological advances through the development and introduction of new products.  Most of our existing and
potential competitors have substantially greater financial, marketing, sales, distribution, manufacturing and technological resources.  These competitors may also be in the
process of seeking FDA or other regulatory approvals, or patent protection, for new products.  Our competitors may commercialize new products in advance of our
products.  Our products also face competition from numerous existing products and procedures, which currently are considered part of the standard of care.  In order to
compete effectively, our products will have to achieve widespread market acceptance.

Regulatory Matters

FDA Regulation

Each of our products must be approved or cleared by the FDA before it is marketed in the United States.  Before and after approval or clearance in the United States,
our product candidates are subject to extensive regulation by the FDA under the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act and/or the Public Health Service Act, as well as by other
regulatory bodies.  FDA regulations govern, among other things, the development, testing, manufacturing, labeling, safety, storage, record-keeping, market clearance or
approval, advertising and promotion, import and export, marketing and sales, and distribution of medical devices and pharmaceutical products.
   

In the United States, the FDA subjects medical products to rigorous review.  If we do not comply with applicable requirements, we may be fined, the government may
refuse to approve our marketing applications or to allow us to manufacture or market our products, and we may be criminally prosecuted.  Failure to comply with the law could
result in, among other things, warning letters, civil penalties, delays in approving or refusal to approve a product candidate, product recall, product seizure, interruption of
production, operating restrictions, suspension or withdrawal of product approval, injunctions, or criminal prosecution.

The FDA has determined that our technology and product candidates constitute “medical devices.”  The FDA determines what center or centers within the FDA will
review the product and its indication for use, and also determines under what legal authority the product will be reviewed.  For the current indications, our products are being
reviewed by the Center for Devices and Radiological Health.  However, we cannot be sure that the FDA will not select a different center and/or legal authority for one or more of
our other product candidates, in which case the governmental review requirements could vary in some respects.
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FDA Approval or Clearance of Medical Devices

In the United States, medical devices are subject to varying degrees of regulatory control and are classified in one of three classes depending on the extent of controls
the FDA determines are necessary to reasonably ensure their safety and efficacy:

 · Class I: general controls, such as labeling and adherence to quality system regulations;
 · Class II: special controls, pre-market notification (510(k)), specific controls such as performance standards, patient registries, and postmarket surveillance, and

additional controls such as labeling and adherence to quality system regulations; and
 · Class III: special controls and approval of a pre-market approval (“PMA”) application.

Each of our product candidates require FDA authorization prior to marketing, by means of either a 510(k) clearance or a PMA approval.  We are currently proceeding
along the path that dermaPACE is a Class III device requiring a PMA approval.  To date, we have corresponded with the FDA pertaining to possible reclassification of PACE
technology for certain indications within the Class II designation.  The FDA continues to maintain that PACE should remain a Class III technology.  Reclassification of the
technology is possible but the path through the FDA for such reclassification will be lengthy and involved.  In the meantime, we may leverage existing PMA approval for our
OssaTron device in order to obtain the same indication (treatment of plantar fasciitis) for our orthoPACE device as a line extension for the technology.  This route may not
require clinical trials and will be time effective.  

 
To request marketing authorization by means of a 510(k) clearance, we must submit a pre-market notification demonstrating that the proposed device is substantially

equivalent to another legally marketed medical device, has the same intended use, and is as safe and effective as a legally marketed device and does not raise different
questions of safety and effectiveness than does a legally marketed device.  510(k) submissions generally include, among other things, a description of the device and its
manufacturing, device labeling, medical devices to which the device is substantially equivalent, safety and biocompatibility information, and the results of performance
testing.  In some cases, a 510(k) submission must include data from human clinical studies.  Marketing may commence only when the FDA issues a clearance letter finding
substantial equivalence.  After a device receives 510(k) clearance, any product modification that could significantly affect the safety or effectiveness of the product, or that
would constitute a significant change in intended use, requires a new 510(k) clearance or, if the device would no longer be substantially equivalent, would require a PMA.  If the
FDA determines that the product does not qualify for 510(k) clearance, then a company must submit and the FDA must approve a PMA before marketing can begin.

A PMA application must provide a demonstration of safety and effectiveness, which generally requires extensive pre-clinical and clinical trial data.  Information about the
device and its components, device design, manufacturing and labeling, among other information, must also be included in the PMA. As part of the PMA review, the FDA will
inspect the manufacturer’s facilities for compliance with Quality System Regulation requirements, which govern testing, control, documentation and other aspects of quality
assurance with respect to manufacturing.  If the FDA determines the application or manufacturing facilities are not acceptable, the FDA may outline the deficiencies in the
submission and often will request additional testing or information.  Notwithstanding the submission of any requested additional information, the FDA ultimately may decide that
the application does not satisfy the regulatory criteria for approval.  During the review period, an FDA advisory committee, typically a panel of clinicians and statisticians, is likely
to be convened to review the application and recommend to the FDA whether, or upon what conditions, the device should be approved.  The FDA is not bound by the advisory
panel decision. While the FDA often follows the panel’s recommendation, there are instances where FDA has not.  If the FDA finds the information satisfactory, it will approve
the PMA.  The PMA approval can include post-approval conditions, including, among other things, restrictions on labeling, promotion, sale and distribution, or requirements to
do additional clinical studies post-approval.  Even after approval of a PMA, a new PMA or PMA supplement is required to authorize certain modifications to the device, its
labeling or its manufacturing process.  Supplements to a PMA often require the submission of the same type of information required for an original PMA, except that the
supplement is generally limited to that information needed to support the proposed change from the product covered by the original PMA.

During the review of either a PMA application or 510(k) submission , the FDA may request more information or additional studies and may decide that the indications
for which we seek approval or clearance should be limited.  We cannot be sure that our product candidates will be approved or cleared in a timely fashion or at all.  In addition,
laws and regulations and the interpretation of those laws and regulations by the FDA may change in the future. We cannot foresee what effect, if any, such changes may have
on us.

We do not anticipate device regulatory pathways via the 510(k) route with our current technology.  The FDA continues to stress that our products remain as Class III, thus
requiring the PMA approval pathway. In the past, the 510(k) pathway for product marketing required only the proof of significant equivalence in technology for a given indication
with a previously cleared device.  The current trend of the FDA is to require additional clinical work to prove efficacy in addition to technological equivalence.  Thus, no matter
which regulatory pathway we may take in the future towards placing products on the United States market, the burden of clinical proof for device effectiveness will remain.
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Within the past year, the FDA has released new guidelines for the FDA’s reviewers to use during a product’s submission review process.  This guidance provides the FDA
reviewers with a uniform method of evaluating the benefits verses the risks of a device when used for a proposed specific indication.  Such a benefit/risk evaluation is very
useful when applied to a novel device or to a novel indication and provides the FDA with a consistent tool to document their decision process.  While intended as a guide for
internal FDA use, the public availability of this guidance allows medical device manufacturers to use the review matrix to develop sound scientific and clinical backup to support
proposed clinical claims and to help guide the FDA, through the decision process, to look at the relevant data. We intend to use this benefit/risk tool in our FDA submissions.

Obtaining medical device clearance, approval, or licensing in the United States or abroad can be an expensive process.  The fees for submitting an original PMA to the
FDA for consideration of device approval are substantial.  Fees for supplement PMA’s are less costly but still can be substantial.  International fee structures vary from minimal
to substantial, depending on the country.  In addition, we are subject to annual establishment registration fees in the United States and abroad.  Device licenses require periodic
renewal with associated fees as well.  In the United States, there is an annual requirement for submitting device reports for Class III/PMA devices, along with an associated
fee.  Currently, we are registered as a Small Business Manufacturer with the FDA and as such this places us in a reduced fee structure.  As future revenues exceed a certain
annual threshold limit, we may not qualify for the Small Business Manufacturer reduced fee structure and will be required to pay full fee amounts.

Clinical Trials of Medical Devices

One or more clinical trials are almost always required to support a PMA application and  more recently are becoming necessary to support a 510(k) submission.  Clinical
studies of unapproved or uncleared medical devices or devices being studied for uses for which they are not approved or cleared (investigational devices) must be conducted
in compliance with FDA requirements.  If an investigational device could pose a significant risk to patients, the sponsor company must submit an IDE application to the FDA
prior to initiation of the clinical study.  An IDE application must be supported by appropriate data, such as animal and laboratory test results, showing that it is safe to test the
device on humans and that the testing protocol is scientifically sound.  The IDE will automatically become effective 30 days after receipt by the FDA unless the FDA notifies the
company that the investigation may not begin.  Clinical studies of investigational devices may not begin until an institutional review board (the “IRB”) has approved the study.

During the study, the sponsor must comply with the FDA’s IDE requirements.  These requirements include investigator selection, trial monitoring, adverse event
reporting, and record keeping.  The investigators must obtain patient informed consent, rigorously follow the investigational plan and study protocol, control the disposition of
investigational devices, and comply with reporting and record keeping requirements.   We, the FDA, or the IRB at each institution at which a clinical trial is being conducted may
suspend a clinical trial at any time for various reasons, including a belief that the subjects are being exposed to an unacceptable risk.  During the approval or clearance
process, the FDA typically inspects the records relating to the conduct of one or more investigational sites participating in the study supporting the application.

Post-Approval Regulation of Medical Devices

After a device is cleared or approved for marketing, numerous and pervasive regulatory requirements continue to apply.  These include:

 · the FDA Quality Systems Regulation (“QSR”), which governs, among other things, how manufacturers design, test, manufacture, exercise quality control over, and
document manufacturing of their products;

 · labeling and claims regulations, which prohibit the promotion of products for unapproved or “off-label” uses and impose other restrictions on labeling; and
 · the Medical Device Reporting regulation, which requires reporting to the FDA of certain adverse experiences associated with use of the product.
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We continue to be subject to inspection by the FDA to determine our compliance with regulatory requirements, as do our suppliers, contract manufacturers, and contract

testing laboratories.

International sales of medical devices manufactured in the United States that are not approved or cleared by the FDA are subject to FDA export
requirements.  Exported devices are subject to the regulatory requirements of each country to which the device is exported.  Exported devices may also fall under the
jurisdiction of the United States Department of Commerce/Bureau of Industry and Security and compliance with export regulations may be required for certain countries.

Manufacturing cGMP Requirements

Manufacturers of medical devices are required to comply with FDA manufacturing requirements contained in the FDA’s current Good Manufacturing Practices (“cGMP”)
set forth in the quality system regulations promulgated under section 520 of the Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act.  cGMP regulations require, among other things, quality control
and quality assurance as well as the corresponding maintenance of records and documentation.  The manufacturing facility for our products must meet cGMP requirements to
the satisfaction of the FDA pursuant to a pre-PMA approval inspection before we can use them.  We and some of our third party service providers are also subject to periodic
inspections of facilities by the FDA and other authorities, including procedures and operations used in the testing and manufacture of our products to assess our compliance
with applicable regulations.  Failure to comply with statutory and regulatory requirements subjects a manufacturer to possible legal or regulatory action, including the seizure or
recall of products, injunctions, consent decrees placing significant restrictions on or suspending manufacturing operations, and civil and criminal penalties.  Adverse
experiences with the product must be reported to the FDA and could result in the imposition of marketing restrictions through labeling changes or in product
withdrawal.  Product approvals may be withdrawn if compliance with regulatory requirements is not maintained or if problems concerning safety or efficacy of the product occur
following the approval.

International Regulation
     

We are subject to regulations and product registration requirements in many foreign countries in which we may sell our products, including in the areas of product
standards, packaging requirements, labeling requirements, import and export restrictions and tariff regulations, duties and tax requirements.  The time required to obtain
clearance required by foreign countries may be longer or shorter than that required for FDA clearance, and requirements for licensing a product in a foreign country may differ
significantly from FDA requirements.

The primary regulatory environment in Europe is the European Union, which consists of 25 member states and 42 competent authorities encompassing most of the
major countries in Europe.  In the European Union, the European Medicines Agency (“EMA”) and the European Union Commission have determined that dermaPACE,
orthoPACE, OssaTron and Evotron will be regulated as medical device products.  These devices have been determined to be Class IIb devices.  These devices are CE Marked
and as such can be marketed and distributed within the European Economic Area.

The primary regulatory body in Canada is Health Canada.  In addition to needing appropriate data to obtain market licensing in Canada, we must have an ISO
13485:2003 certification, as well as meet additional requirements of Canadian laws.  We currently maintain this certification.  We maintain a device license for dermaPACE with
Health Canada for the indication of “devices for application of shockwaves (pulsed acoustic waves) on acute and chronic defects of the skin and subcutaneous soft tissue”.
     

The primary regulatory bodies and paths in Asia and Australia are determined by the requisite country authority.  In most cases, establishment registration and device
licensing are applied for at the applicable Ministry of Health through a local intermediary.  The requirements placed on the manufacturer are typically the same as those
contained in ISO 9001 or ISO 13485.
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European Good Manufacturing Practices
 

In the European Union, the manufacture of medical devices is subject to good manufacturing practice (“GMP”), as set forth in the relevant laws and guidelines of the
European Union and its member states. Compliance with GMP is generally assessed by the competent regulatory authorities.  Typically, quality system evaluation is performed
by a Notified Body, which also recommends to the relevant competent authority for the European Community CE Marking of a device.  The Competent Authority may conduct
inspections of relevant facilities, and review manufacturing procedures, operating systems and personnel qualifications.  In addition to obtaining approval for each product, in
many cases each device manufacturing facility must be audited on a periodic basis by the Notified Body.  Further inspections may occur over the life of the product.

United States Anti-Kickback and False Claims Laws

In the United States, there are Federal and state anti-kickback laws that prohibit the payment or receipt of kickbacks, bribes or other remuneration intended to induce
the purchase or recommendation of healthcare products and services.  Violations of these laws can lead to civil and criminal penalties, including exclusion from participation in
Federal healthcare programs.  These laws are potentially applicable to manufacturers of products regulated by the FDA as medical devices, such as us, and hospitals,
physicians and other potential purchasers of such products.  Other provisions of Federal and state laws provide civil and criminal penalties for presenting, or causing to be
presented, to third-party payers for reimbursement, claims that are false or fraudulent, or which are for items or services that were not provided as claimed.  In addition, certain
states have implemented regulations requiring medical device and pharmaceutical companies to report all gifts and payments over $50 to medical practitioners.  This does not
apply to instances involving clinical trials.  Although we intend to structure our future business relationships with clinical investigators and purchasers of our products to comply
with these and other applicable laws, it is possible that some of our business practices in the future could be subject to scrutiny and challenge by Federal or state enforcement
officials under these laws.

Third Party Reimbursement

We anticipate that sales volumes and prices of the products we commercialize will depend in large part on the availability of coverage and reimbursement from third
party payers.  Third party payers include governmental programs such as Medicare and Medicaid, private insurance plans, and workers’ compensation plans.  These third party
payers may deny coverage and reimbursement for a product or therapy, in whole or in part, if they determine that the product or therapy was not medically appropriate or
necessary.  The third party payers also may place limitations on the types of physicians or clinicians that can perform specific types of procedures.  In addition, third party
payers are increasingly challenging the prices charged for medical products and services.  Some third party payers must also pre-approve coverage for new or innovative
devices or therapies before they will reimburse healthcare providers who use the products or therapies.  Even though a new product may have been approved or cleared by the
FDA for commercial distribution, we may find limited demand for the device until adequate reimbursement has been obtained from governmental and private third party payers.
     

In international markets, reimbursement and healthcare payment systems vary significantly by country, and many countries have instituted price ceilings on specific
product lines and procedures.  There can be no assurance that procedures using our products will be considered medically reasonable and necessary for a specific indication,
that our products will be considered cost-effective by third party payers, that an adequate level of reimbursement will be available or that the third party payers’ reimbursement
policies will not adversely affect our ability to sell our products profitably.

In the United States, some insured individuals are receiving their medical care through managed care programs, which monitor and often require pre-approval of the
services that a member will receive.  Some managed care programs are paying their providers on a per capita basis, which puts the providers at financial risk for the services
provided to their patients by paying these providers a predetermined payment per member per month, and consequently, may limit the willingness of these providers to use
products, including ours.
     

One of the components in the reimbursement decision by most private insurers and governmental payers, including the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services,
which administers Medicare, is the assignment of a billing code.  Billing codes are used to identify the procedures performed when providers submit claims to third party payers
for reimbursement for medical services.  They also generally form the basis for payment amounts.  New billing codes for our wound care indications of our products will be
sought as part of our efforts to commercialize such products.
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The initial phase of establishing a professional billing code for a medical service typically includes applying for a CPT Category III code.  This is a tracking code without
relative value assigned that allows third party payers to identify and monitor the service as well as establish value if deemed medically necessary.  The process includes CPT
application submission, clinical discussion with Medical Professional Society CPT advisors as well as American Medical Association (“AMA”) CPT Editorial Panel review.  A
new CPT Category III code will be assigned if the AMA CPT Editorial Panel committee deems it meets criteria and is appropriate.  In 2011, we received two CPT Category III
codes for extracorporeal shock wave therapy (“ESWT”) in wound healing.

The secondary phase in the CPT billing code process includes the establishment of a permanent CPT Category I code in which relative value is analyzed and established by
the AMA.  The approval of this code, among other criteria, is based on widespread usage and established clinical efficacy of the medical service.
 
There are also billing codes that facilities, not health care professionals, utilize for the reimbursement of operating costs for a particular medical service.  For the hospital
outpatient setting, the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services automatically classified the new ESWT wound healing CPT Category III codes into interim APC groups.  The
APC groups are services grouped together based on clinical characteristics and similar costs.  An APC classification does not guarantee payment.

We believe that the overall escalating costs of medical products and services has led to, and will continue to lead to, increased pressures on the healthcare industry to reduce
the costs of products and services.  In addition, recent healthcare reform measures, as well as legislative and regulatory initiatives at the Federal and state levels, create
significant additional uncertainties.  There can be no assurance that third party coverage and reimbursement will be available or adequate, or that future legislation, regulation,
or reimbursement policies of third party payers will not adversely affect the demand for our products or our ability to sell these products on a profitable basis.  The unavailability
or inadequacy of third party payer coverage or reimbursement would have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial condition.

Environmental and Occupational Safety and Health Regulations

Our operations are subject to extensive Federal, state, provincial and municipal environmental statutes, regulations and policies, including those promulgated by the
Occupational Safety and Health Administration, the United States Environmental Protection Agency, Environment Canada, Alberta Environment, the Department of Health
Services, and the Air Quality Management District, that govern activities and operations that may have adverse environmental effects such as discharges into air and water, as
well as handling and disposal practices for solid and hazardous wastes.  Some of these statutes and regulations impose strict liability for the costs of cleaning up, and for
damages resulting from, sites of spills, disposals, or other releases of contaminants, hazardous substances and other materials and for the investigation and remediation of
environmental contamination at properties leased or operated by us and at off-site locations where we have arranged for the disposal of hazardous substances.  In addition, we
may be subject to claims and lawsuits brought by private parties seeking damages and other remedies with respect to similar matters.  We have not to date needed to make
material expenditures to comply with current environmental statutes, regulations and policies. However, we cannot predict the impact and costs those possible future statutes,
regulations and policies will have on our business.

Milestone and Royalty Payments

Under an agreement with Sci-Do AG, an Austrian company from which we purchased certain patents, we are required to make various milestone and royalty payments based
on the occurrence of certain events.  Pursuant to the terms of the agreement, we are required to make a royalty payment of $100,000 upon FDA approval of our product for
wound care.  In addition, we are required to make royalty payments, based on a percentage of operating profit, for sales of FDA-approved wound care products in excess of
$500,000 of earnings before interest and taxes.  There were no payments under the agreement for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011.

Employees

As of March 8, 2013, we had a total of eleven (11) full time employees in the United States.  Of these, six (6) were engaged in research and development which
includes clinical, regulatory and quality.  None of our employees are represented by a labor union or covered by a collective bargaining agreement.  We believe our relationship
with our employees is good.
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Item 1A.  RISK FACTORS

Risks Related to Our Business

Our auditors have raised substantial doubts as to our ability to continue as a going concern .
 

Our financial statements have been prepared assuming we will continue as a going concern. Since our inception, we have experienced recurring losses from
operations, and these losses have caused an accumulated deficit of $70,910,322 as of December 31, 2012. We generate only minimal revenues and we continue to experience
operating losses. These factors, among others, raise substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern. Our financial statements do not include any adjustments
that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty. We anticipate that our operating expenses will continue to increase and we will continue to incur substantial losses in
future periods until we are successful in significantly increasing our revenues and cash flow. There are no assurances that we will be able to increase our revenues and cash
flow to a level which supports profitable operations and provides sufficient funds to pay our obligations. If we are unable to meet those obligations, we could be forced to cease
operations in which event investors would lose their entire investment in our company.
 
We will be required to raise additional funds to finance our operations and remain a going concern; we may not be able to do so, and/or the terms of any financings
may not be advantageous to us.

The continuation of our business is dependent upon raising additional financial support. As of December 31, 2012, we had cash and cash equivalents of $70,325 and
negative working capital of $2,413,536. For the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, the net cash used by operating activities by the Company was $4,290,121 and
$8,831,699, respectively. The additional financial support may include: raising additional capital through the issuance of common or preferred stock, securities convertible into
common stock, or secured or unsecured debt, an investment by a strategic partner in a specific clinical indication or market opportunity; or selling all or a portion of the
Company’s assets.  If these efforts are unsuccessful, we may be forced to seek relief through a filing under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code. These possibilities, to the extent
available, may be on terms that result in significant dilution to our existing shareholders.  Our consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments relating to the
recoverability of assets and classification of assets and liabilities that might be necessary should we be unable to continue as a going concern.

We have a history of losses and we expect to continue to incur losses and may not achieve or maintain profitability.
 

For the year ended December 31, 2012, we had a net loss of $6,401,494 and used $4,290,121 of cash in operations.  As of December 31, 2012, we had an
accumulated deficit of $70,910,322 and a total stockholders' deficit of $6,519,005.  As a result of our significant research, clinical development, regulatory compliance and
general and administrative expenses, we expect to incur losses for at least the next several years as we continue to incur expenses related to seeking FDA approval for our
dermaPACE device.  Due to uncertainty about our ability to raise capital to fund our ongoing operations, in their report on our annual financial statements for the year ended
December 31, 2012, our independent registered public accounting firm included an explanatory paragraph regarding our ability to continue as a going concern.  Even if we
succeed in developing and commercializing one or more of our product candidates, we may not be able to generate sufficient revenues and we may never achieve or be able
to maintain profitability.

We have no long-term credit facility or other source of long-term funding. Our short-term 18% Senior Secured Convertible Promissory Notes are secured by all the
assets of the Company and begin to mature in May 2013.   If we are unable to successfully raise additional capital, the note holders could demand payment.

We have no long-term credit facility or other source of long-term funding.  The continuation of our business is dependent upon raising additional capital. We have been
working with select accredited investors to raise up to $2,000,000 through the issuance of 18% Senior Secured Convertible Promissory Notes (the “Senior Secured
Notes”).  We received subscriptions for an aggregate $430,000 in Senior Secured Notes through December 31, 2012 and have received subscriptions for an additional
aggregate $1,570,000 subsequent to year end. We closed the offering and issued the notes on March 8, 2013.  The Senior Secured Notes begin to mature in May 2013.  The
conversion of the Senior Secured Notes by the Company is contingent on us raising $4,000,000 or more through a qualified financing and/or license agreement as defined in
the Senior Secured Note agreements. Management’s plans are to obtain additional capital in 2013 through the issuance of common stock or other securities and the Company
has engaged an investment bank to assist with this capital raise. Based on our current financial condition, we may be unable to obtain such financing on commercially
reasonable terms if at all.  If we do not raise at least $4,000,000 we will not be able to automatically convert the Senior Secured Notes and they will become due and payable
by us. If we are unable to obtain third party financing, we will be required to pursue one or more alternative strategies, such as seeking additional equity capital, liquidating
assets, or seeking relief through a filing under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code.  Any such actions could adversely affect our financial condition and the value of our common stock.
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If we are unable to successfully raise additional capital, our clinical trials and product development could be limited and our long term viability may be threatened;
however, if we do raise additional capital, your percentage ownership as a shareholder could decrease and constraints could be placed on the operations of our
business.

We have experienced negative operating cash flows since our inception and have funded our operations primarily from proceeds received from sales of our capital stock, the
issuance of notes payable to related parties, the issuance of promissory notes, the sale of our veterinary division in June 2009 and product sales.  We will seek to obtain
additional funds in the future through equity or debt financings, or strategic alliances with third parties, either alone or in combination with equity financings.  These financings
could result in substantial dilution to the holders of our common stock, or require contractual or other restrictions on our operations or on alternatives that may be available to
us.  If we raise additional funds by issuing debt securities, these debt securities could impose significant restrictions on our operations.  Any such required financing may not be
available in amounts or on terms acceptable to us, and the failure to procure such required financing could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition
and results of operations, or threaten our ability to continue as a going concern.

A variety of factors could impact our need to raise additional capital, the timing of any required financings and the amount of such financings.  Factors that may cause our future
capital requirements to be greater than anticipated or could accelerate our need for funds include, without limitation:
 · unforeseen developments during our clinical trials;
 · delays in timing of receipt of required regulatory approvals;
 · unanticipated expenditures in research and development or manufacturing activities;
 · delayed market acceptance of any approved product;
 · unanticipated expenditures in the acquisition and defense of intellectual property rights;
 · the failure to develop strategic alliances for the marketing of some of our product candidates;
 · additional inventory builds to adequately support the launch of new products;
 · unforeseen changes in healthcare reimbursement for procedures using any of our approved products;
 · inability to train a sufficient number of physicians to create a demand for any of our approved products;
 · lack of financial resources to adequately support our operations;
 · difficulties in maintaining commercial scale manufacturing capacity and capability;
 · unforeseen problems with our third party manufacturers, service providers or specialty suppliers of certain raw materials;
 · unanticipated difficulties in operating in international markets;
 · unanticipated financial resources needed to respond to technological changes and increased competition;
 · unforeseen problems in attracting and retaining qualified personnel;
 · enactment of new legislation or administrative regulations;
 · the application to our business of new court decisions and regulatory interpretations;
 · claims that might be brought in excess of our insurance coverage;
 · the failure to comply with regulatory guidelines; and
 · the uncertainty in industry demand and patient wellness behavior as businesses and individuals suffer from the current economic downturn.

In addition, although we have no present commitments or understandings to do so, we may seek to expand our operations and product line through acquisitions or joint
ventures.  Any acquisition or joint venture would likely increase our capital requirements.  If adequate financing is not available, we may be required to delay, scale back or
eliminate our operations.  Consequently, our long-term viability would be threatened.
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Current economic conditions could adversely affect our operations.

According to the National Bureau of Economic Research, the United States economy was in a recession from December 2007 through June 2009.  This economic
downturn was the longest recession since World War II.  The related instability of markets has impacted us in the short term by making it difficult to raise the necessary capital
to fund our operations.

There is a risk that one or more suppliers, clinical investigators, consultants and other partners may encounter difficulties during these challenging economic times, which would
directly affect our ability to attain our operating goals on schedule and on budget.

The current economic conditions may also adversely affect our potential customers, including patients, medical professionals and their practices, hospitals and other healthcare
providers.  These conditions may also impact the overall amount spent on healthcare generally.  This could result in a decrease in the demand for our products, longer sales
cycles, slower adoption of our new technology and increased price competition.

Our product candidates may not be developed or commercialized successfully.

Our product candidates are based on a technology that often times has not been used previously in the manner we propose and must compete with more established
treatments currently accepted as the standards of care.  Market acceptance of our products will largely depend on our ability to demonstrate their relative safety, efficacy, cost-
effectiveness and ease of use.

We are subject to the risks that:
 · the FDA or a foreign regulatory authority finds our product candidates ineffective or unsafe;
 · we do not receive necessary regulatory approvals;
 · the regulatory review and approval process may take much longer than anticipated, requiring additional time, effort and expense to respond to regulatory

comments and/or directives;
 · we are unable to get our product candidates in commercial quantities at reasonable costs; and
 · the patient and physician community does not accept our product candidates.

In addition, our product development program may be curtailed, redirected, eliminated or delayed at any time for many reasons, including:
 · adverse or ambiguous results;
 · undesirable side effects that delay or extend the trials;
 · the inability to locate, recruit, qualify and retain a sufficient number of clinical investigators or patients for our trials; and
 · regulatory delays or other regulatory actions.

We cannot predict whether we will successfully develop and commercialize our product candidates.  If we fail to do so, we will not be able to generate substantial revenues, if
any.

The medical device/therapeutic product industries are highly competitive and subject to rapid technological change.  If our competitors are better able to develop
and market products that are safer and more effective than any products we may develop, our commercial opportunities will be reduced or eliminated.

Our success depends, in part, upon our ability to maintain a competitive position in the development of technologies and products.  We face competition from established
medical device, pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, as well as from academic institutions, government agencies, and private and public research institutions in the
United States and abroad.  Many of our principal competitors have significantly greater financial resources and expertise than we do in research and development,
manufacturing, pre-clinical testing, conducting clinical trials, obtaining regulatory approvals and marketing approved products.  Smaller or early-stage companies may also
prove to be significant competitors, particularly through collaborative arrangements, or mergers with, or acquisitions by, large and established companies, or through the
development of novel products and technologies.
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The industry in which we operate has undergone, and we expect it to continue to undergo, rapid and significant technological change, and we expect competition to intensify as
technological advances are made.  Our competitors may develop and commercialize pharmaceutical, biotechnology or medical devices that are safer or more effective, have
fewer side effects or are less expensive than any products that we may develop.  We also compete with our competitors in recruiting and retaining qualified scientific and
management personnel, in establishing clinical trial sites and patient registration for clinical trials, and in acquiring technologies complementary to our programs or
advantageous to our business.

If our products and product candidates do not gain market acceptance among physicians, patients and the medical community, we may be unable to generate
significant revenues, if any.

Even if we obtain regulatory approval for our product candidates, they may not gain market acceptance among physicians, healthcare payers, patients and the medical
community.  Market acceptance will depend on our ability to demonstrate the benefits of our approved products in terms of safety, efficacy, convenience, ease of administration
and cost effectiveness.  In addition, we believe market acceptance depends on the effectiveness of our marketing strategy, the pricing of our approved products and the
reimbursement policies of government and third party payers.  Physicians may not utilize our approved products for a variety of reasons and patients may determine for any
reason that our product is not useful to them.  If any of our approved products fail to achieve market acceptance, our ability to generate revenues will be limited.
 
We may not successfully establish and maintain licensing and/or partnership arrangements for our technology for non-medical uses, which could adversely affect
our ability to develop and commercialize our non-medical technology.
 

Our strategy for the development, testing, manufacturing and commercialization of our technology for non-medical uses generally relies on establishing and maintaining
collaborations with licensors and other third parties. We may not be able to maintain or expand these or other licenses and collaborations or establish additional licensing and
collaboration arrangements necessary to develop and commercialize our product candidates. Even if we are able to maintain or establish licensing or collaboration
arrangements, these arrangements may not be on favorable terms and may contain provisions that will restrict our ability to develop, test and market our product candidates.
Any failure to maintain or establish licensing or collaboration arrangements on favorable terms could adversely affect our business prospects, financial condition or ability to
develop and commercialize our technology for non-medical uses.
 

We expect to rely at least in part on third party collaborators to perform a number of activities relating to the development and commercialization of our technology for
non-medical uses, including possibly the design and manufacture of product materials, potentially the obtaining of regulatory approvals and the marketing and distribution of any
successfully developed products. Our collaborators also may have or acquire rights to control aspects of our product development programs. As a result, we may not be able to
conduct these programs in the manner or on the time schedule we may contemplate. In addition, if any of these collaborators withdraw support for our programs or product
candidates or otherwise impair their development, our business could be negatively affected. To the extent we undertake any of these activities internally, our expenses may
increase.

We currently purchase most of our product component materials from single suppliers.  If we are unable to obtain product component materials and other
products from our suppliers that we depend on for our operations, or find suitable replacement suppliers, our ability to deliver our products to market will likely be
impeded, which could have a material adverse effect on us

We depend on suppliers for product component materials and other components that are subject to stringent regulatory requirements.  We currently purchase most of our
product component materials from single suppliers and the loss of any of these suppliers could result in a disruption in our production.  If this were to occur, it may be difficult to
arrange a replacement supplier because certain of these materials may only be available from one or a limited number of sources.  Our suppliers may encounter problems
during manufacturing due to a variety of reasons, including failure to follow specific protocols and procedures, failure to comply with applicable regulations, equipment
malfunction and environmental factors.  In addition, establishing additional or replacement suppliers for these materials may take a substantial period of time, as certain of these
suppliers must be approved by regulatory authorities.

If we are unable to secure, on a timely basis, sufficient quantities of the materials we depend on to manufacture our products, if we encounter delays or contractual or other
difficulties in our relationships with these suppliers, or if we cannot find replacement suppliers at an acceptable cost, then the manufacturing of our products may be disrupted,
which could increase our costs and have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations.

The loss of our key management would likely hinder our ability to execute our business plan.

As a small company with 11 employees, our success depends on the continuing contributions of our management team and qualified personnel. Our success depends in large
part on our ability to attract and retain highly qualified personnel.  We face intense competition in our hiring efforts from other pharmaceutical, biotechnology and medical device
companies, as well as from universities and nonprofit research organizations, and we may have to pay higher salaries to attract and retain qualified personnel.  The loss of one
or more of these individuals, or our inability to attract additional qualified personnel, could substantially impair our ability to implement our business plan.

We face an inherent risk of liability in the event that the use or misuse of our product candidates results in personal injury or death.

The use of our product candidates in clinical trials and the sale of any approved products may expose us to product liability claims which could result in financial loss.  Our
clinical and commercial product liability insurance coverage may not be sufficient to cover claims that may be made against us.  In addition, we may not be able to maintain
insurance coverage at a reasonable cost, or in sufficient amounts or scope, to protect us against losses.  Any claims against us, regardless of their merit, could severely harm
our financial condition, strain our management team and other resources, and adversely impact or eliminate the prospects for commercialization of the product candidate, or
sale of the product, which is the subject of any such claim.  Although we do not promote any off-label use, off-label uses of products are common and the FDA does not
regulate a physician’s choice of treatment.  Off-label uses of any product for which we obtain approval may subject us to additional liability.
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Regulatory Risks

The results of our clinical trials may be insufficient to obtain regulatory approval for our product candidates .

We will only receive regulatory approval to commercialize a product candidate if we can demonstrate to the satisfaction of the FDA or the applicable foreign regulatory agency,
in well designed and conducted clinical trials, that the product candidate is safe and effective.  If we are unable to demonstrate that a product candidate will be safe and
effective in advanced clinical trials involving larger numbers of patients, we will be unable to submit the necessary application to receive regulatory approval to commercialize
the product candidate.  We face risks that:
 · the product candidate may not prove to be safe or effective;
 · the product candidate’s benefits may not outweigh its risks;
 · the results from advanced clinical trials may not confirm the positive results from pre-clinical studies and early clinical trials;
 · the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may interpret data from pre-clinical and clinical testing in different ways than us; and
 · the FDA or other regulatory agencies may require additional or expanded trials and data.

We are subject to extensive governmental regulation, including the requirement of FDA approval or clearance, before our product candidates may be marketed.

The process of obtaining FDA approval is lengthy, expensive and uncertain, and we cannot be sure that our product candidates will be approved in a timely fashion, or at all.  If
the FDA does not approve or clear our product candidates in a timely fashion, or at all, our business and financial condition would likely be adversely affected.  We cannot be
sure that the FDA will not select a different center and/or different legal authority for our other product candidates, in which case the path to regulatory approval would be
different and could be more lengthy and costly.

Both before and after approval or clearance of our product candidates, we, our product candidates, our suppliers and our contract manufacturers are subject to
extensive regulation by governmental authorities in the United States and other countries.  Failure to comply with applicable requirements could result in, among other things,
any of the following actions:
 · warning letters;
 · fines and other monetary penalties;
 · unanticipated expenditures;
 · delays in FDA approval and clearance, or FDA refusal to approve or clear a product candidate;
 · product recall or seizure;
 · interruption of manufacturing or clinical trials;
 · operating restrictions;
 · injunctions; and
 · criminal prosecutions.

In addition to the approval and clearance requirements, other numerous and pervasive regulatory requirements apply, both before and after approval or clearance, to
us, our products and product candidates, and our suppliers and contract manufacturers.  These include requirements related to the following:
 · testing;
 · manufacturing;
 · quality control;
 · labeling;
 · advertising;
 · promotion;
 · distribution;
 · export;
 · reporting to the FDA certain adverse experiences associated with the use of the products; and
 · obtaining additional approvals or clearances for certain modifications to the products or their labeling or claims.
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We are also subject to inspection by the FDA to determine our compliance with regulatory requirements, as are our suppliers and contract manufacturers, and we

cannot be sure that the FDA will not indentify compliance issues that may disrupt production or distribution, or require substantial resources to correct.

The FDA’s requirements may change and additional government regulations may be promulgated that could affect us, our product candidates, and our suppliers and contract
manufacturers.  We cannot predict the likelihood, nature or extent of government regulation that may arise from future legislation or administrative action.  There can be no
assurance that we will not be required to incur significant costs to comply with such laws and regulations in the future, or that such laws or regulations will not have a material
adverse effect upon our business.

Patients may discontinue their participation in our clinical studies, which may negatively impact the results of these studies and extend the timeline for completion
of our development programs.

Clinical trials for our product candidates require sufficient patient enrollment.  We may not be able to enroll a sufficient number of patients in a timely or cost-effective
manner.  Patients enrolled in our clinical studies may discontinue their participation at any time during the study as a result of a number of factors, including withdrawing their
consent or experiencing adverse clinical events, which may or may not be judged to be related to our product candidates under evaluation.  If a large number of patients in a
study discontinue their participation in the study, the results from that study may not be positive or may not support a filing for regulatory approval of the product candidate.

In addition, the time required to complete clinical trials is dependent upon, among other factors, the rate of patient enrollment.  Patient enrollment is a function of many factors,
including the following:
 · the size of the patient population;
 · the nature of the clinical protocol requirements;
 · the availability of other treatments or marketed therapies (whether approved or experimental);
 · our ability to recruit and manage clinical centers and associated trials;
 · the proximity of patients to clinical sites; and
 · the patient eligibility criteria for the study.

We will rely on third parties to conduct our dermaPACE clinical trial, and their failure to perform their obligations in a timely or competent manner may delay
development and commercialization of our device.

We have engaged a clinical research organization (“CRO”) and other third party vendors to assist in conduct of our clinical trial. There are numerous alternative sources to
provide these services. However, we may face delays outside of our control if these parties do not perform their obligations in a timely or competent fashion or if we are forced
to change service providers. Any third party that we hire to conduct clinical trials may also provide services to our competitors, which could compromise the performance of their
obligations to us. If we experience significant delays in the progress of our dermaPACE clinical trial, the commercial prospects for the product could be harmed and our ability
to generate product revenue would be delayed or prevented.  Any failure of our CRO to successfully accomplish clinical trial monitoring, data collection, safety monitoring and
data management and the other services it provides for us in a timely manner and in compliance with regulatory requirements could have a material adverse effect on our ability
to complete clinical development of our product and obtain regulatory approval. Problems with the timeliness or quality of the work of our CRO may lead us to seek to terminate
the relationship and use an alternate service provider. However, making such changes may be costly and may delay our clinical trial, and contractual restrictions may make
such a change difficult or impossible.  Additionally, it may be difficult to find a replacement organization that can conduct our trial in an acceptable manner and at an acceptable
cost.
 
Federal regulatory reforms may adversely affect our ability to sell our products profitably.
 

From time to time, legislation is drafted and introduced in the United States Congress that could significantly change the statutory provisions governing the clearance or
approval, manufacture and marketing of a device.  In addition, FDA regulations and guidance are often revised or reinterpreted by the agency in ways that may significantly
affect our business and our products.  It is impossible to predict whether legislative changes will be enacted or FDA regulations, guidance or interpretations changed, and what
the impact of such changes, if any, may be.
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Failure to obtain regulatory approval in foreign jurisdictions will prevent us from marketing our products abroad.

International sales of our products and any of our product candidates that we commercialize are subject to the regulatory requirements of each country in which the products
are sold.  Accordingly, the introduction of our product candidates in markets outside the United States will be subject to regulatory approvals in those jurisdictions.  The
regulatory review process varies from country to country.  Many countries impose product standards, packaging and labeling requirements, and import restrictions on medical
devices.  In addition, each country has its own tariff regulations, duties and tax requirements.  The approval by foreign government authorities is unpredictable and uncertain,
and can be expensive.  Our ability to market our approved products could be substantially limited due to delays in receipt of, or failure to receive, the necessary approvals or
clearances.

Prior to marketing our products in any country outside the United States, we must obtain marketing approval in that country.  Approval and other regulatory requirements vary
by jurisdiction and differ from the United States’ requirements.  We may be required to perform additional pre-clinical or clinical studies even if FDA approval has been obtained.

If we fail to obtain an adequate level of reimbursement for our approved products by third party payers, there may be no commercially viable markets for our
approved products or the markets may be much smaller than expected.

The availability and levels of reimbursement by governmental and other third party payers affect the market for our approved products.  The efficacy, safety, performance and
cost-effectiveness of our product and product candidates, and of any competing products, will determine the availability and level of reimbursement.  Reimbursement and
healthcare payment systems in international markets vary significantly by country, and include both government sponsored healthcare and private insurance.  To obtain
reimbursement or pricing approval in some countries, we may be required to produce clinical data, which may involve one or more clinical trials, that compares the cost-
effectiveness of our approved products to other available therapies.  We may not obtain international reimbursement or pricing approvals in a timely manner, if at all.  Our failure
to receive international reimbursement or pricing approvals would negatively impact market acceptance of our approved products in the international markets in which those
approvals are sought.

We believe that future reimbursement may be subject to increased restrictions both in the United States and in international markets.  Future legislation, regulation or
reimbursement policies of third party payers may adversely affect the demand for our future approved products currently under development and limit our ability to sell our
approved products on a profitable basis.  In addition, third party payers continually attempt to contain or reduce the costs of healthcare by challenging the prices charged for
healthcare products and services.  If reimbursement for our approved products is unavailable or limited in scope or amount, or if pricing is set at unsatisfactory levels, market
acceptance of our approved products would be impaired and our future revenues, if any, would be adversely affected.

 
Healthcare policy changes, including the recently enacted legislation to reform the United States healthcare system, may have a material adverse effect on us.
 

In March 2010, President Obama signed into law the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, as amended by the Health Care and Education Affordability
Reconciliation Act (collectively the “PPACA”), which substantially changes the way healthcare is financed by both governmental and private insurers, encourages improvements
in the quality of healthcare items and services, and significantly impacts the biotechnology and medical device industries. The PPACA includes, among other things, the
following measures:
 

 •  a 2.3% excise tax on any entity that manufactures or imports medical devices offered for sale in the United States, with limited exceptions, beginning in
2013;

 
 •  a new Patient-Centered Outcomes Research Institute to oversee, identify priorities and conduct comparative clinical effectiveness research;
 

 •  new reporting and disclosure requirements on device manufacturers for any “transfer of value” made or distributed to physicians and teaching hospitals, as
well as reporting of certain physician ownership interests, with the first of such reports due March 31, 2013 for calendar year 2012;
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 •  payment system reforms including a national pilot program on payment bundling to encourage hospitals, physicians and other providers to improve the
coordination, quality and efficiency of certain healthcare services through bundled payment models, beginning on or before January 1, 2013;

 

 •  an independent payment advisory board that will submit recommendations to reduce Medicare spending if projected Medicare spending exceeds a specified
growth rate; and

 

 •  a new abbreviated pathway for the licensure of biological products that are demonstrated to be biosimilar or interchangeable with a licensed biological
product.

 
These provisions could meaningfully change the way healthcare is delivered and financed, and could have a material adverse impact on numerous aspects of our

business.
 

In the future there may continue to be additional proposals relating to the reform of the United States healthcare system. Certain of these proposals could limit the
prices we are able to charge for our products or the amounts of reimbursement available for our products, and could limit the acceptance and availability of our products. The
adoption of some or all of these proposals could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.
 

Additionally, initiatives sponsored by government agencies, legislative bodies and the private sector to limit the growth of healthcare costs, including price regulation
and competitive pricing, are ongoing in markets where we do business. We could experience an adverse impact on our operating results due to increased pricing pressure in
the United States and in other markets. Governments, hospitals and other third party payors could reduce the amount of approved reimbursement for our products or deny
coverage altogether. Reductions in reimbursement levels or coverage or other cost-containment measures could adversely affect our future operating results.

If we fail to comply with the United States Federal Anti-Kickback Statute and similar state laws, we could be subject to criminal and civil penalties and exclusion
from the Medicare and Medicaid programs, which would have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations.

A provision of the Social Security Act, commonly referred to as the Federal Anti-Kickback Statute, prohibits the offer, payment, solicitation or receipt of any form of
remuneration in return for referring, ordering, leasing, purchasing or arranging for, or recommending the ordering, purchasing or leasing of, items or services payable by
Medicare, Medicaid or any other Federal healthcare program.  The Federal Anti-Kickback Statute is very broad in scope and many of its provisions have not been uniformly or
definitively interpreted by existing case law or regulations.  In addition, most of the states have adopted laws similar to the Federal Anti-Kickback Statute, and some of these
laws are even broader than the Federal Anti-Kickback Statute in that their prohibitions are not limited to items or services paid for by Federal healthcare programs, but instead
apply regardless of the source of payment.  Violations of the Federal Anti-Kickback Statute may result in substantial civil or criminal penalties and exclusion from participation in
Federal healthcare programs.

All of our financial relationships with healthcare providers and others who provide products or services to Federal healthcare program beneficiaries are potentially governed by
the Federal Anti-Kickback Statute and similar state laws.  We believe our operations are in compliance with the Federal Anti-Kickback Statute and similar state laws.  However,
we cannot be certain that we will not be subject to investigations or litigation alleging violations of these laws, which could be time-consuming and costly to us and could divert
management’s attention from operating our business, which in turn could have a material adverse effect on our business.  In addition, if our arrangements were found to violate
the Federal Anti-Kickback Statute or similar state laws, the consequences of such violations would likely have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations
and financial condition.

Product quality or performance issues may be discovered through ongoing regulation by the FDA and by comparable international agencies, as well as through
our internal standard quality process.

The medical device industry is subject to substantial regulation by the FDA and by comparable international agencies.  In addition to requiring clearance or approval to market
new or improved devices, we are subject to ongoing regulation as a device manufacturer.  Governmental regulations cover many aspects of our operations, including quality
systems, marketing and device reporting.  As a result, we continually collect and analyze information about our product quality and product performance through field
observations, customer feedback and other quality metrics.  If we fail to comply with applicable regulations or if post market safety issues arise, we could be subject to
enforcement sanctions, our promotional practices may be restricted, and our marketed products could be subject to recall or otherwise impacted.  Each of these potential
actions could result in a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial condition.
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The use of hazardous materials in our operations may subject us to environmental claims or liability.

We conduct research and development and manufacturing operations in our facility. Our research and development process may, at times, involve the controlled use of
hazardous materials and chemicals.  We will conduct experiments that are common in the medical device industry, in which we may use small quantities of chemicals, including
those that are corrosive, toxic and flammable.  The risk of accidental injury or contamination from these materials cannot be eliminated.  We do not maintain a separate
insurance policy for these types of risks.  In the event of an accident or environmental discharge or contamination, we may be held liable for any resulting damages, and any
liability could exceed our resources.  We are subject to Federal, state and local laws and regulations governing the use, storage, handling and disposal of these materials and
specified waste products.  The cost of compliance with these laws and regulations could be significant.

Risks Related to Intellectual Property

The protection of our intellectual property is critical to our success and any failure on our part to adequately protect those rights could materially adversely affect
our business.

Our commercial success depends to a significant degree on our ability to:
 · obtain and/or maintain protection for our product candidates under the patent laws of the United States and other countries;
 · defend and enforce our patents once obtained;
 · obtain and/or maintain appropriate licenses to patents, patent applications or other proprietary rights held by others with respect to our technology, both in the

United States and other countries;
 · maintain trade secrets and other intellectual property rights relating to our product candidates; and
 · operate without infringing upon the patents, trademarks, copyrights and proprietary rights of third parties.

The degree of intellectual property protection for our technology is uncertain, and only limited intellectual property protection may be available for our product candidates, which
may prevent us from gaining or keeping any competitive advantage against our competitors.  Although we believe the patents that we own or license, and the patent
applications that we own or license, generally provide us a competitive advantage, the patent positions of biotechnology, biopharmaceutical and medical device companies are
generally highly uncertain, involve complex legal and factual questions and have been the subject of much litigation.  Neither the United States Patent & Trademark Office nor
the courts have a consistent policy regarding the breadth of claims allowed or the degree of protection afforded under many biotechnology patents.  Even if issued, patents may
be challenged, narrowed, invalidated or circumvented, which could limit our ability to stop competitors from marketing similar products or limit the length of term of patent
protection we may have for our products.  Further, a court or other government agency could interpret our patents in a way such that the patents do not adequately cover our
current or future product candidates.  Changes in either patent laws or in interpretations of patent laws in the United States and other countries may diminish the value of our
intellectual property or narrow the scope of our patent protection.

We also rely upon trade secrets and unpatented proprietary know-how and continuing technological innovation in developing our products, especially where we do not
believe patent protection is appropriate or obtainable.  We seek to protect this intellectual property, in part, by generally requiring our employees, consultants, and current and
prospective business partners to enter into confidentiality agreements in connection with their employment, consulting or advisory relationships with us, where appropriate.  We
also require our employees, consultants, researchers and advisors who we expect to work on our products and product candidates to agree to disclose and assign to us all
inventions conceived during the work day, developed using our property or which relate to our business.  We may lack the financial or other resources to successfully monitor
and detect, or to enforce our rights in respect of, infringement of our rights or breaches of these confidentiality agreements.  In the case of any such undetected or
unchallenged infringements or breaches, these confidentiality agreements may not provide us with meaningful protection of our trade secrets and unpatented proprietary know-
how or adequate remedies.  In addition, others may independently develop technology that is similar or equivalent to our trade secrets or know-how.  If any of our trade secrets,
unpatented know-how or other confidential or proprietary information is divulged to third parties, including our competitors, our competitive position in the marketplace could be
harmed and our ability to sell our products successfully could be severely compromised.  Enforcing a claim that a party illegally obtained and is using trade secrets that have
been licensed to us or that we own is also difficult, expensive and time consuming, and the outcome is unpredictable. In addition, courts outside the United States may be less
willing to protect trade secrets. Costly and time consuming litigation could be necessary to seek to enforce and determine the scope of our proprietary rights, and failure to
obtain or maintain trade secret protection could have a material adverse effect on our business. Moreover, some of our academic institution licensees, evaluators, collaborators
and scientific advisors have rights to publish data and information to which we have rights. If we cannot maintain the confidentiality of our technologies and other confidential
information in connection with our collaborations, our ability to protect our proprietary information or obtain patent protection in the future may be impaired, which could have a
material adverse effect on our business.
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In particular, we cannot assure you that:
 · we or the owners or other inventors of the patents that we own or that have been licensed to us, or that may be issued or licensed to us in the future, were the first

to file patent applications or to invent the subject matter claimed in patent applications relating to the technologies upon which we rely;
 · others will not independently develop similar or alternative technologies or duplicate any of our technologies;
 · any of our patent applications will result in issued patents;
 · the patents and the patent applications that we own or that have been licensed to us, or that may be issued or licensed to us in the future, will provide a basis for

commercially viable products or will provide us with any competitive advantages, or will not be challenged by third parties;
 · the patents and the patent applications that have been licensed to us are valid and enforceable;
 · we will develop additional proprietary technologies that are patentable;
 · we will be successful in enforcing the patents that we own or license and any patents that may be issued or licensed to us in the future against third parties;
 · the patents of third parties will not have an adverse effect on our ability to do business; or
 · our trade secrets and proprietary rights will remain confidential.

Accordingly, we may fail to secure meaningful patent protection relating to any of our existing or future product candidates or discoveries despite the expenditure of
considerable resources.  Further, there may be widespread patent infringement in countries in which we may seek patent protection, including countries in Europe and Asia,
which may instigate expensive and time consuming litigation which could adversely affect the scope of our patent protection.  In addition, others may attempt to commercialize
products similar to our product candidates in countries where we do not have adequate patent protection.  Failure to obtain adequate patent protection for our product
candidates, or the failure by particular countries to enforce patent laws or allow prosecution for alleged patent infringement, may impair our ability to be competitive.  The
availability of infringing products in markets where we have patent protection, or the availability of competing products in markets where we do not have adequate patent
protection, could erode the market for our product candidates, negatively impact the prices we can charge for our product candidates, and harm our reputation if infringing or
competing products are manufactured to inferior standards.

Patent applications owned by or licensed to us may not result in issued patents, and our competitors may commercialize the discoveries we attempt to patent.

The patent applications that we own and that have been licensed to us, and any future patent applications that we may own or that may be licensed to us, may not result in the
issuance of any patents. The standards that the United States Patent & Trademark Office and foreign patent offices use to grant patents are not always applied predictably or
uniformly and can change.  Consequently, we cannot be certain as to the type and scope of patent claims to which we may in the future be entitled under our license
agreements or that may be issued to us in the future.  These applications may not be sufficient to meet the statutory requirements for patentability and, therefore, may not result
in enforceable patents covering the product candidates we want to commercialize.  Further, patent applications in the United States that are not filed in other countries may not
be published or generally are not published until at least 18 months after they are first filed, and patent applications in certain foreign countries generally are not published until
many months after they are filed.  Scientific and patent publication often occurs long after the date of the scientific developments disclosed in those publications.  As a result, we
cannot be certain that we will be the first creator of inventions covered by our patents or applications, or the first to file such patent applications.  As a result, our issued patents
and our patent applications could become subject to challenge by third parties that created such inventions or filed patent applications before us or our licensors, resulting in,
among other things, interference proceedings in the United States Patent & Trademark Office to determine priority of discovery or invention.  Interference proceedings, if
resolved adversely to us, could result in the loss of or significant limitations on patent protection for our products or technologies.  Even in the absence of interference
proceedings, patent applications now pending or in the future filed by third parties may prevail over the patent applications that have been or may be owned by or licensed to us
or that we may file in the future, or may result in patents that issue alongside patents issued to us or our licensors or that may be issued or licensed to us in the future, leading
to uncertainty over the scope of the patents owned by or licensed to us or that may in the future be owned by us or our freedom to practice the claimed inventions.
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Our patents may not be valid or enforceable, and may be challenged by third parties.

We cannot assure you that the patents that have been issued or licensed to us would be held valid by a court or administrative body or that we would be able to successfully
enforce our patents against infringers, including our competitors.  The issuance of a patent is not conclusive as to its validity or enforceability, and the validity and enforceability
of a patent is susceptible to challenge on numerous legal grounds, including the possibility of reexamination proceedings brought by third parties in the United States Patent &
Trademark Office against issued patents and similar validity challenges under foreign patent laws.  Challenges raised in patent infringement litigation brought by or against us
may result in determinations that patents that have been issued or licensed to us or any patents that may be issued to us or our licensors in the future are invalid, unenforceable
or otherwise subject to limitations.  In the event of any such determinations, third parties may be able to use the discoveries or technologies claimed in these patents without
paying licensing fees or royalties to us, which could significantly diminish the value of our intellectual property and our competitive advantage.  Even if our patents are held to be
enforceable, others may be able to design around our patents or develop products similar to our products that are not within the scope of any of our patents.

In addition, enforcing the patents that we own or license and any patents that may be issued to us in the future, against third parties may require significant expenditures
regardless of the outcome of such efforts.  Our inability to enforce our patents against infringers and competitors may impair our ability to be competitive and could have a
material adverse effect on our business.

Issued patents and patent licenses may not provide us with any competitive advantage or provide meaningful protection against competitors.

The discoveries or technologies covered by issued patents we own or license may not have any value or provide us with a competitive advantage, and many of these
discoveries or technologies may not be applicable to our product candidates at all.  We have devoted limited resources to identifying competing technologies that may have a
competitive advantage relative to ours, especially those competing technologies that are not perceived as infringing on our intellectual property rights.  In addition, the standards
that courts use to interpret and enforce patent rights are not always applied predictably or uniformly and can change, particularly as new technologies develop.  Consequently,
we cannot be certain as to how much protection, if any, will be afforded by these patents with respect to our products if we, our licensees or our licensors attempt to enforce
these patent rights and those rights are challenged in court.

The existence of third party patent applications and patents could significantly limit our ability to obtain meaningful patent protection.  If patents containing competitive or
conflicting claims are issued to third parties, we may be enjoined from pursuing research, development or commercialization of product candidates or may be required to obtain
licenses, if available, to these patents or to develop or obtain alternative technology.  If another party controls patents or patent applications covering our product candidates,
we may not be able to obtain the rights we need to those patents or patent applications in order to commercialize our product candidates or we may be required to pay
royalties, which could be substantial, to obtain licenses to use those patents or patent applications.

In addition, issued patents may not provide commercially meaningful protection against competitors.  Other parties may seek and/or be able to duplicate, design around or
independently develop products having effects similar or identical to our patented product candidates that are not within the scope of our patents.

Limitations on patent protection in some countries outside the United States, and the differences in what constitutes patentable subject matter in these countries, may limit the
protection we have under patents issued outside of the United States.  We do not have patent protection for our product candidates in a number of our target markets.  The
failure to obtain adequate patent protection for our product candidates in any country would impair our ability to be commercially competitive in that country.
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The ability to market the products we develop is subject to the intellectual property rights of third parties.

The biotechnology, biopharmaceutical and medical device industries are characterized by a large number of patents and patent filings and frequent litigation based on
allegations of patent infringement.  Competitors may have filed patent applications or have been issued patents and may obtain additional patents and proprietary rights related
to products or processes that compete with or are similar to ours.  We may not be aware of all of the patents potentially adverse to our interests that may have been issued to
others.  Because patent applications can take many years to issue, there may be currently pending applications, unknown to us, which may later result in issued patents that
our product candidates or proprietary technologies may infringe.  Third parties may claim that our products or related technologies infringe their patents.  Further, we, our
licensees or our licensors, may need to participate in interference, opposition, protest, reexamination or other potentially adverse proceedings in the United States Patent &
Trademark Office or in similar agencies of foreign governments with regards to our patents, patent applications, and intellectual property rights.  In addition, we, our licensees or
our licensors may need to initiate suits to protect our intellectual property rights.

Litigation or any other proceeding relating to intellectual property rights, even if resolved in our favor, may cause us to incur significant expenses, divert the attention of our
management and key personnel from other business concerns and, in certain cases, result in substantial additional expenses to license technologies from third parties.  Some
of our competitors may be able to sustain the costs of complex patent litigation more effectively than we can because they have substantially greater resources. An unfavorable
outcome in any patent infringement suit or other adverse intellectual property proceeding could require us to pay substantial damages, including possible treble damages and
attorneys’ fees, cease using our technology or developing or marketing our products, or require us to seek licenses, if available, of the disputed rights from other parties and
potentially make significant payments to those parties.  There is no guarantee that any prevailing party would offer us a license or that we could acquire any license made
available to us on commercially acceptable terms.  Even if we are able to obtain rights to a third party’s patented intellectual property, those rights may be nonexclusive and,
therefore, our competitors may obtain access to the same intellectual property.  Ultimately, we may be unable to commercialize our product candidates or may have to cease
some of our business operations as a result of patent infringement claims, which could materially harm our business.  We cannot guarantee that our products or technologies
will not conflict with the intellectual property rights of others.

If we need to redesign our products to avoid third party patents, we may suffer significant regulatory delays associated with conducting additional studies or submitting
technical, clinical, manufacturing or other information related to any redesigned product and, ultimately, in obtaining regulatory approval.  Further, any such redesigns may
result in less effective and/or less commercially desirable products, if the redesigns are possible at all.

Additionally, any involvement in litigation in which we, our licensees or our licensors are accused of infringement may result in negative publicity about us or our products, injure
our relations with any then-current or prospective customers and marketing partners, and cause delays in the commercialization of our products.

Risks Related to Our Common Stock

We are no longer able to rely on Prides Capital Partners, LLC and NightWatch Capital LLC for financial support, and must now rely on third parties for financing.

In the past, we have relied on Prides Capital Partners, LLC (“Prides Capital”) and NightWatch Capital LLC (“NightWatch Capital”) for the ongoing financial support necessary to
operate our business.  Neither Prides Capital nor NightWatch Capital currently provides us with financing or financial support, nor do they currently intend to provide us with
any additional financing or financial support in the future.  To the extent we must obtain financing to support our cash needs, we will be entirely reliant on third parties.  We do
not have any lines of credit or other financing arrangements in place with banks or other financial institutions.  We will require additional financing in the future, and additional
financing may not be available at times, in amounts or on terms acceptable to us, or at all, which would have a material adverse effect on our business.
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Prides Capital and NightWatch Capital control and may continue to control us and may have conflicts of interest with us or you in the future.

As of March 22, 2013, Prides Capital owned 42.1% of our outstanding common stock and NightWatch Capital owned 8.8% of our outstanding common stock.  In addition, Kevin
A. Richardson, II, who is managing partner of Prides Capital, owns 6.7% of our outstanding common stock.  Mr. Richardson was appointed by Prides Capital and John F.
Nemelka was appointed by NightWatch Capital to serve on our board of directors.  For as long as Prides Capital and NightWatch Capital own a majority of our shares of
common stock, they will be able to control the election of all of the members of our board of directors and control the vote of shareholders on other matters.  For as long as they
own a significant percentage of our outstanding stock, even if less than a majority, Prides Capital and NightWatch Capital will be able to control and exercise significant
influence over our business affairs, including the general strategic direction of our business, the incurrence of indebtedness by us, the issuance of any additional equity
securities, the repurchase of equity securities and the payment of dividends, and will have the power to determine or significantly influence the outcome of matters submitted to
a vote of our shareholders, including mergers, consolidations, sales or dispositions of assets, reductions in share capital, other business combinations and amendments to our
articles of incorporation.  Prides Capital and NightWatch Capital may take actions with which you or we do not agree, including actions that delay, defer or prevent a change in
control of our Company or that could adversely affect the market price of our common stock.  In addition, they may take other actions that might be favorable to them, but not
favorable to us or our other shareholders.  Also, if either Prides Capital or NightWatch Capital sells all or a portion of its interest in us, it may cause the value of your investment
to decrease.

Our stock price is volatile.

The market price of our common stock is volatile and could fluctuate widely in response to various factors, many of which are beyond our control, including the following:
 · our ability to obtain additional financing and, if available, the terms and conditions of the financing;
 · changes in the timing of clinical trial enrollment, the results of our clinical trials and regulatory approvals for our product candidates or failure to obtain such

regulatory approvals;
 · changes in our industry;
 · additions or departures of key personnel;
 · sales of our common stock;
 · our ability to execute our business plan;
 · operating results that fall below expectations;
 · period-to-period fluctuations in our operating results;
 · new regulatory requirements and changes in the existing regulatory environment; and
 · general economic conditions and other external factors.

In addition, the securities markets have from time to time experienced significant price and volume fluctuations that are unrelated to the operating performance of particular
companies.  These market fluctuations may also materially and adversely affect the market price of our common stock.

There is currently a limited trading market for our common stock and we cannot predict how liquid the market might become.

To date, there has been a limited trading market for our common stock and we cannot predict how liquid the market for our common stock might become.  Our common stock is
quoted on the Over-the-Counter Bulletin Board (the “OTCBB”), which is an inter-dealer, over-the-counter market that provides significantly less liquidity than the New York
Stock Exchange or the NASDAQ Stock Market.  The quotation of our common stock on the OTCBB does not assure that a meaningful, consistent and liquid trading market
currently exists.  The market price for our common stock is subject to volatility and holders of our common stock may be unable to resell their shares at or near their original
purchase price, or at any price.  In the absence of an active trading market:
 · investors may have difficulty buying and selling, or obtaining market quotations for our common stock;
 · market visibility for our common stock may be limited; and
 · a lack of visibility for our common stock may have a depressive effect on the market for our common stock.
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Trading for our common stock is limited under the SEC’s penny stock regulations, which has an adverse effect on the liquidity of our common stock.

The trading price of our common stock is less than $5.00 per share and, as a result, our common stock is considered a “penny stock,” and trading in our common stock is
subject to the requirements of Rule 15g-9 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”).  Under this rule, broker-dealers who recommend low-
priced securities to persons other than established customers and accredited investors must satisfy special sales practice requirements.  Generally, the broker-dealer must
make an individualized written suitability determination for the purchaser and receive the purchaser’s written consent prior to the transaction.

SEC regulations also require additional disclosure in connection with any trades involving a “penny stock,” including the delivery, prior to any penny stock transaction, of a
disclosure schedule explaining the penny stock market and its associated risks.  These requirements severely limit the liquidity of securities in the secondary market because
only a few brokers or dealers are likely to undertake these compliance activities.  Compliance with these requirements may make it more difficult for holders of our common
stock to resell their shares to third parties or to otherwise dispose of them in the market.

We have not paid dividends in the past and do not expect to pay dividends in the future.  Any return on investment may be limited to the value of our common
stock.

We have never paid cash dividends on our common stock and do not anticipate doing so in the foreseeable future.  The payment of dividends on our common stock will depend
on earnings, financial condition and other business and economic factors affecting us at such time as our board of directors may consider relevant.  If we do not pay dividends,
our common stock may be less valuable because a return on your investment will only occur if our stock price appreciates.
 
Item 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
 
                None.
 
Item 2. PROPERTIES

Our operations, production and research and development office is in a leased facility in Alpharetta, Georgia, consisting of 5,168 square feet of space under a lease
which expires on October 31, 2015.
 
Item 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

    
 Other than the legal proceeding described below and those relating to our intellectual property , there are no material pending legal proceedings to which we are a party

or of which any of our properties are subject; nor are there material proceedings known to us to be contemplated by any governmental authority.  We have one pending legal
proceeding relating to our patents.  For information regarding this legal proceeding, please see “Business - Intellectual Property - Patents” above.

HealthTronics, Inc., along with the Company, are defendants in an alleged breach of contract lawsuit dated April 21, 2006 brought in the Miami-Dade County Circuit
Court, Florida by a former limited partner of a former limited partnership of the Company, Bone & Joint Treatment Centers of America.  Bone & Joint Treatment Centers of
America, the plaintiff, is seeking greater than $3 million.  The lawsuit went to trial in 2011 and the Company received a summary judgment in its favor in December 2011.  On
January 5, 2012, the plaintiff filed an appeal of the summary judgment. HealthTronics, Inc. has been responsible for the defense of the lawsuit on behalf of the Company and
believes the case is unfounded and is contesting the claims vigorously.

There are no material proceedings known to us, pending or contemplated, in which any of our directors, officers or affiliates or any of our principal security holders, or
any associate of any of the foregoing, is a party or has an interest adverse to us.

 
Item 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURE
 
Not applicable.
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PART II

 
Item 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information

The Company’s common stock is quoted on the OTCBB under the symbol “SNWV”.
 

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the high and low sales prices per share of our common stock, as reported on the OTCBB.  The quotations
reflect inter-dealer prices, without mark-up, mark-down or commissions, and may not represent actual transactions:

 
  Price Range  
  High   Low  
2012       
First Quarter  $ 0.53  $ 0.30 
Second Quarter  $ 0.49  $ 0.24 
Third Quarter  $ 0.44  $ 0.22 
Fourth Quarter  $ 0.30  $ 0.09 
 
  Price Range  
  High   Low  
2011       
First Quarter  $ 5.72  $ 3.75 
Second Quarter  $ 5.72  $ 3.00 
Third Quarter  $ 3.75  $ 2.70 
Fourth Quarter  $ 2.70  $ 0.15 
 
 
Holders of Common Stock

As of March 22, 2013, there were 64 holders of record of the Company’s common stock.

Dividends

The Company has never declared or paid any cash dividends on its common stock.  The Company intends to retain future earnings, if any, to finance the expansion of
its business.  In addition, the senior secured convertible promissory notes restrict the Company from paying a dividend as long as the notes are outstanding.  As a result, the
Company does not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future.

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans

Plan Category  

Number of
securities to be

issued upon
exercise of
outstanding

options,
warrants and

rights   

Weighted-
average exercise

price of
outstanding

options,
warrants and

rights   

Number of
securities
remaining

available for
future issuance

under equity
compensation

plans
(excluding
securities

reflected in
column (a))  

  (a)   (b)   (c)  
Equity compensation plans approved by security holders   -   -   - 
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders   5,229,330  $ 2.25   1,459,115 
Total   5,229,330  $ 2.25   1,459,115 
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Stock Incentive Plans

During 2006, SANUWAVE, Inc.’s board of directors adopted the 2006 Stock Incentive Plan of SANUWAVE, Inc., and certain non-statutory stock option agreements
with key employees outside of the 2006 Stock Incentive Plan. The non-statutory stock option agreements have terms substantially the same as the 2006 Stock Incentive Plan.
The stock options granted under the plans were nonstatutory options which vest over a period of up to four years, and have a ten year term.  The options were granted at an
exercise price equal to the fair market value of the common stock on the date of the grant, which was approved by the board of directors of the Company.

 On November 1, 2010, the Company approved the Amended and Restated 2006 Stock Incentive Plan of SANUWAVE Health, Inc. effective as of January 1, 2010 (the
“Stock Incentive Plan”).  The Stock Incentive Plan permits grants of awards to selected employees, directors and advisors of the Company in the form of restricted stock or
options to purchase shares of common stock.  Options granted may include nonstatutory options as well as qualified incentive stock options.  The Stock Incentive Plan is
currently administered by the board of directors of the Company.  The Stock Incentive Plan gives broad powers to the board of directors of the Company to administer and
interpret the particular form and conditions of each option.  The stock options granted under the Stock Incentive Plan are nonstatutory options which vest over a period of up to
four years, and have a ten year term.  The options are granted at an exercise price equal to the fair market value of the common stock on the date of the grant which is
approved by the board of directors of the Company.

Item 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

Not required under Regulation S-K for “smaller reporting companies”.

Item 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Overview

We are a shockwave technology company using noninvasive, high-energy, acoustic shockwaves for regenerative medicine and other applications.  The Company’s initial focus
is regenerative medicine – utilizing noninvasive, acoustic shockwaves to solicit a biological response resulting in the body healing itself through the repair and regeneration of
tissue, musculoskeletal and vascular structures.  Our new lead regenerative product in the United States is the demaPACE device for treating diabetic foot ulcers which is in
a supplemental Phase III clinical study with possible FDA approval in 2015 with positive clinical study results.
 

Our portfolio of healthcare products and product candidates activate biologic signaling and angiogenic responses, including new vascularization and microcirculatory
improvement, helping to restore the body’s normal healing processes and regeneration.  We intend to apply our Pulsed Acoustic Cellular Expression (PACE) technology in
wound healing, orthopedic, plastic/cosmetic and cardiac conditions.  We currently are not marketing any commercial products in the United States.  Revenues are from sales of
our CE Mark devices and accessories in Europe, Canada and Asia/Pacific.

We believe we have demonstrated that our technology is safe and effective in stimulating healing in chronic conditions of the foot and the elbow through our United
States FDA Class III PMA approved OssaTron device, and in the stimulation of bone and chronic tendonitis regeneration in the musculoskeletal environment through the
utilization of our OssaTron, Evotron, and orthoPACE devices in Europe.  Our lead product candidate for the global wound care market, dermaPACE, has received the CE Mark
allowing for commercial use on acute and chronic defects of the skin and subcutaneous soft tissue.
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Our PACE technology has many opportunities in regenerative medicine applications to stimulate healing in:

 · wound conditions, including diabetic foot ulcers, venous ulcers, pressure sores, burns and other skin eruption conditions;
 · orthopedic applications, such as speeding the healing of fractures (including nonunion or delayed-union conditions), improving bone density in osteoporosis, fusing

bones in the extremities and spine, eliminating chronic pain in joints from trauma or arthritis, and other potential sports injury applications;
 · plastic/cosmetic applications such as cellulite smoothing, graft and transplant acceptance, skin tightening, scarring and other potential aesthetic uses; and
 · cardiac applications for removing plaque due to atherosclerosis and improving heart muscle performance.

Outside of healthcare, due to their powerful pressure gradients and localized cavitational effects, our high-energy, acoustic pressure shockwaves can be used in oil
secondary and tertiary exploitation, for cleaning industrial waters and food liquids and finally for maintenance of industrial installations by disrupting biofilms formation. Our
business approach will be through licensing and/or partnership opportunities.

Recent Developments

The U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) has granted approval of our Investigational Device Exemption (IDE) Supplement to conduct a supplemental clinical trial
utilizing our lead device product for the global wound care market, the dermaPACE device, in the treatment of diabetic foot ulcers.  We have already identified and contracted
with clinical study sites and are in the process of contracting with additional sites for participation.  Patient enrollment is expected to begin in the second quarter of 2013.

The double-blind, multi-center, randomized, sham-controlled, parallel group clinical trial plan incorporates the same primary efficacy endpoint of complete wound closure at 12
weeks as was utilized in the pivotal trial.  Similar to the pivotal trial, four (4) dermaPACE procedures will be administered during the first two weeks following subject enrollment.
In the upcoming trial, however, up to four (4) additional dermaPACE procedures will be delivered bi-weekly, between weeks 4 and 10, which we believe will increase the
between-group difference in complete wound closure in favor of dermaPACE over that observed in the first clinical trial. 

We worked closely with the FDA to amend the protocol and develop the statistical plan for the supplemental clinical study. A substantial component of this work
involved using Bayesian statistical principles to define the dermaPACE treatment benefit established in our previously conducted pivotal study. Bayesian designs are supported
by the FDA where there is strong prior evidence that can be incorporated into the clinical study design. By incorporating the prior positive information regarding complete
wound closure after one treatment cycle to bear on the design of the additional study, substantially fewer patients are required than would otherwise be the case while still
ensuring adequate statistical power. This approach will save significant time and preserve scientific rigor.

The supplemental clinical study will incorporate an independent group of medical professionals who will independently adjudicate wound closure of individual patients and
correspond with the respective principal investigator if the decisions are contradictory to that made by the principal investigator to determine a final decision on the state of
closure of the wound.

Importantly, the study design allows for controlled interim monitoring of the data by an independent Data Monitoring Committee (DMC) to determine whether study success has
been achieved.  The first analysis for making a study success determination is projected to occur after 90 patients (approximately 45 per arm) have completed the 12-week
primary efficacy evaluation period. If study data achieves pre-defined statistical and clinical success criteria associated with wound closure favoring dermaPACE, then the
clinical trial can be stopped, and we will submit an amendment to the current PMA for approval.  The controlled interim monitoring plan also includes a provision for DMC review
of data prior to enrollment of the 90 subjects.  This provision has been established in order to monitor the progress of the trial and ensure its alignment with our statistical plan,
or to increase the sample size should additional subjects be needed to demonstrate study success, or stop the trial if study success is deemed unattainable.  By monitoring the
data in this way, appropriate steps can be taken to allocate resources based on the direction the data is heading, prior to arriving at the 90 patient mark, which is the first point
at which study success may be determined per our agreement with the FDA. 
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Previous clinical work supporting our current dermaPACE clinical study

The dermaPACE device completed its pivotal Phase III, IDE trial in the United States for the treatment of diabetic foot ulcers in 2011 and a PMA Application was filed
with the FDA in June 2011. The primary study goal was to establish superiority in diabetic foot ulcer healing rates using the dermaPACE treatment compared to Sham-control,
when both are combined with the current standard of care.  The standard of care included wet-to-dry dressings, the most widely used primary dressing material in the United
States, and offloading with a walking boot for ulcers located on the plantar surface of the foot.

A total of 206 patients entered the dermaPACE study at 24 sites.  The patients in the study were followed for a total of 24 weeks.  The study’s primary endpoint, wound
closure, was defined as “successful” if the skin was 100% reepithelialized at 12 weeks without drainage or dressing requirements confirmed at two consecutive study visits.
 

A summary of the key study findings were as follows:
 
 · Patients treated with dermaPACE showed a strong positive trend in the primary endpoint of 100% wound closure. Treatment with dermaPACE increased the proportion

of diabetic foot ulcers that closed within 12 weeks by 36%, although the rate of complete wound closure between dermaPACE and Sham-control at 12 weeks in the ITT
population was not statistically significant at the 95% confidence level used throughout the study (p=0.363). There were 22 out of 107 (21%) dermaPACE subjects who
achieved complete wound closure at 12 weeks compared with 15 out of 99 (15%) Sham-control subjects.

 · In addition to the originally proposed 12-week efficacy analysis, the FDA expressed interest in seeing the efficacy analysis carried over the full 24 weeks of the study. In
response, we conducted a series of secondary analyses of the primary endpoint of complete wound closure at 12 weeks and at each subsequent study visit out to 24
weeks. The primary efficacy endpoint of complete wound closure reached statistical significance at 20 weeks in the ITT population with 36% of dermaPACE subjects
achieving complete wound closure compared with 23% of Sham-control subjects (p=0.047); in the EE population 38% of dermaPACE subjects achieved complete
wound closure beginning at 20 weeks, compared with 21% of Sham-control subjects (p=0.018).

 · Subjects treated with dermaPACE achieved a significant increase in the rate of complete and/or ≥90% wound closure. We analyzed a clinically relevant ≥ 90% wound
closure endpoint that demonstrated statistical significance (p=0.0161) in favor of dermaPACE subjects (51/107, 48%) compared to patients randomized to receive
Sham-control (31/99, 31%).

 · Within 6 weeks following the initial dermaPACE procedure, and consistently throughout the 24-week period, dermaPACE significantly reduced the size of the target
ulcer compared with subjects randomized to receive Sham-control (p<0.05).

 · Of the subjects who achieved complete wound closure at 12 weeks, the recurrence rate at 24 weeks was only 4.5% in the dermaPACE group compared with 20.0% in
the Sham-control group.

 · Importantly, there were no meaningful statistical differences in the adverse event rates between the dermaPACE treated patients and the Sham-control group.  There
were no issues regarding the tolerability of the treatment which suggests that a second course of treatment, if needed, is a clinically viable option.

We filed with the FDA the clinical module of the dermaPACE PMA application in June 2011. In December 2011, we received a major deficiency letter from the FDA
regarding the FDA’s review of the dermaPACE PMA. The FDA issues a major deficiency letter to the applicant when the PMA lacks significant information necessary for the
FDA to complete its review or to determine whether there is reasonable assurance that the device is safe and effective for its intended use. The FDA comments on the
application in detail and requests the applicant to amend the application to respond to the cited deficiencies and provide the necessary information.

In its December 2011 letter, the FDA cited, among other deficiencies, the dermaPACE study’s failure to meet the study’s primary endpoint of 100% wound closure
compared with Sham-control at the 12-week time point. Among the letter’s recommendations to address the deficiency is for us to design and conduct another clinical trial using
the findings from any subgroup(s) that may support the safety and effectiveness of the dermaPACE device. We evaluated the comments in the FDA’s letter and after further
analyses of the clinical data and informal, non-binding interaction with the FDA, we have decided to conduct additional clinical work as discussed above.
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Financial Overview
     

Since our inception in 2005, we have funded our operations from the sale of capital stock, the issuance of notes payable to related parties, the issuance of promissory
notes, the sale of our veterinary division in June 2009, and product sales.  At December 31, 2012, the balance of cash and cash equivalents totaled $70,325 and we had a net
working capital deficit of $2,413,536.  We will require additional capital in 2013 to continue as a going concern.  There can be no assurance that we will be successful in raising
such capital.  See “Liquidity and Capital Resources.”

 
We expect to continue to incur significant expenses as a result of the dermaPACE clinical study in the United States, as well as expenses associated with regulatory

filings, which may include expenses related to responding to regulatory comments and/or directives following review of our filings/applications.
     
Since our inception, we have incurred losses from operations each year.  As of December 31, 2012, we had an accumulated deficit of $70,910,322.  Although the size

and timing of our future operating losses are subject to significant uncertainty, we expect that operating losses will continue over the next several years as we continue to fund
our clinical trials and the FDA approval process.  We incurred a net loss of $6,401,494 and $10,238,797 during the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011,
respectively.  These operating losses create an uncertainty about our ability to continue as a going concern.  Although no assurances can be given, we believe that potential
additional issuances of equity, debt or other potential financing will provide the necessary funding for us to continue as a going concern for the next year.

 
We cannot reasonably estimate the nature, timing and costs of the efforts necessary to complete the development and approval of, or the period in which material net

cash flows are expected to be generated from, any of our products, due to the numerous risks and uncertainties associated with developing products, including the uncertainty
of:

 · the scope, rate of progress and cost of our clinical trials;
 · future clinical trial results;
 · the cost and timing of regulatory approvals;
 · the establishment of successful marketing, sales and distribution;
 · the cost and timing associated with establishing reimbursement for our products;
 · the effects of competing technologies and market developments; and
 · the industry demand and patient wellness behavior.

Any failure to complete the development of our product candidates in a timely manner, or any failure to successfully market and commercialize our product candidates,
would have a material adverse effect on our operations, financial position and liquidity.  A discussion of the risks and uncertainties associated with us and our business are set
forth under the section entitled “Risk Factors – Risks Related to Our Business.”

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
     

The discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based on our consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in
accordance with United States generally accepted accounting principles.  The preparation of our consolidated financial statements requires us to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses.
     

On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates and judgments, including those related to the recording of the allowances for doubtful accounts, estimated reserves for
inventory, estimated useful life of property and equipment, the determination of the valuation allowance for deferred taxes, the estimated fair value of stock-based
compensation, the estimated fair value of intangible assets, the estimated fair value assigned to the capital stock units exchanged for promissory notes and the estimated fair
value assigned to the common stock and warrants exchanged for the notes payable, related parties.  We base our estimates on authoritative literature and pronouncements,
historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about
the carrying value of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.  Our actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or
conditions.  The results of our operations for any historical period are not necessarily indicative of the results of our operations for any future period.
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While our significant accounting policies are more fully described in Note 2 to our consolidated financial statements filed with this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we

believe that the following accounting policies relating to revenue recognition, research and development costs, inventory valuation, intangible assets, stock-based compensation
and income taxes are significant and; therefore, they are important to aid you in fully understanding and evaluating our reported financial results.

Revenue Recognition
     

Sales of medical devices, including related applicators and applicator kits, are recognized when shipped to the customer.  Shipments under agreements with
distributors are invoiced at a fixed price, are not subject to return, and payment for these shipments is not contingent on sales by the distributor.  We recognize revenue on
shipments to distributors in the same manner as with other customers.  Fees from services performed are recognized when the service is performed.

Research and Development Costs
     

We expense costs associated with research and development activities as incurred.  We evaluate payments made to suppliers and other vendors and determine the
appropriate accounting treatment based on the nature of the services provided, the contractual terms, and the timing of the obligation. Research and development costs include
payments to third parties that specifically relate to our products in clinical development, such as payments to contract research organizations, clinical investigators, clinical
related consultants and insurance premiums for clinical studies.  In addition, employee costs (salaries, payroll taxes, benefits and travel) for employees of the regulatory affairs,
clinical affairs, quality assurance, quality control, and research and development departments are classified as research and development costs.

Inventory Valuation
     

We value our inventory at the lower of our actual cost or the current estimated market value.  We regularly review existing inventory quantities and expiration dates of
existing inventory to evaluate a provision for excess, expired, obsolete and scrapped inventory based primarily on our historical usage and anticipated future usage.  Although
we make every effort to ensure the accuracy of our forecasts of future product demand, any significant unanticipated change in demand or technological developments could
have an impact on the value of our inventory and our reported operating results.

Inventory is carried at the lower of cost or market, which is valued using the first in, first out (“FIFO”) method, and consists primarily of devices and the component
material for assembly of finished products, less reserves for obsolescence.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets subject to amortization consist of patents which are recorded at cost.  Patents are amortized on a straight-line basis over the average life of 11.4
years.  We regularly review intangible assets to determine if facts and circumstances indicate that the useful life is shorter than we originally estimated or that the carrying
amount of the assets may not be recoverable. If such facts and circumstances exist, we assess the recoverability of the intangible assets by comparing the projected
undiscounted net cash flows associated with the related asset or group of assets over their remaining lives against their respective carrying amounts.  If recognition of an
impairment charge is necessary, it is measured as the amount by which the carrying amount the intangible asset exceeds the fair value of the intangible asset.

Stock-based Compensation
     

The Stock Incentive Plan provides that stock options, and other equity interests or equity-based incentives, may be granted to key personnel, directors and advisors at
the fair value of the common stock at the time the option is granted, which is approved by the Company’s board of directors. The maximum term of any option granted pursuant
to the Stock Incentive Plan is ten years from the date of grant.

In accordance with ASC 718,  Compensation – Stock Compensation (formerly SFAS No. 123(R), Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation), the fair value of each
option award is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model.  The expected terms of options granted represent the period of time that options
granted are estimated to be outstanding and are derived from the contractual terms of the options granted.  We amortize the fair value of each option over each option’s vesting
period.
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Income Taxes
     

We account for income taxes utilizing the asset and liability method prescribed by the provisions of  ASC 740, Income Taxes (formerly SFAS No. 109, Accounting for
Income Taxes).  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on differences between the financial reporting and tax basis of assets and liabilities and are measured
using the enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse.  A valuation allowance is provided for the deferred tax assets, including
loss carryforwards, when it is more likely than not that some portion or all of a deferred tax asset will not be realized.

We account for uncertain tax positions in accordance with the related provisions of ASC 740, Income Taxes (formerly FASB Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for
Uncertainty in Income Taxes (FIN 48)).  ASC 740 specifies the way public companies are to account for uncertainties in income tax reporting, and prescribes a methodology for
recognizing, reversing, and measuring the tax benefits of a tax position taken, or expected to be taken, in a tax return.  ASC 740 requires the evaluation of tax positions taken or
expected to be taken in the course of preparing the Company’s tax returns to determine whether the tax positions would “more-likely-than-not” be sustained if challenged by the
applicable tax authority.  Tax positions not deemed to meet the more-likely-than-not threshold would be recorded as a tax benefit or expense in the current year.
 
 
Segment Information
     

We have determined that we are principally engaged in one operating segment.  Our product candidates are primarily used for the repair and regeneration of tissue,
musculoskeletal and vascular structures in wound healing, orthopedic, plastic/cosmetic and cardiac conditions.

Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

FASB ASC 220, Comprehensive Income  (formerly SFAS No. 130, Reporting Comprehensive Income), establishes standards for reporting and display of
comprehensive income (loss) and its components in the consolidated financial statements.  Our other comprehensive income (loss) as defined by ASC 220 is the total of net
income (loss) and all other changes in equity resulting from non-owner sources, including unrealized gains (losses) on foreign currency translation adjustments.

Results of Operations for the Years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011

Revenues and Cost of Revenues

Revenues for the year ended December 31, 2012 were $769,217, compared to $802,572 for the same period in 2011, a decrease of $33,355, or 4%.  Revenues
resulted primarily from sales in Europe of our dermaPACE and orthoPACE devices and related applicators.  The decrease in revenues for 2012 is due to lower sales of
orthoPACE devices in Europe for orthopedic, trauma and sports medicine indications due to the European economic downturn.  This is partially offset by an increase in sales of
applicators for 2012 as a result of more devices in use.

Cost of revenues for the year ended December 31, 2012 were $220,257, compared to $261,890 for the same period in 2011.  Gross profit as a percentage of revenues
was 71% for the year ended December 31, 2012, compared to 67% for the same period in 2011.  The slight increase in gross profit as a percentage of revenues in 2012 was
due to increased sales of higher margin applicators in 2012, as compared to 2011.
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Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses for the year ended December 31, 2012 were $1,762,194, compared to $2,731,059 for the same period in 2011, a decrease of
$968,865, or 35%.  Research and development costs include payments to third parties that specifically relate to our products in clinical development, such as payments to
contract research organizations, clinical investigators, clinical related consultants and insurance premiums for clinical studies.  In addition, employee costs (salaries, payroll
taxes, benefits, and travel) for employees of the regulatory affairs, clinical affairs, quality assurance, quality control, and research and development departments are classified
as research and development costs.  Research and development expenses in 2012 decreased due to lower expenses for clinical results analysis and clinical related
expenses.  Consulting expenses related to clinical results analysis were higher in 2011 as we prepared for the submission to the FDA in June 2011 of the dermaPACE PMA for
treating diabetic foot ulcers.

We expect research and development expenses to increase in 2013 as a result of the expected start of the supplemental Phase III clinical trial of dermaPACE for
treating diabetic foot ulcers in the United States, as well as continuing expenses associated with regulatory filings in addition to continuing technology development.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2012 were $4,521,957, as compared to $6,292,950 for the same period in 2011, a decrease of
$1,770,993, or 28%. General and administrative expenses include non-cash stock-based compensation of $1,391,316 and $1,118,813 for the years ended December 31, 2012
and 2011, respectively.  The increase in non-cash stock-based compensation of $272,503, or 24%, was primarily due to the stock options granted in November 2012 to the
former President and Chief Executive Officer upon his resignation and the vesting of all his outstanding, unvested options at that time.  See  “Part III – Item 11” of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K.

Excluding non-cash stock-based compensation, general and administrative expenses were $3,130,641 for the year ended December 31, 2012, as compared to
$5,174,137 for the same period in 2011, a decrease of $2,043,496, or 39%. The decrease was primarily due to a reduction in headcount (10 employees in December 2012 as
compared to 28 employees in December 2011), decreased investor relations expenses and decreased legal costs for patent defense activities.

We expect to continue to focus on keeping general and administrative expenses reduced to the 2012 expenditure rate in 2013.

Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation for the year ended December 31, 2012 was $20,375, compared to $19,034 for the same period in 2011, an increase of $1,341, or 7%.  The increase is
due to full year depreciation in 2012 for assets purchased in 2011.

Amortization for the year ended December 31, 2012 was $306,757, compared to $306,756 for the same period in 2011.

Other Income (Expense)

Interest expense, net, for the year ended December 31, 2012 was $331,743, compared to $472,155 for the same period in 2011, a decrease of $140,412, or 30%.  The
decrease was due to no interest expense after April 4, 2011 on certain notes payable to related parties as a result of the note exchange for common stock and warrants on that
date as discussed below.

In June 2009, we sold our veterinary division to Pulse Veterinary Technologies, LLC (“Pulse Vet”).  Under terms of the asset purchase agreement, we continued to
provide services at the direction of Pulse Vet for a fee until these transitional production services were transitioned to Pulse Vet.  Pulse Vet took over production services
effective November 1, 2011.  The income for these transitional services was $0 and $375,000 for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively, a decrease of
$375,000 or 100%.  The decrease was due to the discontinuation of the services effective November 1, 2011.
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On April 4, 2011, we amended the terms of outstanding notes with Prides Capital Fund I, LP and NightWatch Capital Partners II, LP such that the unpaid principal and
interest balance on the notes totaling $4,413,908 was cancelled in consideration of the issuance of 1,358,126 shares of common stock.  In addition, in connection with the
transaction, we issued to the noteholders warrants to purchase an aggregate of 679,064 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $4.00 per share.  We recorded a loss
from extinguishment of debt of $1,318,781, which was the difference between the estimated fair value of the common stock and warrants on the date of exchange and the fair
value of the notes (assuming the conversion feature was exercised by the noteholders).

 
Provision for Income Taxes

At December 31, 2012, we had federal net operating loss carryforwards of $54,017,215 that will begin to expire in 2025.  Our ability to use these net operating loss
carryforwards to reduce our future federal income tax liabilities could be subject to annual limitations.  In connection with possible future equity offerings, we may realize a “more
than 50% change in ownership” which could further limit our ability to use our net operating loss carryforwards accumulated to date to reduce future taxable income and tax
liabilities.  Additionally, because United States tax laws limit the time during which net operating loss carryforwards may be applied against future taxable income and tax
liabilities, we may not be able to take advantage of our net operating loss carryforwards for federal income tax purposes.

Net Loss

Net loss for the year ended December 31, 2012 was $6,401,494, or ($0.30) per basic and diluted share, compared to a net loss of $10,238,797, or ($0.52) per basic
and diluted share, for the same period in 2011.  We anticipate that our operating losses will continue over the next several years as we continue to fund our dermaPACE device
clinical trial for the treatment of diabetic foot ulcers.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The continuation of our business is dependent upon raising additional capital. We have been working with select accredited investors to raise up to $2,000,000 through
the issuance of 18% senior secured convertible promissory notes (as previously defined, the “Senior Secured Notes”).  We received subscriptions for $430,000 through
December 31, 2012 and an additional $1,570,000 subsequent to year end. The offering closed on March 8, 2013 and we issued an aggregate $2,000,000 of the notes.  The
Senior Secured Notes begin to mature in May 2013.  The conversion of the Senior Secured Notes by the Company is contingent on us raising $4,000,000 or more through a
qualified financing and/or license agreement as defined in the Senior Secured Note agreements. Management’s plans are to obtain additional capital in 2013 through the
issuance of common stock or other securities and the Company has engaged an investment bank in order to assist with this capital raise. Based on our current financial
condition, we may be unable to obtain such financing on commercially reasonable terms, if at all.  If we do not raise at least $4,000,000 we will not be able to convert the
Senior Secured Notes and they will become due and payable by us.
 

We expect to devote substantial resources to continue our Phase III clinical trial for the dermaPACE device to treat diabetic foot ulcers.  Because of the significant time
it will take for our product to complete the clinical trial process, and for us to obtain approval from regulatory authorities and successfully commercialize our product, we will
require substantial additional capital resources.  We incurred a net loss of $6,401,494 and $10,238,797 for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.  These
operating losses create uncertainty about our ability to continue as a going concern.  For the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, the net cash used by operating
activities by the Company was $4,290,121 and $8,831,699, respectively.  As of December 31, 2012, we had cash and cash equivalents of $70,325.  We may raise additional
capital through the issuance of common or preferred stock, securities convertible into common stock, or secured or unsecured debt, or an investment by a strategic partner in a
specific clinical indication or market opportunity, or we may sell all or a portion of the Company's assets.  If these efforts are unsuccessful, we may be forced to seek relief
through a filing under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code. These possibilities, to the extent available, may be on terms that result in significant dilution to our existing
shareholders.  Additional financing may not be available on acceptable terms, if at all.  Capital may become difficult or impossible to obtain due to poor market or other
conditions outside of our control.  Our consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments relating to the recoverability of assets and classification of assets and
liabilities that might be necessary should we be unable to continue as a going concern.
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We may also attempt to raise additional capital if there are favorable market conditions or other strategic considerations even if we have sufficient funds for planned
operations.  To the extent that we raise additional funds by issuance of equity securities, our shareholders will experience dilution, and debt financings, if available, may involve
restrictive covenants or may otherwise constrain our financial flexibility.  To the extent that we raise additional funds through collaborative arrangements, it may be necessary to
relinquish some rights to our intellectual property or grant licenses on terms that are not favorable to us.  In addition, payments made by potential collaborators or licensors
generally will depend upon our achievement of negotiated development and regulatory milestones.  Failure to achieve these milestones would harm our future capital position.

On April 8, 2011, we completed a private placement to 28 institutional and individual accredited investors of 2,804,593 shares of common stock at a purchase price of
$3.25 per share, for gross proceeds of $9,114,927. The net proceeds received by us were $8,467,121, net of offering costs of $647,806. As part of the private placement, the
investors were issued five-year warrants to purchase up to 2,804,593 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $4.00 per share.  In addition, the placement agent for the
private placement was issued five-year warrants to purchase 93,080 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $4.00 per share.  The warrants vested upon issuance and
expire after five years.

On April 4, 2011, Prides Capital Fund I, LP and NightWatch Capital Partners II, LP, the holders of certain amended senior notes, exchanged the unpaid principal and
interest balance of the notes which totaled $4,413,908 in consideration for the issuance of 1,358,126 shares of common stock.  In connection with this transaction, we issued to
the noteholders an aggregate total of 679,064 warrants to purchase shares of common stock at an exercise price of $4.00 per share.  Each warrant represents the right to
purchase one share of common stock.  The warrants vested upon issuance and expire after five years.

During the year ended December 31, 2010, we sold “Units” to select accredited investors which consisted of: (i) one share of common stock; (ii) a two-year common
stock purchase warrant (the “Class D Warrant”) to purchase one share of common stock, at an exercise price of $2.00; and (iii) an option (the “Option”), which, as amended,
expired on January 31, 2011, to purchase the same number of Units as granted pursuant to this transaction, at the purchase price of $2.00 per Unit.  Between January 1 and
January 31, 2011, Option holders exercised 1,950,167 Options for total gross proceeds of $3,900,334 to us.  In connection with the exercise of Options in January 2011, we
issued 1,950,167 shares of common stock and 1,950,167 Class D Warrants.  The Option holders included our chairman of the board of directors who exercised 545,252
Options and the brother of a member of our board of directors who exercised 686,252 Options. The 132,500 Options that remained unexercised at January 31, 2011 expired by
their terms.

For the year ended December 31, 2012, net cash used by operating activities was $4,290,121, primarily consisting of salaries, clinical trials, research and development
activities and general corporate operations.  Net cash provided by financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2012 was $450,424, which primarily consisted of the
proceeds received for subscriptions for the senior secured convertible promissory notes of $430,000.  Cash and cash equivalents decreased by $3,839,058 for the year ended
December 31, 2012.

For the year ended December 31, 2011, net cash used by operating activities was $8,831,699, primarily consisting of salaries, clinical trials, research and development
activities and general corporate operations.  In addition, the net cash used by operating activities during 2011 included payments to reduce current payables, accrued employee
compensation and accrued expenses which totaled $1,607,856.  Net cash used by investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2011 was $42,302, which consisted of
the purchase of fixed assets used for research and development and computer equipment.  Net cash provided by financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2011
was $12,366,363, which primarily consisted of the net proceeds from the private placement of $8,467,121 and the exercise of unit options of $3,900,334.  Cash and cash
equivalents increased by $3,491,926 for the year ended December 31, 2011.

Contractual Obligations

Our major outstanding contractual obligations relate to our operating lease for our facility, purchase and supplier obligations for product component materials and
equipment, and our notes payable.

In April 2007, we entered into a lease agreement for the production and research and development office for 5,168 square feet of space.  Under the terms of the lease,
we pay monthly rent of $8,506, as adjusted on an annual basis for additional proportionate operating and insurance costs associated with the building over the base
amount.  The initial term of the lease expired on July 31, 2010, and we extended the lease until October 31, 2015.
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We have developed a network of suppliers, manufacturers, and contract service providers to provide sufficient quantities of product component materials for our

products through the development, clinical testing and commercialization phases.  We have a manufacturing supply agreement with Swisstronics Contract Manufacturing AG in
Switzerland, a division of Cicor Technologies Ltd., covering the generator box component of our devices.

During the year ended December 31, 2012, we offered subscriptions for18% Senior Secured Convertible Promissory Notes (as previously defined, the “Senior Secured
Notes”) to select accredited investors.  We received subscriptions payable for Senior Secured Notes in the aggregate principal amount of $430,000 through December 31,
2012.  Subsequent to December 31, 2012, we received subscriptions payable for an additional aggregate $1,570,000.  We closed the offering and issued the aggregate
$2,000,000 in Senior Secured Notes on March 8, 2013. The Senior Secured Notes have a six month term from the subscription date and the note holders can convert into
Company common stock at anytime during the term at $0.20 per share.  Upon the consummation of a qualified financing and/or technology license of $4,000,000 or more by
us, as defined in the Senior Secured Note agreements, the principal and interest on the Senior Secured Notes will convert into Company common stock equal to the lower of (i)
the Company common stock issued in the qualified financing and/or technology license, reduced by a discount of 20%, and (ii) $0.20 per share. The Senior Secured Note
holders will also receive, if any are issued, warrants or any other security issued in a qualified financing and/or technology license on similar terms to the qualified financing
and/or technology license.  The Senior Secured Notes are secured by the tangible and intangible assets of the Company.  As of December 31, 2012, we had issued six Senior
Secured Notes in the principal amount of $430,000 and had accrued interest expense of $8,516.

                In August 2005, as part of the purchase of the orthopedic division assets of HealthTronics, Inc., we issued two notes to HealthTronics, Inc. for $2,000,000 each.  The
notes bear interest at 6% annually.  Quarterly interest through June 30, 2010 was accrued and added to the principal balance.  Interest is paid quarterly in arrears beginning
September 30, 2010.  All remaining unpaid accrued interest and principal is due August 1, 2015.  Accrued interest on the notes not payable until August 2015 totaled
$1,372,743 at December 31, 2012 and 2011.
     
Recently Issued Accounting Standards

There have been no recently issued accounting standards that are expected to have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
     

Since inception, we have not engaged in any off-balance sheet activities, including the use of structured finance, special purpose entities or variable interest entities.

Effects of Inflation
     

Because our assets are, to an extent, liquid in nature, they are not significantly affected by inflation.  However, the rate of inflation affects such expenses as employee
compensation, office space leasing costs and research and development charges, which may not be readily recoverable during the period of time that we are bringing the
product candidates to market.  To the extent inflation results in rising interest rates and has other adverse effects on the market, it may adversely affect our consolidated
financial condition and results of operations.

Item 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Not required under Regulation S-K for “smaller reporting companies”.

Item 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The consolidated financial statements required by this item and an index thereto are contained in Part IV, Item 15 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
 

Item 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.
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Item 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
 
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
 

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) promulgated under the Exchange Act, that are designed to provide
reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and
reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms.  Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to
ensure that information required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the
Company’s management, including its principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, as appropriate to allow timely decisions
regarding required disclosure.  We carried out an evaluation under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer (principal
executive officer) and Chief Financial Officer (principal financial and accounting officer), of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and
procedures as of December 31, 2012.  Based on this evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures
were effective as of December 31, 2012.

 
Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
 
Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the

Exchange Act).  The Company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with United States generally accepted accounting principles.

 
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Therefore, even those systems determined to be

effective can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving their control objectives.
 
Management, with the participation of the Chief Executive Officer (principal executive officer) and the Chief Financial Officer (principal financial and accounting officer),

evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2012. In making this assessment, management used the criteria set
forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission in Internal Control — Integrated Framework. As a result of such assessment, management
concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2012.
 
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
 

There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the period covered by this report that materially affect, or are
reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting, except we redesigned the procedures to enhance the identification, capture, review, approval
and recording of contractual terms, including equity arrangements, and added a control for management to engage, as necessary, an outside consultant to assist in the
application of United States generally accepted accounting principles to complex transactions.
 
Item 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
    
None.
 

PART III
 
Item 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
 

MANAGEMENT

Below are the names and certain information regarding the Company’s executive officers and directors.
 

Name  Age   Position Held
Joseph Chiarelli  66   Chief Executive Officer and director (1)

Barry J. Jenkins  50   Chief Financial Officer and COO
Kevin A. Richardson, II  44  Director (2)

John F. Nemelka  47  Director
 

(1) Mr. Chiarelli joined the Company as the Chief Executive Officer and a director in February 2013.
(2) Mr. Richardson has served as Chairman of the Board since October 2009. Upon the resignation of the Company’s former President and Chief Executive Officer,
Christopher M. Cashman, in November 2012, he assumed the role of Active Chief Executive Officer, in addition to remaining Chairman of the Board.  Subsequent to
Mr. Chiarelli joining the Company in February 2013 as Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Richardson remained Chairman of the Board of the Company.
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Joseph Chiarelli joined the Company as Chief Executive Officer and a director in February of 2013. Mr. Chiarelli brings to our board of directors a broad array of financial
knowledge for healthcare and other industries.  Prior to joining the Company, he was Senior Managing Director for Auriga Capital Management where he was responsible for
financial advisory, business development and a healthcare hedge fund from 2011 to February 2013.  Previously, from 2008 to 2011, he was Managing Director of Chiarelli &
Company, a firm providing strategic and financial advice to emerging and small companies.  Mr. Chiarelli was Senior Managing Director for Wall Street Access where he
managed a healthcare joint venture and independent healthcare research from 2007 to 2008.  Previously, from 2005 to 2007, he was Chairman of the board of directors of
Clarent Hospital Corporation, a hospital management firm. Mr. Chiarelli was a Senior Equity Investment Analyst at Oppenheimer & Co. Inc. where he managed the healthcare
research team from 2003 to 2005.  Previously, from 2002 to 2003, he was Managing Director of Blaylock & Partners, LP. Mr. Chiarelli was with JPMorgan Chase & Co. (“JPM”)
from 1981 to 2001 where he developed much of his healthcare industry knowledge while he was responsible for three healthcare sectors as the Senior Investment Research
Analyst. Prior to his assignment to healthcare, he served in a number of senior positions across JPM, including being Chief Financial Officer of two large independent
subsidiaries, J.P. Morgan Delaware and Morgan Securities Services Corporation.  Mr. Chiarelli is a Colonel in the USAFR and a member of the board of directors of a private
healthcare device.  He graduated from Manhattan College with a BBA in Accounting, earned an MBA in Management/Finance from the University of Hawaii, graduated from
the Cornell University Executive Development Program, and is a graduate of Air War College. He is a certified public accountant and holds FINRA licenses 7, 24, 63, 86, and
87.

 
Kevin A. Richardson, II joined the Company as chairman of the board of directors in October of 2009 and joined SANUWAVE, Inc. as chairman of the board of

directors in August of 2005.  In November 2012, upon the resignation of the Company’s former President and Chief Executive Officer, Christopher M. Cashman, Mr.
Richardson assumed the role of Active Chief Executive Officer, in addition to remaining Chairman of the Board, through the hiring of Mr. Chiarelli in February 2013.  Mr.
Richardson brings to our board of directors a broad array of financial knowledge for healthcare and other industries.  Since 2004, Mr. Richardson has served as managing
partner of Prides Capital LLC, an investment management firm.  Mr. Richardson is also a member of the board of directors of As Seen On TV, Inc., a publicly traded company,
and Pegasus Solutions, Inc., a travel technology company.

 
Barry J. Jenkins joined the Company as Chief Financial Officer in September of 2009 and joined SANUWAVE, Inc. as Chief Financial Officer in April of 2006.  In

November 2012, Mr. Jenkins was appointed to perform the functions of Chief Operating Officer of the Company.  Prior to joining SANUWAVE, Inc., he served as Chief
Financial Officer for the Benefit Services Division of Automatic Data Processing, Inc. from March of 2005 to April of 2006.  Previously, he was the Chief Financial Officer of
Snowden Pencer, Inc. from January of 2002 to November of 2004.  Mr. Jenkins is a certified public accountant with 29 years of financial management experience and a cum
laude graduate of Virginia Tech.

John F. Nemelka joined the Company as a member of the board of directors in October of 2009 and joined SANUWAVE, Inc. as a member of the board of directors in
August of 2005.  Mr. Nemelka brings to our board of directors a diverse background with both financial and operations experience.  Since 2001, Mr. Nemelka has served as a
managing principal of NightWatch Capital Advisors, LLC, an investment management firm. Mr. Nemelka is also a member of the board of directors of LiqTech International, Inc.,
a publicly traded clean technology company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND BOARD MATTERS

The Company adopted a formal Corporate Governance policy on January 17, 2012 which included establishing formal board committees and a code of conduct for the
board of directors and the Company.

The Board of Directors

Recent Developments

As a result of the resignation of four board members during 2012 for personal reasons and not attributable to any disagreement with the Company on any matter, the
Company’s current board of directors consists of three members, none of whom has been determined by the board to be “independent” as defined under the rules of the
NASDAQ stock market.  The Company expects to add independent directors to the board of directors in 2013.
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Board’s Leadership Structure
 

The Company’s board of directors elects the Company’s chief executive officer and its chairman, and each of these positions may be held by the same person or may
be held by two persons. The Company’s board of directors has determined that it is currently in the best interest of the Company and its shareholders to separate the roles of
chairman of the board and chief executive officer.  The chairman’s primary responsibilities are to manage the board and serve as the primary liaison between the board of
directors and the chief executive officer, while the primary responsibility of the chief executive officer is to manage the day-to-day affairs of the Company, taking into account
the policies and directions of the board of directors.  Such an arrangement promotes more open and robust communication among the board, and provides an efficient decision
making process with proper independent oversight.
 

With the resignation of Christopher M. Cashman as President and Chief Executive Officer, and a director of the Company, effective November 7, 2012, the board of
directors elected Kevin A. Richardson, the chairman of the board, to also assume the function of Active Chief Executive Officer until Joseph Chiarelli joined the Company in
February 2013 as Chief Executive Officer and a director.  Mr. Richardson remained chairman of the board.

 
The Company believes, however, that there is no single leadership structure that is the best and most effective in all circumstances and at all times.  Accordingly, the

board of directors retains the authority to later combine these roles if doing so would be in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders.
 

The Company’s board of directors is authorized to have an audit committee, a compensation committee and a nominating and corporate governance committee, to
assist the Company’s board of directors in discharging its responsibilities. As a result of the resignation of four board members during 2012, the Company’s current board of
directors consists of three members, none of whom have been determined by the board to be “independent” as defined under the rules of the NASDAQ stock market. The
Company expects to add independent directors to the board of directors in 2013.

 
Board’s Role in Risk Oversight

While the Company’s management is responsible for the day-to-day management of risk to the Company, the board of directors has broad oversight responsibility for
the Company’s risk management programs.  The various committees of the board of directors assist the board of directors in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities in certain
areas of risk.  In particular, the audit committee focuses on financial and enterprise risk exposures, including internal controls, and discusses with management and the
Company’s independent registered public accountants the Company’s policies with respect to risk assessment and risk management.  The compensation committee is
responsible for considering those risks that may be implicated by the Company’s compensation programs and reviews those risks with the Company’s board of directors and
chief executive officer.

Audit Committee

The current members of the Company’s audit committee are Kevin A. Richardson, II and John F. Nemelka.  Mr. Richardson, who chairs the committee, has been
determined by the board of directors to be an audit committee financial expert as defined pursuant to the rules of the SEC.  Pursuant to the Company’s Audit Committee
Charter, the audit committee is required to consist of at least two independent directors.  With the resignation of the Company’s independent directors in 2012, the Company
does not currently have any independent directors.  The board of directors has determined that Mr. Richardson and Mr. Nemelka are not independent under the applicable
marketplace rules of the NASDAQ stock market and Rule 10A-3 under the Exchange Act. The Company expects to add independent directors to the board of directors in 2013.

 
The audit committee operates under a written charter adopted by the board of directors which is available on the Company’s website at www.sanuwave.com.  The

primary responsibility of the audit committee is to oversee the Company’s financial reporting process on behalf of the board of directors. Among other things, the audit
committee is responsible for overseeing the Company’s accounting and financial reporting processes and audits of the Company’s financial statements, reviewing and
discussing with the independent auditors the critical accounting policies and practices for the Company, engaging in discussions with management and the independent
auditors to assess risk for the Company and management thereof, and reviewing with management and the independent auditors the effectiveness of the Company’s internal
controls and disclosure controls and procedures.  The audit committee is directly responsible for the appointment, compensation, retention and oversight of the work of the
Company’s independent auditors, currently BDO USA, LLP, including the resolution of disagreements, if any, between management and the auditors regarding financial
reporting.  In addition, the audit committee is responsible for reviewing and approving any related party transaction that is required to be disclosed pursuant to Item 404 of
Regulation S-K promulgated under the Exchange Act.
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Compensation Committee

The current members of the Company’s compensation committee are Kevin A. Richardson, II and John F. Nemelka.  The primary purpose of the compensation committee
is to discharge the responsibilities of the board of directors relating to compensation of the Company’s executive officers.  Pursuant to the Company’s Compensation Committee
Charter, the compensation committee is required to consist of at least two independent directors.  With the resignation of the Company’s independent directors in 2012, the
Company does not currently have any independent directors.  The board of directors has determined that Mr. Richardson and Mr. Nemelka are not independent under the
applicable marketplace rules of the NASDAQ stock market and Rule 10A-3 under the Exchange Act. The Company expects to add independent directors to the board of
directors in 2013.

The compensation committee operates under a written charter adopted by the board of directors which is available on the Company’s website at www.sanuwave.com.
Specific responsibilities of the compensation committee include reviewing and recommending approval of compensation of the Company’s named executive officers,
administering the Company’s stock incentive plans, and reviewing and making recommendations to the Company’s board of directors with respect to incentive compensation
and equity plans.
 
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee

The current members of the Company’s nominating and corporate governance committee are Kevin A. Richardson, II and John F. Nemelka.  Pursuant to the Company’s
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee Charter, the nominating and corporate governance committee is required to consist of at least two independent
directors.  With the resignation of the Company’s independent directors in 2012, the Company does not currently have any independent directors.  The board of directors has
determined that Mr. Richardson and Mr. Nemelka are not independent under the applicable marketplace rules of the NASDAQ stock market and Rule 10A-3 under the
Exchange Act. The Company expects to add independent directors to the board of directors in 2013.

The nominating and corporate governance committee operates under a written charter adopted by the board of directors which is available on the Company’s website
at www.sanuwave.com.  Specific responsibilities of the nominating and corporate governance committee include: identifying and recommending nominees for election to the
Company’s board of directors; developing and recommending to the board of directors the Company’s corporate governance principles; overseeing the evaluation of the board
of directors; and reviewing and approving compensation for non-employee members of the board of directors.

 
The nominating and corporate governance committee’s charter outlines how the nominating and corporate governance committee fulfills its responsibilities for

assessing the qualifications and effectiveness of the current board members, assessing the needs for future board members, identifying individuals qualified to become
members of the board and its committees, and recommending candidates for the board of director’s selection as director nominees for election at the next annual or other
properly convened meeting of shareholders.

The nominating and corporate governance committee considers director candidates recommended by shareholders for nomination for election to the board of directors. The
committee applies the same standards in considering director candidates recommended by the shareholders as it applies to other candidates.  Any shareholder entitled to vote
for the election of directors may recommend a person or persons for consideration by the committee for nomination for election to the board of directors.  The Company must
receive written notice of such shareholder’s recommended nominees(s) no later than January 31st of the year in which the shareholder wishes such recommendation to be
considered by the committee in connection with the next meeting of shareholders at which the election of directors will be held.  To submit a recommendation, a shareholder
must give timely notice thereof in writing to the Secretary of the Company. A shareholder’s notice to the Secretary shall set forth: (i) the name and record address of the
shareholder making such recommendation and any other shareholders known by such shareholder to be supporting such recommendation; (ii) the class and number of shares
of the Company which are beneficially owned by the shareholder and by any other shareholders known by such shareholder to be supporting such recommendation; (iii) the
name, age and five year employment history of such recommended nominee; (iv) the reasons why the shareholder believes the recommended nominee meets the
qualifications to serve as director of the Company; and (v) any material or financial interest of the shareholder and, if known, the recommended nominee in the Company.
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Shareholder Communications with the Board of Directors

The board of directors has implemented a process for shareholders to send communications to the board of directors. Shareholders who wish to communicate directly
with the board of directors or any particular director should deliver any such communications in writing to the Secretary of the Company. The Secretary will compile any
communications he receives from shareholders and deliver them periodically to the board of directors or the specific directors requested. The Secretary of the Company will not
screen or edit such communications, but will deliver them in the form received from the shareholder.

Code of Conduct and Ethics

It is the Company’s policy to conduct its affairs in accordance with all applicable laws, rules and regulations of the jurisdictions in which it does business.  The
Company has adopted a code of business conduct and ethics with policies and procedures that apply to all associates (all employees are encompassed by this term, including
associates who are officers) and directors, including the chief executive officer, chief financial officer, controller, and persons performing similar functions.

The Company has made the code of business conduct and ethics available on its website at www.sanuwave.com.  If any substantive amendments to the code of
business conduct and ethics are made or any waivers are granted, including any implicit waiver, the Company will disclose the nature of such amendment or waiver on its
website or in a report on Form 8-K.

No Family Relationships Among Directors and Officers

There are no family relationships between any director or executive officer of the Company and any other director or executive officer of the Company.

SECTION 16(a) BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP REPORTING COMPLIANCE

Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires our directors and executive officers, and persons who own more than 10% of our equity securities which are registered
pursuant to Section 12 of the Exchange Act, to file with the SEC initial reports of ownership and reports of changes in ownership of our equity securities.  Officers, directors and
greater than 10% shareholders are required by SEC regulations to furnish us with copies of all Section 16(a) reports they file.

 
Based solely upon a review of the Forms 3, 4 and 5 (and amendments thereto) furnished to us for our fiscal year ended December 31, 2012, we have determined that

our directors, officers and greater than 10% beneficial owners complied with all applicable Section 16 filing requirements with the following exception:  Christopher M. Cashman
filed one Form 4 on November 13, 2012 reporting four November 6, 2012 option grants late.

 
Item 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Summary Compensation Table for Fiscal Years 2012 and 2011

The following table provides certain information concerning compensation earned for services rendered in all capacities by our named executive officers during the
fiscal years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011.
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Name and
Principal
Position

 Year  Salary
($)

  Bonus
($)

  Stock
Awards

($)

  Option
Awards

($)

  Non Equity
Incentive Plan
Compensation

($)

  Nonqualified
Deferred

Compensation
Earnings

($)

  All Other
Compensation

($)(5)

  Total
($)

 
(a)  (b)   (c)   (d)   (e)   (f)   (g)   (h)   (i)   (j)  

                                    
Kevin A. Richardson, II Chairman of the Board and Active  2012   -(1)   -   -   -   -   -   -   - 
Chief Executive Officer (principal executive officer)  2011   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   - 
                                    
                                    
Barry J. Jenkins  2012  $245,417   -   -   -   -   -  $ 18,316  $ 263,733 
Chief Financial Officer and COO (principal financial officer)  2011  $240,547  $182,532(2)   -   -   -   -  $ 23,197  $ 446,276 
                                    
                                    
Christopher M. Cashman  2012  $328,237(3)   -   -   -   -   -  $ 784,315(6)  $1,112,552 
Former Chief Executive Officer and President  2011  $385,000  $415,000(2)   -  $1,495,000(4)   -   -  $ 26,220  $2,321,220 
                                    
 
(1) Mr. Richardson has been the Company’s Chairman of the Board since the Company’s inception and does not receive a salary.  In addition, effective November 7, 2012, he
assumed the additional position of Active Chief Executive Officer until Joseph Chiarelli joined the Company as Chief Executive Officer in February 2013.   He did not receive
compensation for being Active Chief Executive Officer in 2012.
(2) This includes two years of bonuses earned (2009 and 2010) which were paid in 2011.
(3) Salary through resignation date of November 7, 2012.
(4) This dollar amount reflects the full fair value of the grant at the date of issuance and is recognized for financial statement reporting purposes with respect to each fiscal year
over the vesting terms in accordance with ASC 718-10.  Mr. Cashman was granted options to purchase 1,300,000 shares of common stock at $1.98 per share on October 24,
2011.
(5) Includes health, dental, life and disability insurance premiums and employer 401(k) matching contributions.
(6) This dollar amount includes the full fair value of the severance payments for Mr. Cashman and the full fair value at date of grant of the stock options issued to Mr. Cashman
in his severance agreement.   Severance payments totaling $542,269 at December 31, 2012 were accrued for accounting purposes and are included in the total, however they
will be paid in future periods.

Employment Agreements

Joseph Chiarelli
 

General Terms.  Subsequent to fiscal year end December 31, 2012, pursuant to his employment agreement, Mr. Chiarelli joined the Company to serve as the Chief
Executive Officer and a director of the Company commencing on February 25, 2013 with a two year term thereafter extendable for one year periods.  Mr. Chiarelli is entitled to
an annual base salary of $200,000 for the first year and $225,000 thereafter, with a performance and compensation review not less often than annually, at which time
compensation may be adjusted as determined by the board of directors.

In the event of the satisfaction of the following milestones, the Company shall award and pay to Mr. Chiarelli a cash bonus as follows: (i) $35,000 for the Company
completing a financing resulting in gross proceeds to the Company of no less than $5.0 million at a price per share of not less than $0.35; (ii) $25,000 when the final patient is
enrolled in the Company’s dermaPACE Phase III clinical trial; (iii) $25,000 upon receipt by the Company of FDA approval for the use of dermaPACE; and (iv) $25,000 upon the
execution by the Company of a license or distribution agreement from which the Company is entitled to receive gross proceeds of no less than $1.0 million and the Company
has received payments of at least $250,000.  In addition, with respect to each full fiscal year, Mr. Chiarelli is eligible to earn an annual bonus award as determined by the board
of directors based on the achievement of certain performance goals established by the board of directors. Mr. Chiarelli is also entitled to participate in the Company’s employee
benefit plans (other than annual bonus and incentive plans).  The employment agreement contains an agreement not to compete, which covers the term of employment and two
years thereafter, and a confidentiality provision, which is indefinite.
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Equity Arrangements. Upon the execution of his employment agreement, Mr. Chiarelli was granted options to purchase 2,250,000 shares of the Company’s common
stock, $0.001 par value, at an exercise price of $0.35 per share.  The options vest and become exercisable in five installments as follows: (i) 375,000 vested at grant; (ii)
375,000 vest upon the Company completing a financing resulting in gross proceeds to the Company of no less than $5.0 million at a price per share of not less than $0.35; (iii)
375,000 upon the execution by the Company of a license or distribution agreement from which the Company is entitled to receive gross proceeds of no less than $1.0 million
and the Company has received payments of at least $250,000; (iv) 375,000 vest upon receipt by the Company of FDA approval for the use of dermaPACE; and (v) 750,000
vest in the event the Company achieves the milestones (i), (ii), (iii) and (iv) above during the initial two year term and the term is not extended by the Company.

Termination.  Mr. Chiarelli’s employment may be terminated by either party at any time and for any reason; provided that Mr. Chiarelli will be required to give the
Company at least 30 days advance written notice of any resignation.  If Mr. Chiarelli is terminated by the Company for cause or resigns without good reason, he will be entitled
to receive his (1) base salary through the termination date, (2) reimbursement for certain unreimbursed business expenses, and (3) such employee benefits to which he may be
entitled under the employee benefit plans of the Company.  If  Mr. Chiarelli is terminated by the Company without cause or resigns for good reason, he will be entitled to receive
all of the above plus (1) subject to his compliance with certain other provisions of the employment agreement related to non-competition and confidentiality and the execution of
an effective release of claims, continued payment of the base salary through February 25, 2015, (2) continued payment of the bonus events discussed above as the milestones
are achieved by the Company, and (3) accelerate all options to vest.

Change of Control.  In addition to any other termination benefits that Mr. Chiarelli may be entitled to receive, if a change of control occurs as defined in his employment
agreement, then subject to his compliance with certain other provisions of the employment agreement related to non-competition and confidentiality and the execution of an
effective release of claims, Mr. Chiarelli will also be entitled to receive 100% accelerated vesting of his options.

 
Barry J. Jenkins

General Terms.  Pursuant to his employment agreement, Mr. Jenkins agreed to serve as the Chief Financial Officer of the Company commencing on April 10, 2006 and
with no specific duration.  Mr. Jenkins is entitled to an annual base salary of $205,000, with a performance and compensation review not less often than annually, at which time
compensation may be adjusted as determined by the board of directors.  With respect to each full fiscal year, Mr. Jenkins is eligible to earn an annual bonus award of 40% of
his annual base salary based on the achievement of certain performance goals established by the board of directors and generally consistent with the Company’s budget and
performance goals established for other management employees.  Mr. Jenkins is also entitled to participate in the Company’s employee benefit plans (other than annual bonus
and incentive plans).  The employment agreement contains an agreement not to compete, which covers the term of employment and two years thereafter, and a confidentiality
provision, which is indefinite.

Equity Arrangements.  Upon the execution of his employment agreement, Mr. Jenkins was granted options to purchase 104,677 shares of common stock, at an
exercise price of $2.92 per share.  The options vested and became exercisable in four equal installments on April 10, 2007, 2008, 2009 and 2010.  Upon the execution of his
employment agreement and his commencement of employment, Mr. Jenkins purchased 35,089 shares of common stock, at a purchase price of $2.92 per share. In addition,
upon the execution of his employment agreement, Mr. Jenkins was granted three supplemental options to purchase common stock.  The terms of the supplemental options
were amended on September 15, 2009.  The first and second supplemental options each provided him with the right to purchase 34,778 shares of common stock and the third
supplemental option provided him with the right to purchase 52,166 shares of common stock.  The initial exercise price of the supplemental options is $2.92 per share.  The
supplemental options were fully vested on April 10, 2012.

 
Termination.  Mr. Jenkins’ employment may be terminated by either party at any time and for any reason; provided that Mr. Jenkins will be required to give the

Company at least 30 days advance written notice of any resignation.  If Mr. Jenkins is terminated by the Company for cause or resigns without good reason, he will be entitled
to receive his (1) base salary through the termination date, (2) any annual bonus earned, but unpaid as of the date of termination for the immediately preceding fiscal year, (3)
reimbursement for certain unreimbursed business expenses, and (4) such employee benefits to which he may be entitled under the employee benefit plans of the
Company.  If  Mr. Jenkins is terminated by the Company without cause or resigns for good reason, he will be entitled to receive all of the above plus (1) subject to his
compliance with certain other provisions of the employment agreement related to non-competition and confidentiality and the execution of an effective release of claims,
continued payment of the base salary until six months following the date of termination, and (2) continued coverage of him and his beneficiaries under the Company’s health
insurance programs for a period of up to six months.
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Change of Control.  In addition to any other termination benefits that Mr. Jenkins may be entitled to receive, if a change of control occurs, then subject to his
compliance with certain other provisions of the employment agreement related to non-competition and confidentiality and the execution of an effective release of claims, Mr.
Jenkins will also be entitled to receive 100% accelerated vesting of his options.

Severance Agreements

Christopher M. Cashman

Severance Agreement Terms.  On November 6, 2012, the Company entered into a Severance and Advisory Agreement (the “Severance Agreement”) with Christopher M.
Cashman, then a director of the Company, and the Company’s President and Chief Executive Officer. Entry into the Severance Agreement was made in connection with Mr.
Cashman’s resignation as President and Chief Executive Officer, and a director of the Company, effective November 7, 2012.

Pursuant to the Severance Agreement, Mr. Cashman will receive, as severance:

(a) six (6) months of his base salary, payable in accordance with the Company’s standard payroll practices;

(b) Company-paid COBRA coverage under the Company’s health care plan for himself and his family through November 2013;

(c) bonus payments of $100,000 upon each of the following four bonus payment events (the “Bonus Payment Events”): (i) the first (1 st) enrollee in the Company’s
clinical trial plan, (ii) the twentieth (20th) enrollee, (iii) the fiftieth (50th) enrollee, and (iv) receipt of an FDA approval letter of the dermaPACE device allowance for
commercial use; provided, that if the FDA approval letter at subpart (iv) is received prior to the achievement of the enrollment thresholds at subparts (i), (ii), and/or (iii),
the bonuses for achievement of subparts (i), (ii), and/or (iii) will be accelerated and become due and payable immediately with the bonus for subpart (iv);
 
(d) a grant of 1,000,000 options to acquire shares of the Company’s common stock.  The exercise price for such options is $0.21 which was the closing price of the
Company’s common stock on the grant date. The term of the options is ten years. The first 600,000 options vested upon the execution of the Severance
Agreement.  The remaining 400,000 options will vest and become exercisable in increments of 100,000 upon each of the Bonus Payment Events at subparts (i)-(iv)
above; provided, that if the FDA approval letter at subpart (iv) is received prior to the achievement of the enrollment thresholds at subparts (i), (ii), and/or (iii), all options
granted under this section but not previously vested shall become vested and immediately exercisable upon receipt of such letter; and
 
(e) a grant of 50,000 options to acquire shares of the Company’s common stock under the Stock Incentive Plan as consideration for the provision of advisory
services.  The exercise price for such options is $0.21which was the closing price of the Company common stock on the grant date. The term of the options is ten
years.  The options will vest and be exercisable based on the following schedule: (i) 25% of the options vested upon the execution of the Severance Agreement, but will
be forfeited if Mr. Cashman fails to provide advisory services as called for in the Severance Agreement; and (ii) unless the advisory services have been terminated, an
additional 25% of the options shall vest on each date three (3), six (6), and nine (9) months after the effective date of the Severance Agreement.

 
Any of the Bonus Payment Events which have not occurred as of December 31, 2016 will be considered to have occurred as of December 31, 2016, and the remaining
previously unpaid bonus payments per Bonus Payment Event will be due and payable immediately and all options granted under this section but not previously vested will
become vested and immediately exercisable on such date.
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The Company’s board of directors authorized the Company to vest all previously granted but unvested stock options for Mr. Cashman, which will remain exercisable for
the full term of their grant, notwithstanding any contrary provision in the applicable award agreements.

In connection with the entry by the Company and Mr. Cashman into the Severance Agreement, and the resignation of Mr. Cashman from his position as President and
Chief Executive Officer, and as a director of the Company, the Employment Agreement, dated December 19, 2005, as amended (the “Employment Agreement”), by and
between the Company and Christopher M. Cashman was terminated, as of November 6, 2012.  By the terms of the Severance Agreement, the Employment Agreement is of no
further force or effect, as of the date of entry into the Severance Agreement, and, specifically, the terms of severance contained in the Severance Agreement supersede any
such terms contained in the Employment Agreement.

Stock Incentive Plan

On October 24, 2006, SANUWAVE, Inc.’s board of directors adopted the 2006 Stock Incentive Plan of SANUWAVE, Inc. (the “2006 Plan”).  On November 1, 2010, the
Company approved the Amended and Restated 2006 Stock Incentive Plan of SANUWAVE Health, Inc. effective as of January 1, 2010 (previously defined as the “Stock
Incentive Plan”).  The Stock Incentive Plan permits grants of awards to selected employees, directors and advisors of the Company in the form of restricted stock or options to
purchase shares of common stock.  Options granted may include nonstatutory options as well as qualified incentive stock options.  The Stock Incentive Plan is currently
administered by the board of directors of the Company.  The Stock Incentive Plan gives broad powers to the board of directors of the Company to administer and interpret the
particular form and conditions of each option.  The stock options granted under the Stock Incentive Plan are nonstatutory options which vest over a period of up to four years,
and have a ten year term.  The options are granted at an exercise price equal to the fair market value of the common stock on the date of the grant which is approved by the
board of directors of the Company.  The Stock Incentive Plan had 5,000,000 shares of common stock reserved for grant at December 31, 2012.  Subsequent to December 31,
2012, the Company amended the Stock Incentive Plan to increase the shares of common stock reserved for grant to 8,500,000

The terms of the options granted under the Stock Incentive Plan expire as determined by individual option agreements (or on the tenth anniversary of the grant date),
unless terminated earlier on the first to occur of the following: (1) the date on which the participant’s service with the Company is terminated by the Company for cause; (2) 60
days after the participant’s death; or (3) 60 days after the termination of the participant’s service with the Company for any reason other than cause or the participant’s death;
provided that, if during any part of such 60 day period the option is not exercisable solely because of specified securities law restrictions, the option will not expire until the
earlier of the expiration date or until it has been exercisable for an aggregate period of 60 days after the termination of the participant’s service with the Company.  The options
vest as provided for in each individual’s option agreement and the exercise prices for the options are determined by the board of directors at the time the option is granted;
provided that the exercise price shall in no event be less than the fair market value per share of the Company’s common stock on the grant date.  In the event of any change in
the common stock underlying the options, by reason of any merger or exchange of shares of common stock, the board of directors shall make such substitution or adjustment
as it deems to be equitable to (1) the class and number of shares underlying such option, (2) the exercise price applicable to such option, or (3) any other affected terms of
such option.

In the event of a change of control, unless specifically modified by an individual option agreement: (1) all options outstanding as of the date of such change of control
will become fully vested; and (2) notwithstanding (1) above, in the event of a merger or share exchange, the board of directors may, in its sole discretion, determine that any or
all options granted pursuant to the Stock Incentive Plan will not vest on an accelerated basis if the board of directors, the surviving corporation or the acquiring corporation, as
the case may be, has taken such action as in the opinion of the board of directors is equitable or appropriate to protect the rights and interests of the participants under the
Stock Incentive Plan.

On December 31, 2012, there were 1,459,115 shares of common stock available for grant under the Stock Incentive Plan.  For the years ended December 31, 2012
and 2011, there were 1,050,000 and 1,300,000 options granted to the Company’s executive officers under the Stock Incentive Plan, respectively.
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Outstanding Equity Awards at 2012 Fiscal Year End

The following table provides certain information concerning the outstanding equity awards for each named executive officer as of December 31, 2012.

  Option Awards   Stock Awards  
Name  Number of

Securities
Underlying

Unexercised
Options/

Warrants (#)
Exercisable

  Number of
Securities
Underlying

Unexercised
Options/

Warrants (#)
Unexercisable

  Equity
Incentive

Plan Awards:
Number of
Securities
Underlying

Unexercised
Unearned
Options

(#)

  Option/
Warrant
Exercise
Price ($)

  Option/
Warrant

Expiration
Date

  Number of
Shares or
Units of

Stock That
Have Not
Vested

(#)

  Market
Value of

Shares or
Units of
Stock

That Have
Not

Vested
($)

  Equity
Incentive

Plan
Awards:

Number of
Unearned
Shares,
Units or
Other

Rights That
Have Not
Vested

(#)

  Equity
Incentive

Plan
Awards:

Market or
Payout

Value of
Unearned
Shares,
Units or
Other

Rights That
Have Not
Vested

($)  
(a)  (b)   (c)   (d)   (e)   (f)   (g)   (h)   (i)   (j)  

Kevin A. Richardson, II   5,000   -   -  $ 2.92  09/15/2019   -   -   -   - 
(Chairman of the Board and Active CEO)   2,500   2,500(2)   -  $ 4.05  01/29/2020   -   -   -   - 
   5,000   -   -  $ 2.00  11/01/2020   -   -   -   - 
                                    
Barry J. Jenkins   477,759   -   -  $ 2.92  10/24/2016   -   -   -   - 
(Chief Financial Officer and COO)   10,000(2)   10,000(2)   -  $ 4.05  01/29/2020   -   -   -   - 
   175,000   -   -  $ 2.00  11/01/2020   -   -   -   - 
                                    
Christopher M. Cashman   1,210,686   -   -  $ 2.92  12/19/2015   -   -   -   - 
(former President and CEO) (1)   350,000   -    -  $ 2.00  11/01/2020   -   -   -   - 
   1,300,000   -   -  $ 1.98  10/24/2021   -   -   -   - 
   600,000(3)   400,000(3)   -  $ 0.21  11/06/2022   -   -   -   - 
   12,500(4)   37,500(4)   -  $ 0.21  11/06/2022   -   -   -   - 
                                    

(1) Mr. Cashman resigned as President and CEO of the Company effective November 7, 2012.
(2) The option was granted January 29, 2010 and vests 25% annually for four years.
(3) The option was granted November 6, 2012 and vests 600,000 shares at grant date.  The remaining shares will vest at the earlier of December 31, 2016 or when following
events occur:  100,000 shares at enrollment of first patient in the Company’s dermaPACE clinical trial; 100,000 shares at enrollment of twentieth patient in the dermaPACE
clinical trial; 100,000 shares at enrollment of fiftieth patient in the dermaPACE clinical trial; and 100,000 shares at FDA approval of the dermaPACE.
(4) The option was granted November 6, 2012 and vests 25% at grant date, 25% at three months, 25% at six months and 25% at nine months from the grant date.
 
 

Director Compensation Table for Fiscal 2012

The Company did not pay any director cash or stock-based compensation for serving on our board of directors during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012.  The
following table provides certain information concerning compensation for each director during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012.

Name  Fees Earned
or

Paid in
Cash
($)

  Stock
Awards

($)

  Option
Awards

($)

  Non-Equity
Incentive Plan
Compensation

($)

  Nonqualified
Deferred

Compensation
Earnings

($)

  All Other
Compensation

($)

  Total
($)

 
                      

(a)  (b)   (c)   (d)   (e)   (f)   (g)   (h)  
                             
Barbara M. Henagan (1)   -   -   -   -   -   -   - 
                             
                             
John F. Nemelka   -   -   -   -   -   -   - 
                             
                             
Kevin A. Richardson, II   -   -   -   -   -   -   - 
                             
                             
Thomas H. Robinson (1)   -   -   -   -   -   -   - 
                             
                             
Ronald M. Sparks, Jr. (1)   -   -   -   -   -   -   - 
                             
 
(1) Ronald M. Sparks, Jr. and Barbara M. Henagan resigned from the Company’s board on April 23, 2012.  Thomas H. Robinson resigned from the Company’s board on May
25, 2012.  The three independent board members’ did not receive any cash or stock-based compensation for serving on the board during 2012 and all outstanding options were
forfeited unexercised.
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Christopher M. Cashman, our former Chief Executive Office and President, who was a member of our board of directors until his resignation effective November 7,

2012, has been omitted from this table since he received no compensation for serving on our board of directors.
 

The following are the aggregate number of option awards outstanding that have been granted to each of our non-employee directors as of December 31, 2012:  Kevin
A. Richardson, II – 15,000 and John F. Nemelka – 15,000.

Discussion of Director Compensation

The Company did not pay any director cash or stock-based compensation for serving on our board of directors during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012.
 
With the addition of Barbara M. Henagan and Ronald M. Sparks, Jr. to the board of directors in September 2011, the Company began to compensate its three

independent directors at an annual rate of $40,000 each plus $5,000 for being the chair of a board of director’s committee.  On September 20, 2011, the Company issued
25,000 options to purchase the Company’s common stock at $2.95 to non-employee director Ronald M. Sparks, Jr.  On September 28, 2011, the Company issued 25,000
options to purchase the Company’s common stock at $2.85 to non-employee director Barbara M. Henagan.  Ronald M. Sparks, Jr. and Barbara M. Henagan resigned from the
Company’s board on April 23, 2012.  Thomas H. Robinson resigned from the Company’s board on May 25, 2012.  The three independent board members’ did not receive any
cash or stock-based compensation for serving on the board during 2012 and all outstanding options were forfeited unexercised.

Item 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The following table sets forth certain information, as of March 22, 2013, with respect to the beneficial ownership of the Company’s outstanding common stock by (i) any holder
of more than five percent, (ii) each of the Company’s executive officers and directors, and (iii) the Company’s directors and executive officers as a group.

Name of Beneficial Owner (1)  

Number of Shares
Beneficially
Owned (2)   

Percent of
Shares

Outstanding  
Joseph Chiarelli (3)   375,000   1.7%
Barry J. Jenkins (4)   480,003   2.2%
Kevin A. Richardson, II (5)   1,778,837   8.1%
John F. Nemelka (6)   38,833   * 
5% Beneficial Owner:         
David N. Nemelka (7)   5,048,510   19.7%
Christopher M. Cashman (8)         3,936,259   15.7%
Prides Capital Fund I, LP (9)   10,520,077   45.7%
NightWatch Capital Partners II, LP (10)   2,108,369   9.7%
All directors and executive officers as a group (4 persons)   2,672,674   11.8%
 
*          Less than 1% of outstanding shares.
(1)       Unless otherwise noted, each beneficial owner has the same address as the Company.
(2)       “Beneficial ownership” includes shares for which an individual, directly or indirectly, has or shares voting or investment power, or both, and also includes options that are
exercisable within 60 days of March 22, 2013.  Unless otherwise indicated, all of the listed persons have sole voting and investment power over the shares listed opposite their
names.  Beneficial ownership as reported in the above table has been determined in accordance with Rule 13d-3 of the Exchange Act.
(3)       Consist of options to purchase up to 375,000 shares of common stock.
(4)       Includes options to purchase up to 274,253 shares of common stock and warrants to purchase up to 3,508 shares of common stock.
(5)       Includes options to purchase up to 38,333 shares of common stock and promissory notes convertible into 300,000 shares of common stock.
(6)       Includes options to purchase up to 38,333 shares of common stock.
(7)       Based solely on information contained in filings on Schedule 13D, as amended, and on Form 4’s, made with the SEC by the reporting person. Includes a subscription
agreement to purchase 3,600,000 shares of common stock at $0.25 per share no later than May 27, 2014 and warrants to purchase up to 443,510 shares of common stock.
The principal address of David N. Nemelka is 2662 Stonebury Loop Road, Springville, UT 84663.
(8)       Includes options to purchase up to 3,460,686 shares of common stock and warrants to purchase up to 8,816 shares of common stock.  Mr. Cashman resigned as
President, Chief Executive Officer, and as a Director effective November 7, 2012.
(9)       Based solely on information contained in filings on Schedule 13D, as amended, made with the SEC by the reporting person.  Includes warrants to purchase 1,438,088
shares of common stock.  The principal business address of Prides Capital Fund, I, LP is 100 Cummings Center, Suite 324C, Beverly,  MA 01915.
(10)     Based solely on information contained in filings on Schedule 13D, as amended, made with the SEC by the reporting person.  Includes warrants to purchase 204,224
shares of common stock.  The principal business address of NightWatch Capital Partners II, LP is 5314 River Run Drive, Suite 350, Provo, UT 84604.
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Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans 

Information on securities authorized for issuance under the Company's equity compensation plans can be found in Item 5 under the same caption in this Annual Report
on Form 10-K.
 
Item 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

  
Other than as described below, for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012, there were no transactions with related persons required to be disclosed in this report.

On November 27, 2012, the Company and David N. Nemelka (the “Subscriber”), the brother of John F. Nemelka, a member of the Company’s board of directors,
entered into a subscription agreement (the “Subscription Agreement”) whereby the Subscriber has agreed to purchase from the Company, and the Company has agreed to sell
and issue, a total of 4,000,000 shares of the Company’s unregistered common stock at a purchase price equal to $0.25 per share, for an aggregate sales price of $1,000,000
(the “Purchase Price”).  The Purchase Price shall be payable to the Company as follows: (i) $50,000 on or before January 31, 2013; (ii) $50,000 on or before February 15,
2013; and (iii) the balance of $900,000 on or before May 27, 2014 (the “Outside Due Date”).  The Subscriber may make payments of the Purchase Price at his discretion, in
minimum installments of $100,000 each, until the Outside Due Date.  In the event that at any time after February 15, 2013, the Company’s total available cash should be less
than $100,000, the Subscriber shall, upon demand of the Company, pay to the Company $100,000 of the then outstanding balance of the Purchase Price, which payment shall
be due within thirty (30) days of the demand.  There is no limit on the number of demands that the Company may make pursuant to this provision of the Subscription
Agreement, provided, however, that in no event shall the Company provide more than one notice of demand for payment in any thirty (30) day period.  As of December 31,
2012, the Subscriber had paid the Company $25,000 and was issued 100,000 shares of unregistered common stock of the Company.  The Company will record the additional
$975,000 and issue the corresponding 3,900,000 shares of common stock in the periods in which the Purchase Price is received.  Subsequent to December 31, 2012, the
Subscriber has paid the Company an additional $75,000 and was issued an additional 300,000 shares of unregistered common stock of the Company which was recorded in
the first quarter of 2013.

On November 6, 2012, the Company entered into a Severance and Advisory Agreement (the “Severance Agreement”) with Christopher M. Cashman, then a director of the
Company, and the Company’s President and Chief Executive Officer. Entry into the Severance Agreement was made in connection with Mr. Cashman’s resignation as
President and Chief Executive Officer, and a director of the Company, effective November 7, 2012.  See further discussion in Part III – Item 11.

Director Independence

Our board of directors has determined that our two outside directors at December 31, 2012, Kevin A. Richardson, II and John F. Nemelka, do not qualify as
independent directors based on the NASDAQ stock market definition of “independent director.”   There are no family relationships among any of the directors or executive
officers of the Company.
 
Item 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

    
The following table summarizes the fees that we have paid or accrued for audit and other services provided by our principal independent registered public accounting

firm, BDO USA, LLP, for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011:
 

Fee Category  2012   2011  
Audit fees  $ 111,588   $ 102,502  
Tax fees   15,000    15,000  
Audit related fees   -    -  
All other fees   -    -  
Total fees  $ 126,588   $ 117,502  
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For purposes of the preceding table:

 
 · Audit fees consist of fees for the annual audit of our consolidated financial statements, the review of the interim financial statements included in our quarterly

reports on Form 10-Q, and other professional services provided in connection with statutory and regulatory filings and consents related to capital markets
transactions and engagements for those fiscal years.

 
 · Tax fees consist of fees for tax compliance, tax advice and tax planning services for those fiscal years.
 
 · Audit related fees  consist of fees for assurance and related services that are reasonably related to the performance of the audit or review.
 
 · All other fees consist of fees for all other products and services.
 
 

The board of directors must pre-approve all audits and permitted non-audit services to be provided by our principal independent registered public accounting firm unless
an exception to such pre-approval exists under the Exchange Act or the rules of the SEC.  Each year, the board of directors approves the retention of the independent auditor
to audit our consolidated financial statements, including the associated fee.  At this time, the board of directors evaluates other known potential engagements of the independent
auditor, including the scope of audit-related services, tax services and other services proposed to be performed and the proposed fees, and approves or rejects each service,
taking into account whether the services are permissible under applicable law and the possible impact of each non-audit service on the independent auditor’s independence
from management.
 
Audit Committee Report
 

The Company formally adopted the Audit Committee Charter on January 17, 2012.  The audit committee oversees the accounting and financial reporting processes of
the Company on behalf of the board of directors. Management has primary responsibility for the Company’s financial statements, financial reporting process and internal
controls over financial reporting.  The independent auditors are responsible for performing an independent audit of the Company’s consolidated financial statements in
accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). The audit committee's responsibility is to select the independent auditors
and monitor and oversee the accounting and financial reporting processes of the Company, including the Company’s internal controls over financial reporting, and the audits of
the consolidated financial statements of the Company.
 

During the course of 2012 and the first quarter of 2013, the audit committee met and held discussions with management and the independent auditors. In the
discussions related to the Company’s consolidated financial statements for fiscal year 2012, management represented to the audit committee that such consolidated financial
statements were prepared in accordance with United States generally accepted accounting principles.  The audit committee reviewed and discussed with management and the
independent auditors the audited consolidated financial statements for fiscal year 2012.
 

In fulfilling its responsibilities, the audit committee discussed with the independent auditors the matters that are required to be discussed by Statement on Auditing
Standards No. 61, as amended, Communication with Audit Committees.  In addition, the audit committee received from the independent auditors the written disclosures and
letter required by applicable requirements of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board regarding the independent auditor's communications with the audit committee
concerning independence, and the audit committee discussed with the independent auditors that firm’s independence.  In connection with this discussion, the audit committee
also considered whether the provision of services by the independent auditors not related to the audit of the Company’s financial statements for fiscal year 2012 were
compatible with maintaining the independent auditors’ independence.  The audit committee’s policy requires that the audit committee approve any audit or permitted non-audit
service proposed to be performed by its independent auditors in advance of the performance of such service.
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Based upon the audit committee’s discussions with management and the independent auditors and the audit committee's review of the representations of management

and the written disclosures and letter of the independent auditors provided to the audit committee, the audit committee recommended to the board of directors that the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2012 be included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, for filing with the SEC.

 
 The Audit Committee
  
 Kevin A. Richardson, II (Chair)
 John F. Nemelka
  
  
 March 12, 2013
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PART IV

 
Item 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
 
 
1. All financial statements
 

The following financial statements are included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and incorporated herein by reference:

 Page  
Consolidated Financial Statements    
    
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm  F-1  
    
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2012 and 2011  F-2  
    
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011  F-3  
    
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Deficit for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011  F-4  
    
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011  F-5  
    
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  F-6  

 
2. Financial statement schedules
 
                No schedules are required because either the required information is not present or is not present in amounts sufficient to require submission of the schedule, or
because the information required is included in the consolidated financial statements or the notes thereto.
 
3. Exhibits
   

The exhibits listed on the accompanying Exhibit Index are furnished or filed and, as applicable, are incorporated by reference herein as part of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K.
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SIGNATURES

 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this Annual Report on Form 10-K to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned hereunto duly authorized.
 
 
  SANUWAVE HEALTH, INC.  
    
    
    
Dated: March 26, 2013  By:  /s/ Joseph Chiarelli  

  Name: Joseph Chiarelli  
  Title:   Chief Executive Officer  
 
 
                Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the
capacities and on the dates indicated:
 

Signatures  Capacity  Date
      
By: /s/ Joseph Chiarelli  Chief Executive Officer and Director  March 26, 2013
Name:  Joseph Chiarelli  (principal executive officer)   
      
By: /s/ Barry J. Jenkins  Chief Financial Officer and COO  March 26, 2013
Name:  Barry J. Jenkins  (principal financial and accounting officer)   
      
By: /s/ Kevin A. Richardson, II  Chairman of the Board of Directors  March 26, 2013
Name:  Kevin A. Richardson, II     
      
By: /s/ John F. Nemelka  Director  March 26, 2013
Name:  John F. Nemelka     
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
 

 
Board of Directors and Stockholders
SANUWAVE Health, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Alpharetta, Georgia
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of SANUWAVE Health, Inc. and Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2012 and 2011 and the related consolidated
statements of comprehensive loss, stockholders’ deficit, and cash flows for the years then ended.  These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s
management.  Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.
 
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).  Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.  The Company is not required to have, nor were we
engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting.  Our audits included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting.  Accordingly, we express no such opinion.  An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation.  We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of SANUWAVE Health, Inc. and Subsidiaries
at December 31, 2012 and 2011, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America.
 
The accompanying financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going concern.  As discussed in Note (1) to the financial statements,
the Company has suffered recurring losses from operations, has a net working capital deficit, and is economically dependent upon future issuances of equity or other financing
to fund ongoing operations, each of which raise substantial doubt about its ability to continue as a going concern.  Management’s plans in regard to these matters are described
in Note (1).  The financial statements do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty.
 
/s/ BDO USA, LLP
 
Atlanta, Georgia
March 26, 2013
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SANUWAVE HEALTH, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31, 2012 and 2011
 

  2012   2011  
ASSETS       

CURRENT ASSETS       
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 70,325  $ 3,909,383 
Accounts receivable - trade, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $44,124 in 2012 and $74,852 in 2011   87,826   81,565 
Inventory (Note 3)   292,665   396,284 
Prepaid expenses   128,495   162,975 
Due from Pulse Veterinary Technologies, LLC   -   27,837 
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS   579,311   4,578,044 

         
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, at cost, less accumulated depreciation (Note 4)   32,842   51,206 
         
OTHER ASSETS   11,358   3,192 
         
INTANGIBLE ASSETS, at cost, less accumulated amortization (Note 5)   1,227,025   1,533,782 

TOTAL ASSETS  $ 1,850,536  $ 6,166,224 

         
LIABILITIES         

CURRENT LIABILITIES         
Accounts payable  $ 555,898  $ 756,657 
Accrued employee compensation   534,659   632,333 
Accrued expenses (Note 6)   721,916   190,583 
Subscriptions payable for senior secured convertible promissory notes (Note 7)   438,516   - 
Interest payable, related parties (Note 8)   81,864   81,864 
Capital lease payable, current portion (Note 13)   4,933   4,576 
Liabilities related to discontinued operations (Note 9)   655,061   655,061 
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES   2,992,847   2,321,074 

         
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES         

Notes payable, related parties (Note 8)   5,372,743   5,372,743 
Capital lease payable, non-current portion (Note 13)   3,951   8,884 
TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES   5,376,694   5,381,627 
TOTAL LIABILITIES   8,369,541   7,702,701 

         
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Note 13)   -   - 
         

STOCKHOLDERS' DEFICIT         
PREFERRED STOCK, par value $0.001, 5,000,000 shares authorized; no shares issued and outstanding (Note 11)   -   - 
         
COMMON STOCK, par value $0.001, 150,000,000 shares and 50,000,000 shares authorized in 2012 and 2011,

respectively; 21,007,536 and 20,907,536 issued and outstanding at December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively (Note 11)   21,008   20,908 
         
ADDITIONAL PAID-IN CAPITAL   64,357,193   62,940,977 
         
ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME   13,116   10,466 
         
ACCUMULATED DEFICIT   (70,910,322)   (64,508,828)

TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS' DEFICIT   (6,519,005)   (1,536,477)
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' DEFICIT  $ 1,850,536  $ 6,166,224 

 
 The accompanying notes to consolidated financial

 statements are an integral part of these statements.
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SANUWAVE HEALTH, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

Years Ended December 31, 2012 and 2011
 

  2012   2011  
       
REVENUES  $ 769,217  $ 802,572 
         
COST OF REVENUES   220,257   261,890 
         

GROSS PROFIT   548,960   540,682 
         
OPERATING EXPENSES         

Research and development   1,762,194   2,731,059 
General and administrative   4,521,957   6,292,950 
Depreciation   20,375   19,034 
Amortization   306,757   306,756 

TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES   6,611,283   9,349,799 
         

OPERATING LOSS   (6,062,323)   (8,809,117)
         
OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE)         

Interest expense, net   (331,743)   (472,155)
Loss on foreign currency exchange   (7,428)   (13,744)
Transitional services provided to Pulse Veterinary Technologies, LLC   -   375,000 
Loss on extinguishment of debt (Notes 8 and 11)   -   (1,318,781)

TOTAL OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE)   (339,171)   (1,429,680)
         

LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAXES   (6,401,494)   (10,238,797)
         
INCOME TAX EXPENSE   -   - 
         

NET LOSS   (6,401,494)   (10,238,797)
         
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS         

Foreign currency translation adjustments   2,650   (436)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS  $ (6,398,844)  $ (10,239,233)

         
LOSS PER SHARE:         

Net loss - basic  $ (0.30)  $ (0.52)

Net loss - diluted  $ (0.30)  $ (0.52)

         
Weighted average shares outstanding - basic   20,915,869   19,624,061 

Weighted average shares outstanding - diluted   20,915,869   19,624,061 

 
 The accompanying notes to consolidated financial

 statements are an integral part of these statements.
 

 
F-3

EDGAR Stream is a copyright of Issuer Direct Corporation, all rights reserved.



 
 

SANUWAVE HEALTH, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' DEFICIT

Years Ended December 31, 2012 and 2011
 

  Preferred Stock   Common Stock              

  

Shares
Number of
Issued and
Outstanding   Par Value   

Number of
Shares

Issued and
Outstanding   Par Value   

Additional
Paid-

in Capital   
Accumulated

Deficit   

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)   Total  

                         
Balances as of December 31, 2010   -   -   14,794,650   14,795   43,728,133   (54,270,031)   10,902   (10,516,201)

Unit options exercised for cash, related
parties   -   -   1,231,504   1,231   2,461,777   -   -   2,463,008 
Unit options exercised for cash   -   -   718,663   719   1,436,607   -   -   1,437,326 
Private placement shares issued for
cash   -   -   2,804,593   2,805   8,464,316   -   -   8,467,121 
Notes payable, related parties
exchanged for shares   -   -   1,358,126   1,358   5,731,331   -   -   5,732,689 
Net loss   -   -   -   -   -   (10,238,797)   -   (10,238,797)
Stock-based compensation   -   -   -   -   1,118,813   -   -   1,118,813 
Foreign currency translation
adjustment   -   -   -   -   -   -   (436)   (436)

                                 
Balances as of December 31, 2011   -   -   20,907,536   20,908   62,940,977   (64,508,828)   10,466   (1,536,477)

Shares issued for cash   -   -   100,000   100   24,900   -   -   25,000 
Net loss   -   -   -   -   -   (6,401,494)   -   (6,401,494)
Stock-based compensation   -   -   -   -   1,391,316   -   -   1,391,316 
Foreign currency translation
adjustment   -   -   -   -   -   -   2,650   2,650 

                                 
Balances as of December 31, 2012   -  $ -   21,007,536  $ 21,008  $ 64,357,193  $ (70,910,322)  $ 13,116  $ (6,519,005)

 
 The accompanying notes to consolidated financial

 statements are an integral part of these statements.
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SANUWAVE HEALTH, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years Ended December 31, 2012 and 2011
 
  2012   2011  
       
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES       
Net loss  $ (6,401,494)  $ (10,238,797)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used by operating activities         

Amortization   306,757   306,756 
Depreciation   20,375   19,034 
Change in allowance for doubtful accounts   (30,728)   37,949 
Stock-based compensation   1,391,316   1,118,813 
Accrued interest on convertible notes   8,516   166,618 
Loss on extinguishment of debt   -   1,318,781 
Changes in assets - (increase)/decrease         

Accounts receivable - trade   24,467   (23,965)
Inventory   103,619   67,359 
Prepaid expenses   34,480   (41,891)
Due from Pulse Veterinary Technologies, LLC   27,837   17,552 
Other   (8,166)   29,061 

Changes in liabilities - increase/(decrease)         
Accounts payable   (200,759)   (1,073,158)
Accrued employee compensation   (97,674)   (469,077)
Accrued expenses   531,333   (65,621)
Interest payable, related parties   -   (1,113)

NET CASH USED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES   (4,290,121)   (8,831,699)
         
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES         

Purchase of property and equipment   (2,011)   (42,302)
NET CASH USED BY INVESTING ACTIVITIES   (2,011)   (42,302)

         
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES         

Proceeds from subscriptions payable for senior secured convertible promissory notes   430,000   - 
Proceeds from sale of capital stock - subscription agreement with related party   25,000   - 
Payments of principal on capital lease   (4,576)   (1,092)
Proceeds from unit options exercised, related parties   -   2,463,008 
Proceeds from unit options exercised   -   1,437,326 
Proceeds from private placement   -   8,467,121 
NET CASH PROVIDED BY FINANCING ACTIVITIES   450,424   12,366,363 

         
EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATES ON CASH   2,650   (436)
         

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS   (3,839,058)   3,491,926 
         
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR   3,909,383   417,457 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR  $ 70,325  $ 3,909,383 

         
SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION         

Cash paid for interest, related parties  $ 324,768  $ 324,768 

Cash paid for capital lease interest  $ 858  $ 266 

NON-CASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES         
Notes payable, related parties exchanged for capital stock (Note 8 and 11)  $ -  $ 4,413,908 
Equipment purchased with capital lease   -   14,552 
TOTAL NON-CASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES  $ -  $ 4,428,460 

 
 The accompanying notes to consolidated financial

 statements are an integral part of these statements.
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SANUWAVE HEALTH, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Years Ended December 31, 2012 and 2011
 
 (1)           Going Concern

As shown in the accompanying consolidated financial statements, the Company incurred a net loss of $6,401,494 and $10,238,797 during the years ended
December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively, and the net cash used by operating activities was $4,290,121 and $8,831,699, respectively.  As of December 31, 2012, the
Company had a net working capital deficit of $2,413,536, an accumulated deficit of $70,910,322 and cash and cash equivalents of $70,325.  The operating losses and
net working capital deficit create an uncertainty about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The continuation of the Company’s business is dependent upon raising additional capital.  The Company has been working with select accredited investors to
raise capital through issuing senior secured convertible promissory notes as discussed in Note (17).  The Company received subscriptions for an aggregate $430,000
through December 31, 2012.  Subsequent to year-end, the Company received subscriptions for an additional $1,570,000 in senior secured convertible promissory
notes.  The Company issued the aggregate $2,000,000 of senior secured convertible promissory notes on March 8, 2013.  Kevin A. Richardson, II, chairman of the
board of directors of the Company, purchased $60,000 of the senior secured convertible promissory notes.  Management’s plans are to obtain additional capital in 2013
through the issuance of common stock and/or other equities and has engaged an investment bank to assist with this capital raise.

 
 Additionally, the Company may raise additional capital through the issuance of common or preferred stock, securities convertible into common stock, or

secured or unsecured debt, an investment by a strategic partner in a specific clinical indication or market opportunity, or by selling all or a portion of the Company's
assets.  If these efforts are unsuccessful, the Company may be forced to seek relief through a filing under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code.   These possibilities, to the extent
available, may be on terms that result in significant dilution to the Company’s existing shareholders.  Although no assurances can be given, management of the
Company believes that potential additional issuances of equity or other potential financing transactions as discussed above should provide the necessary funding for the
Company to continue as a going concern.  The consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments that might be necessary if the Company is unable to
continue as a going concern.

(2)           Summary of significant accounting policies

Description of the business – SANUWAVE Health, Inc. and subsidiaries (the "Company") is a shockwave technology company using noninvasive, high energy,
acoustic shockwave for regenerative medicine and other applications.  The Company’s initial focus is regenerative medicine – utilizing noninvasive, acoustic
shockwaves to solicit a biological response resulting in the body healing itself through the repair and regeneration of tissue, musculoskeletal and vascular
structures.  The Company’s lead product is the demaPACE device for treating diabetic foot ulcers which is in a supplemental Phase III clinical study with the FDA.
 

The Company’s portfolio of healthcare products and product candidates activate biologic signaling and angiogenic responses, including new vascularization and
microcirculatory improvement, helping to restore the body’s normal healing processes and regeneration.  The Company intends to apply its Pulsed Acoustic Cellular
Expression (PACE®) technology in wound healing, orthopedic, plastic/cosmetic and cardiac conditions.  The Company currently does not market any commercial
products in the United States.  Revenues are from sales of the European Conformity Marking (“CE Mark”) devices and accessories in Europe, Canada and Asia.

 
In addition, there are license/partnership opportunities for the Company's shock wave technology in non-medical uses, including energy, water,

food and industrial markets.
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SANUWAVE HEALTH, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Years Ended December 31, 2012 and 2011
 

(2)           Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

The significant accounting policies followed by the Company are summarized below:

Foreign currency translation - The functional currencies of the Company’s foreign operations are the local currencies.  The financial statements of the
Company’s foreign subsidiaries have been translated into United States dollars in accordance with ASC 830, Foreign Currency Matters  (formerly SFAS No. 52, Foreign
Currency Translation.)  All balance sheet accounts have been translated using the exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date.  Income statement amounts
have been translated using the average exchange rate for the year.  Translation adjustments are reported in other comprehensive income in the consolidated
statements of comprehensive loss and as cumulative translation adjustments as a separate component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) in the
consolidated statements of stockholders’ deficit.

Principles of consolidation - The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries.  All significant
intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated.

Estimates – These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of
America.  Because a precise determination of assets and liabilities, and correspondingly revenues and expenses, depend on future events, the preparation of
consolidated financial statements for any period necessarily involves the use of estimates and assumptions.  Actual amounts may differ from these estimates.  These
consolidated financial statements have, in management’s opinion, been properly prepared within reasonable limits of materiality and within the framework of the
accounting policies summarized herein.  Significant estimates include the recording of allowances for doubtful accounts, estimated reserves for inventory, estimated
useful life of property and equipment, accrued expenses, the determination of the valuation allowances for deferred taxes, estimated fair value of stock-based
compensation, estimated fair value of intangible assets, the estimated fair value assigned to the capital stock units exchanged for the promissory notes and the
estimated fair value assigned to the common stock and warrants exchanged for the notes payable, related parties.

Cash and cash equivalents  - For purposes of the consolidated financial statements, liquid instruments with an original maturity of 90 days or less are
considered cash and cash equivalents.  The Company maintains its cash in bank accounts which may exceed federally insured limits.

Concentration of credit risk and limited suppliers  - Management routinely assesses the financial strength of its customers and, as a consequence, believes
accounts receivable are stated at the net realizable value and credit risk exposure is limited. Two distributors accounted for 29% and 20% of revenues for the year
ended December 31, 2012, and 35% and 25% of revenues for the year ended December 31, 2011.  The two distributors accounted for 35% and 6% of accounts
receivable at December 31, 2012, and 23% and 29% of accounts receivable at December 31, 2011.
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SANUWAVE HEALTH, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Years Ended December 31, 2012 and 2011
 

(2)           Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

We depend on suppliers for product component materials and other components that are subject to stringent regulatory requirements.  We currently purchase
most of our product component materials from single suppliers and the loss of any of these suppliers could result in a disruption in our production.  If this were to occur,
it may be difficult to arrange a replacement supplier because certain of these materials may only be available from one or a limited number of sources.  In addition,
establishing additional or replacement suppliers for these materials may take a substantial period of time, as certain of these suppliers must be approved by regulatory
authorities.

Accounts receivable  - Accounts receivable are stated at the amount management expects to collect from outstanding balances.  Management provides for
probable uncollectible amounts through a charge to earnings based on its assessment of the current status of individual accounts. Receivables are generally
considered past due if greater than 60 days old.  Balances that are still outstanding after management has used reasonable collection efforts are written off through a
charge to the allowance for doubtful accounts.

Inventory - Inventory consists of finished medical equipment and parts and is stated at the lower of cost or market, which is valued using the first in, first out
(“FIFO”) method.  Market is based upon realizable value less allowance for selling and distribution expenses. The Company analyzes its inventory levels and writes
down inventory that has, or is expected to, become obsolete.

Depreciation of property and equipment  - The straight-line method of depreciation is used for computing depreciation on property and
equipment.  Depreciation is based on estimated useful lives as follows: machines and equipment, 3 years; office and computer equipment, 3 years; leasehold
improvements, 3 years; furniture and fixtures, 3 years; vehicles, 3 years; and software, 2 years.

Intangible assets - Intangible assets subject to amortization consist of patents which are recorded at cost.  Patents are amortized on a straight-line basis over
the average life of 11.4 years.  The Company regularly reviews intangible assets to determine if facts and circumstances indicate that the useful life is shorter than the
Company originally estimated or that the carrying amount of the assets may not be recoverable.  Factors the Company considers important and could trigger an
impairment review include the following:

 
•    Significant delays or obstacles encountered in the dermaPACE device clinical trial and PMA application;

 
•    Significant changes in the manner in which we use our assets or significant changes in our overall business strategy; and

 
•    Significant underperformance of our assets relative to future operating results.

  
If such facts and circumstances exist, the Company assesses the recoverability of the intangible assets by comparing the projected undiscounted net cash

flows associated with the related asset or group of assets over their remaining lives against their respective carrying amounts. If recognition of an impairment charge is
necessary, it is measured as the amount by which the carrying amount of the intangible asset exceeds its fair value.

 
Fair value of financial instruments - The book values of accounts receivable, accounts  payable, and other financial instruments approximate their fair values,

principally because of the short-term maturities of these instruments.
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SANUWAVE HEALTH, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Years Ended December 31, 2012 and 2011
 

(2)           Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
 

The Company has adopted ASC 820-10, Fair Value Measurements (formerly SFAS No. 157), which defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring
fair value hierarchy for assets and liabilities measured at fair value, and requires expanded disclosures about fair value measurements. The ASC 820-10 hierarchy
ranks the quality and reliability of inputs, or assumptions, used in the determination of fair value and requires financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value to be
classified and disclosed in one of the following three categories:

 
Level 1 - Observable inputs that reflect quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets and liabilities;
 
Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and
 
Level 3 - Unobservable inputs that are not corroborated by market data, therefore requiring the Company to develop its own assumptions.
 
The Company’s notes payable, related parties consist of $5,372,743 of principal at December 31, 2012 and 2011.  Interest accrues on the notes at a rate of six

percent (6%) per annum. The fair value was determined using estimated future cash flows discounted at current rates, which is a Level 3 measurement. The estimated
fair value of the Company’s notes payable, related parties was $4,545,620 and $4,253,362 at December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

 
The Company’s subscriptions payable for the 18% senior secured convertible promissory notes consist of $438,516 in principal and accrued interest at

December 31, 2012.  Because of the short term nature of the subscription agreements and the underlying notes which have a maturity of six months and are not traded
on an active market, the fair value is estimated to approximate the book value at December 31, 2012.

Impairment of long-lived assets – The Company reviews long-lived assets for impairment whenever facts and circumstances indicate that the carrying
amounts of the assets may not be recoverable.  An impairment loss is recognized only if the carrying amount of the asset is not recoverable and exceeds its fair
value.  Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by comparing the carrying amount of an asset to the estimated undiscounted future cash flows
expected to be generated by the asset.  If the asset’s carrying value is not recoverable, an impairment charge is recognized for the amount by which the carrying
amount of the asset exceeds its fair value.  The Company determines fair value by using a combination of comparable market values and discounted cash flows, as
appropriate.

Revenue recognition - Sales of medical devices, including related applicators and applicator kits, are recognized when shipped to the customer.  Shipments
under agreements with distributors are invoiced at a fixed price, are not subject to return, and payment for these shipments is not contingent on sales by the
distributor.  The Company recognizes revenue on shipments to distributors in the same manner as with other customers.  Fees from services performed are recognized
when the service is performed.

Shipping and handling costs  - Shipping charges billed to customers are included in revenue. Shipping and handling costs have been recorded in cost of
revenues.
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SANUWAVE HEALTH, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Years Ended December 31, 2012 and 2011
 

(2)           Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
 

Income taxes - Income taxes are accounted for utilizing the asset and liability method prescribed by the provisions of  ASC 740, Income Taxes (formerly SFAS
No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes).  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on differences between the financial reporting and tax basis of assets
and liabilities and are measured using the enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse.  A valuation allowance is
provided for the deferred tax assets, including loss carryforwards, when it is more likely than not that some portion or all of a deferred tax asset will not be realized.

 
A provision of ASC 740, Income Taxes (formerly FASB Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes (FIN 48)) specifies the way public

companies are to account for uncertainties in income tax reporting, and prescribes a methodology for recognizing, reversing, and measuring the tax benefits of a tax
position taken, or expected to be taken, in a tax return.  ASC 740 requires the evaluation of tax positions taken or expected to be taken in the course of preparing the
Company’s tax returns to determine whether the tax positions would “more-likely-than-not” be sustained if challenged by the applicable tax authority.  Tax positions not
deemed to meet the more-likely-than-not threshold would be recorded as a tax benefit or expense in the current year.

The Company will recognize in income tax expense interest and penalties related to income tax matters.  For the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011,
the Company did not have any amounts recorded for interest and penalties.

Loss per share  - The Company calculates net income (loss) per share in accordance with ASC 260,  Earnings Per Share  (formerly SFAS No. 128, Earnings Per
Share).  Under the provisions of ASC 260, basic net income (loss) per share is computed by dividing the net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders for the
period by the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding for the period.  Diluted net income (loss) per share is computed by dividing the net
income (loss) attributable to common stockholders by the weighted average number of shares of common stock and dilutive common stock equivalents then
outstanding. To the extent that securities are “anti-dilutive,” they are excluded from the calculation of diluted net income (loss) per share.  As a result of the net loss for
the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively, all potentially dilutive shares were anti-dilutive and therefore excluded from the computation of diluted net
loss per share.  The anti-dilutive equity securities totaled 15,162,069 shares and 14,390,697 shares at December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

Comprehensive income – ASC 220, Comprehensive Income (formerly SFAS No. 130, Reporting Comprehensive Income) establishes standards for reporting
comprehensive income (loss) and its components in a financial statement.  Comprehensive income (loss) as defined includes all changes in equity (net assets) during a
period from non-owner sources.  The only source of other comprehensive income (loss) for the Company, which is excluded from net income (loss), is foreign currency
translation adjustments.

Stock-based compensation  - The Company uses the fair value method of accounting prescribed by ASC 718, Compensation – Stock Compensation (formerly
SFAS No. 123(R), Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation) for its employee stock option program.  Under ASC 718, stock-based compensation cost is measured at
the grant date based on the fair value of the award and is recognized as expense over the applicable vesting period of the stock award (generally up to four years).
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SANUWAVE HEALTH, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Years Ended December 31, 2012 and 2011
 

(2)           Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Research and development  - Research and development costs are expensed as incurred.  Research and development costs include payments to third parties
that specifically relate to the Company’s products in clinical development, such as payments to contract research organizations, clinical investigators, clinical related
consultants and insurance premiums for clinical studies.  In addition, employee costs (salaries, payroll taxes, benefits and travel) for employees of the regulatory affairs,
clinical affairs, quality assurance, quality control, and research and development departments are classified as research and development costs.

Recent pronouncements – There have been no recently issued accounting standards that are expected to have a material impact on our consolidated
financial statements.

 (3)           Inventory

Inventory consists of the following at December 31, 2012 and 2011:
 

  2012   2011  
       
Inventory - finished goods  $ 306,706  $ 412,291 
Inventory - parts   83,509   113,593 

Gross inventory   390,215   525,884 
Provision for losses and obsolescence   (97,550)   (129,600)

Net inventory  $ 292,665  $ 396,284 

 

 (4)           Property and equipment

Property and equipment consists of the following at December 31, 2012 and 2011:
 

  2012   2011  
       

Machines and equipment  $ 233,793   $ 232,848  
Office and computer equipment   179,349    224,600  
Software   41,872    41,872  
Furniture and fixtures   25,679    24,613  
Vehicles   22,531    22,531  
Leasehold improvements   -    67,421  
Other assets   2,446    2,378  

Total   505,670    616,263  
Accumulated depreciation   (472,828 )   (565,057 )

Net property and equipment  $ 32,842   $ 51,206  

 
The depreciation charged to operations was $20,375 and $19,034 for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.  The depreciation policies

followed by the Company are described in Note (2).
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(5)           Intangible assets

Intangible assets consist of the following at December 31, 2012 and 2011:
 

  2012   2011  
       
Patents, at cost  $ 3,502,135  $ 3,502,135 
Less accumulated amortization   (2,275,110)   (1,968,353)

Net intangible assets  $ 1,227,025  $ 1,533,782 

 
The amortization expense charged to operations was $306,757 and $306,756 for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.  The

amortization policies followed by the Company are described in Note (2).

Amortization expense for the future years is summarized as follows:
 
Years ending December 31,  Amount  
    

2013  $ 306,756 
2014   306,756 
2015   306,756 
2016   306,757 

Total  $ 1,227,025 

 
The weighted average amortization period for intangible assets is as follows:
 

  Amount   

Weighted
 Average
 Period
 (Years)  

       
Patents  $ 3,502,135   11.4 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Years Ended December 31, 2012 and 2011
 

(6)           Accrued expenses

Accrued expenses consist of the following at December 31, 2012 and 2011:
 

  2012   2011  
       
Accrued executive severance  $ 542,269  $ - 
Accrued audit and tax preparation   102,600   75,516 
Accrued legal professional fees   23,519   61,000 
Accrued other   53,528   54,067 
  $ 721,916  $ 190,583 

 
On November 6, 2012, the Company entered into a Severance and Advisory Agreement (the “Severance Agreement”) with Christopher M. Cashman in

connection with his resignation as President and Chief Executive Officer, and a director of the Company.  Pursuant to the Severance Agreement, Mr. Cashman will
receive, as severance along with other non-cash items, six months of his base salary payable over the following six month period and bonus payments of $100,000
upon each of four bonus payment events tied to the Company’s clinical trial plan for the dermaPACE device, or December 31, 2016, whichever occurs first.  The
accrued executive severance at December 31, 2012 represents the unpaid portion of the base salary and bonus payments.

 (7)           Subscriptions payable for senior secured convertible promissory notes
 

During the year ended December 31, 2012, the Company entered subscriptions payable for 18% senior secured convertible promissory notes (the “Senior
Secured Notes”) from selected accredited investors.  Up to $2,000,000 aggregate principal amount of Senior Secured Notes are being offered (the “Offering”) by the
Company.  The Company completed the Offering and issued an aggregate $2,000,000 in notes on March 8, 2013.

 
The Senior Secured Notes have a six month term from the subscription date and the note holders can convert into Company common stock at anytime during

the term at $0.20 per share.  Upon the consummation of a qualified financing and/or technology license, as defined in the Senior Secured Note agreements, of
$4,000,000 or more by the Company, the principal and interest on the Senior Secured Notes will convert into Company common stock equal to the lower of (i) the
Company common stock issued in the qualified financing and/or technology license, reduced by a discount of 20%, and (ii) $0.20 per share. The note holders will also
receive, if any are issued, warrants or any other security issued in a qualified financing and/or technology license on similar terms to the qualified financing and/or
technology license.  The Senior Secured Notes are secured by the tangible and intangible assets of the Company.  The Company is in the process of evaluating the
accounting treatment for these notes issued subsequent to December 31, 2012 and any potential embedded derivatives included therein.

 
As of December 31, 2012, the Company had received subscriptions payable for Senior Secured Notes in the aggregate principal amount of $430,000 and had

accrued interest expense of $8,516.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Years Ended December 31, 2012 and 2011
 
(8)           Notes payable, related parties

The notes payable, related parties consist of the following at December 31, 2012 and 2011:
 

  2012   2011  
       
Notes payable, unsecured, payable to HealthTronics, Inc., a shareholder of the Company  $ 5,372,743  $ 5,372,743 

Less current portion   -   - 
Non-current portion  $ 5,372,743  $ 5,372,743 

 
The notes payable, related parties were issued in conjunction with the Company’s purchase of the orthopedic division of HealthTronics, Inc. on August 1,

2005.  The notes payable, related parties bear interest at 6% per annum.  Quarterly interest through June 30, 2010, was accrued and added to the principal
balance.  Interest is paid quarterly in arrears beginning September 30, 2010.  All remaining unpaid accrued interest and principal is due August 1, 2015.  Accrued
interest currently payable totaled $81,864 at December 31, 2012 and 2011.  Accrued interest not payable until August 1, 2015 totaled $1,372,743 at December 31,
2012 and 2011, and is included in the balance above.

 
Maturities on notes payable, related parties are as follows:

 
Years ending December 31,  Amount  
    

2013  $ - 
2014   - 
2015   5,372,743 

Total  $ 5,372,743 

 
On April 4, 2011, the Company amended the terms of outstanding notes with Prides Capital Fund I, LP and NightWatch Capital Partners II, LP such that the

unpaid principal and interest balance on the notes, totaling $4,413,908, was cancelled in consideration of the issuance of 1,358,126 shares of common stock of the
Company.  In addition, the Company, in connection with this transaction, issued to the noteholders warrants to purchase an aggregate of 679,064 shares of common
stock at an exercise price of $4.00 per share.  In accordance with ASC 470, “Debt”, in April 2011, the Company recorded a loss from extinguishment of debt of
$1,318,781, which was the difference between the estimated fair value of the common stock and warrants on the date of exchange of $9,330,326 and the fair value of
the notes (assuming the conversion feature was exercised by the noteholders) of $8,011,545.

Interest expense on notes payable, related parties totaled $324,768 and $490,273 for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.
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(9)           Discontinued operations

As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, the Company’s liabilities related to discontinued operations were as follows:
 

  2012   2011  
       
Accrued expenses  $ (655,061)  $ (655,061)
         
Liabilities of discontinued operations  $ (655,061)  $ (655,061)

(10)         Income taxes

The Company files income tax returns in the United States federal jurisdiction and various state and foreign jurisdictions.  The Company is no longer subject to
United States federal and state and non-United States income tax examinations by tax authorities for years before 2006.

Deferred income taxes are provided for temporary differences between the carrying amounts and tax basis of assets and liabilities.  Deferred taxes are
classified as current or noncurrent based on the financial statement classification of the related asset or liability giving rise to the temporary difference.  For those
deferred tax assets or liabilities (such as the tax effect of the net operating loss carryforwards) which do not relate to a financial statement asset or liability, the
classification is based on the expected reversal date of the temporary difference.

The income tax provision (benefit) consists of the following at December 31, 2012 and 2011:
 

  2012   2011  
Current:       

Federal  $ -  $ - 
State   -   - 
Foreign   -   - 

   -   - 
Deferred:         

Federal   (2,126,006)   (2,885,054)
State   (227,883)   (332,175)
Foreign   12,556   52,136 
Change in valuation allowance   2,341,333   3,165,093 

  $ -  $ - 
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SANUWAVE HEALTH, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Years Ended December 31, 2012 and 2011
                      
(10)         Income taxes (continued)

The income tax provision (benefit) amounts differ from the amounts computed by applying the United States federal statutory income tax rate of 34% to pretax
income (loss) as a result of the following for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011:

 
  2012   2011  
       
Tax expense (benefit) at statutory rate  $ (2,176,508)  $ (3,583,579)
Increase (reduction) in income taxes resulting from:         

State income taxes (benefit), net of federal benefit   (159,432)   (248,639)
Income from foreign subsidiaries   165,660   461,573 
Non-deductible loss on extinguishment of debt   -   216,969 
Change in valuation allowance - United States   2,301,986   3,217,229 
Other   (131,706)   (63,553)

Income tax expense (benefit)  $ -  $ - 

 
The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to the deferred tax assets at December 31, 2012 and 2011 are as follows:

 
  2012   2011  
Deferred tax assets:       

Net operating loss carryforwards  $ 20,147,348  $ 18,458,402 
Net operating loss carryforwards - foreign   148,674   109,327 
Excess of tax basis over book value of property and equipment   42,946   63,785 
Excess of tax basis over book value of intangible assets   431,513   427,484 
Stock-based compensation   3,097,308   2,572,287 
Accrued employee compensation   352,032   235,109 
Captialized equity costs   75,471   75,471 
Inventory reserve   36,811   48,905 

   24,332,103   21,990,770 
Valuation allowance   (24,332,103)   (21,990,770)

Net deferred tax assets  $ -  $ - 

The Company’s ability to use its net operating loss carryforwards could be limited and subject to annual limitations.  In connection with future offerings, the Company
may realize a “more than 50% change in ownership” which could further limit its ability to use its net operating loss carryforwards accumulated to date to reduce future
taxable income and tax liabilities.  Additionally, because United States tax laws limit the time during which net operating loss carryforwards may be applied against
future taxable income and tax liabilities, the Company may not be able to take advantage of all or portions of its net operating loss carryforwards for federal income tax
purposes.
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SANUWAVE HEALTH, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Years Ended December 31, 2012 and 2011
(10)         Income taxes (continued)

The federal net operating loss carryforwards at December 31, 2012 will expire as follows:
 

Years ending December 31,  Amount  
    

2025  $ 1,376,740 
2026   7,291,084 
2027   12,280,771 
2028   6,922,963 
2029   4,816,700 
2030   7,667,557 
2031   8,816,976 
2032   4,844,424 

Total  $ 54,017,215 

 
 (11)        Equity Transactions

Private placement and note exchange

On April 8, 2011, the Company completed a private placement to 28 institutional and individual “accredited investors” (as that term is defined in the Rule 501
under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”)) of 2,804,593 shares of common stock of the Company at a purchase price of $3.25 per share, for
gross proceeds of $9,114,927. The net proceeds received by the Company were $8,467,121, net of offering costs of $647,806. As part of the private placement, the
investors were issued five-year warrants to purchase up to 2,804,593 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $4.00 per share.  In addition, the placement agent
for the private placement was issued a five-year warrant to purchase 93,080 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $4.00 per share.  The warrants vested
upon issuance and expire after five years.

For each of the warrants, the holder will be able to exercise the warrant on a so-called cashless basis at any time following the one-year anniversary of the
closing of the private placement if a registration statement covering the shares of common stock underlying such warrants is not effective. The Company filed a
registration statement with respect to the resale of the shares of common stock sold to the investors and shares of common stock issuable upon exercise ofthe
warrants with the SEC and kept the registration statement effective until all registrable securities were sold or may be sold pursuant to Rule 144 under the Securities
Act.  The registration statement is no longer effective as the shares have been held for over one year and the Company believes that the shares may be sold pursuant
to Rule 144 under the Securities Act.
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 (11)        Equity Transactions (continued)

On April 4, 2011, Prides Capital Fund I, LP and NightWatch Capital Partners II, LP (the “Noteholders”), holders of certain notes payable (the “Notes”) and
related parties of the Company, exchanged the unpaid principal and interest balance of the Notes, which totaled $4,413,908, in consideration for the issuance of
1,358,126 shares of common stock.  In connection with this transaction, the Company issued to the Noteholders warrants to purchase an aggregate of 679,064 shares
of common stock at an exercise price of $4.00 per share.  Each warrant represents the right to purchase one share of common stock.  The warrants vested upon
issuance and expire after five years.  In accordance with ASC 470, “Debt”, in April 2011, the Company recorded a loss from extinguishment of debt of $1,318,781,
which was the difference between the estimated fair value of the common stock and warrants on the date of exchange of $9,330,326 and the fair value of the Notes
(assuming the conversion feature was exercised by the Noteholders) of $8,011,545.

Unit options

During the year ended December 31, 2010, the Company sold “Units” to select accredited investors which consisted of: (i) one share of common stock; (ii) a
two-year common stock purchase warrant (the “Class D Warrant”) to purchase one share of common stock, at an exercise price of $2.00; and (iii) an option (the
“Option”), which, as amended, expired on January 31, 2011, to purchase the same number of Units as granted pursuant to this transaction, at the purchase price of
$2.00 per Unit.

Between January 1 and January 31, 2011, Option holders exercised 1,950,167 Options for total gross proceeds of $3,900,334 to the Company.  In connection with the
exercise of Options in January 2011, the Company issued 1,950,167 shares of common stock and 1,950,167 Class D Warrants.  The Option holders included the
chairman of the board of directors of the Company who exercised 545,252 Options and the brother of a member of the board of directors of the Company who
exercised 686,252 Options. The 132,500 Options that remained unexercised at January 31, 2011 expired by their terms.

Preferred stock

The Company’s preferred stock may have such rights, preferences and designations and may be issued in such series as determined by the board of
directors.  No shares were issued and outstanding at December 31, 2012 and 2011.
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(12)         Warrants

A summary of warrants as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, and the changes during the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, is presented as follows:
 

  
Class A

Warrants   
Class B

Warrants   
Class D

Warrants   
Class E

Warrants  
Outstanding as of December 31, 2010   1,106,627   1,106,627   2,284,993   - 
Issued   -   -   1,950,167   3,576,737 
Exercised   -   -   -   - 
Expired   -   -   -   - 
Outstanding as of December 31, 2011   1,106,627   1,106,627   4,235,160   3,576,737 
Issued   -   -   -   - 
Exercised   -   -   -   - 
Expired   -   -   (2,284,993)   - 
Outstanding as of December 31, 2012   1,106,627   1,106,627   1,950,167   3,576,737 

 
The Class A, Class B and Class E Warrants expire five years from date of issuance and the Class D warrants expire two years from date of issuance.  The

outstanding Class D Warrants at December 31, 2012 expired unexercised on January 31, 2013.

The Class A and Class E warrants have an exercise price of $4.00 per share, the Class B warrants have an exercise price of $8.00 per share, and the Class D
warrants have an exercise price of $2.00 per share.  The exercise price and the number of shares covered by the warrants will be adjusted if the Company has a stock
split, if there is a recapitalization of the Company’s common stock, or if the Company consolidates with or merges into another corporation.

 (13)        Commitments and contingencies

Subscription agreement

On November 27, 2012, the Company and David N. Nemelka (the “Subscriber”), the brother of John F. Nemelka, a member of the Company’s board of
directors, entered into a subscription agreement (the “Subscription Agreement”) whereby the Subscriber has agreed to purchase from the Company, and the Company
has agreed to sell and issue, a total of 4,000,000  shares of the Company’s unregistered common stock at a purchase price equal to $0.25 per share, for an aggregate
sales price of $1,000,000 (the “Purchase Price”).  The shares are subject to piggy-back registration rights if the Company files a registration statement for an offering of
securities.

The Purchase Price shall be payable to the Company as follows: (i) $50,000 on or before January 31, 2013; (ii) $50,000 on or before February 15, 2013; and
(iii) the balance of $900,000 on or before May 27, 2014 (the “Outside Due Date”).  The Subscriber may make payments of the Purchase Price at his discretion in
minimum installments of $100,000 each, until the Outside Due Date.
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(13)         Commitments and contingencies (continued)

In the event that at any time after February 15, 2013, the Company’s total available cash should be less than $100,000, the Subscriber shall, upon demand of
the Company, pay to the Company $100,000 of the then outstanding balance of the Purchase Price, which payment shall be due within thirty (30) days of the
demand.  There is no limit on the number of demands that the Company may make pursuant to this provision of the Subscription Agreement, provided, however, that in
no event shall the Company provide more than one notice of demand for payment in any thirty (30) day period.

 
As of December 31, 2012, the Subscriber had paid the Company $25,000 and was issued 100,000 shares of unregistered common stock of the

Company.  The Company will record the additional $975,000 and issue the corresponding 3,900,000 shares of common stock in the periods in which the Purchase
Price is received.  Subsequent to December 31, 2012, the Subscriber has paid the Company an additional $75,000 and was issued an additional 300,000 shares of
unregistered common stock of the Company which was recorded in the first quarter of 2013.

Operating Leases

The Company leases office and warehouse space.  Rent expense for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, was $298,452 and $361,189,
respectively.  Minimum future lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases consist of the following:

 
Year ending December 31,  Amount  
    

2013  $ 102,576 
2014   105,643 
2015   90,225 
Total  $ 298,444 

Capital Leases

The Company leases certain office equipment under an agreement classified as a capital lease. The leased assets serve as security for the lease.  The
accumulated depreciation of such equipment at December 31, 2012 and 2011 totaled $6,468 and $1,617, respectively. The net book value of such equipment at
December 31, 2012 and 2011 totaled $8,085 and $12,935, respectively.

The future commitments as of December 31, 2012 under this capital lease agreement are as follows:

Year ending December 31,  Principal   Interest   Total  
2013  $ 4,933  $ 501  $ 5,434 
2014   3,951   125   4,076 

  $ 8,884  $ 626  $ 9,510 
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(13)         Commitments and contingencies (continued)

Litigation

The Company is involved in various legal matters that have arisen in the ordinary course of business.  While the ultimate outcome of these matters is not
presently determinable, it is the opinion of management that the resolution will not have a material adverse effect on the financial position or results of operations of the
Company.

HealthTronics, Inc., along with the Company, are defendants in an alleged breach of contract lawsuit dated April 21, 2006 brought in the Miami-Dade County
Circuit Court, Florida by a former limited partner of a former limited partnership of the Company, Bone & Joint Treatment Centers of America.  Bone & Joint Treatment
Centers of America, the plaintiff, is seeking greater than $3 million.    The lawsuit went to trial and the Company received a summary judgment in its favor in December
2011.  On January 5, 2012, the plaintiff filed an appeal of the summary judgment. HealthTronics has been responsible for the defense of the lawsuit on behalf of the
Company and believes the case is unfounded and is contesting the claims vigorously.

(14)         401(k) plan

The Company sponsors a 401(k) plan that covers all employees who meet the eligibility requirements.  The Company matched 50% of employee contributions
up to 6% of theircompensation effective until January 31, 2012.  Effective February 1, 2012, the Company amended the 401(k) plan to make the Company matching
contribution discretionary and discontinued the Company match.  The Company contributed $9,664 and $73,797 to the plan for the years ended December 31, 2012
and 2011, respectively.

(15)         Stock-based compensation
 

On November 1, 2010, the Company approved the Amended and Restated 2006 Stock Incentive Plan of SANUWAVE Health, Inc. effective as of January 1,
2010 (the “Stock Incentive Plan”).  The Stock Incentive Plan permits grants of awards to selected employees, directors and advisors of the Company in the form of
restricted stock or options to purchase shares of common stock.  Options granted may include non-statutory options as well as qualified incentive stock options.  The
Stock Incentive Plan is currently administered by the board of directors of the Company.  The Stock Incentive Plan gives broad powers to the board of directors of the
Company to administer and interpret the particular form and conditions of each option.  The stock options granted under the Stock Incentive Plan are non-statutory
options which generally vest over a period of up to four years and have a ten year term.  The options are granted at an exercise price determined by the board of
directors of the Company to be the fair market value of the common stock on the date of the grant.  At December 31, 2012, the Stock Incentive Plan reserved
5,000,000 shares of common stock for grant.  Subsequent to December 31, 2012, the Stock Incentive Plan was amended to reserve a total of 8,500,000 shares of
common stock for grant.
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(15)         Stock-based compensation (continued)

As discussed in Note (6), on November 6, 2012, the Company entered into a Severance Agreement with Christopher M. Cashman in connection with his
resignation as President and Chief Executive Officer, and a director of the Company.  Pursuant to the Severance Agreement, Mr. Cashman  received (a) a grant of
1,000,000 options to acquire shares of common stock at an exercise price of $0.21 per share with 600,000 of the options vested upon the execution of the Severance
Agreement and the remaining 400,000 options vesting in increments of 100,000 upon events tied to the Company’s clinical trial plan for the dermaPACE device, or
December 31, 2016, whichever occurs first, (b) a grant of 50,000 options to acquire shares of common stock at an exercise price of $0.21 per share as consideration
for the provision of twelve months of advisory services and (c) the full vesting of all other outstanding and unvested options.  Using the Black-Scholes option pricing
model, management has determined that the options granted in November 2012 had a fair value per share of $0.15 resulting in total compensation of $160,500.
Compensation cost will be recognized over the requisite vesting period.

 
On March 8, 2012, the Company granted two members of the Company’s Medical Advisory Board each options to purchase 50,000 shares of the Company’s

common stock at an exercise price of $0.44 per share in place of an annual cash consulting fee.  Using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, management has
determined that the options granted in March 2012 had a fair value per share of $0.27 resulting in total compensation of $27,250.  Compensation cost was recognized
over the calendar year 2012.

 
On November 16, 2011, the Company granted an employee options to purchase 25,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $1.60

per share.  Using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, management has determined that the options granted in November 2011 had a fair value per share of $0.96
resulting in total compensation of $24,000.  Compensation cost will be recognized over the requisite service period.

On October 24, 2011, the Company granted 1,300,000 options to an employee at an exercise price of $1.98 per share.  Using the Black-Scholes option pricing
model, management has determined that the options granted in October 2011 had a fair value per share of $1.15 resulting in total compensation of
$1,496,563.  Compensation cost will be recognized over the requisite service period.

On September 28, 2011, the Company granted 25,000 options to a member of the board of directors at an exercise price of $2.85 per share.  On September
20, 2011, the Company granted 25,000 options to a member of the board of directors at an exercise price of $2.95 per share.  Using the Black-Scholes option pricing
model, management has determined that the options granted in September 2011 had a weighted average fair value per share of $1.58 resulting in total compensation
of $78,750.  The stock options were fully vested when granted and therefore the full compensation cost was recognized at grant date.
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(15)        Stock-based compensation (continued)
The fair value of each option award is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model using the following weighted average assumptions

for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011:
 

  2012   2011  
Weighted average expected life in years   5.2   5.8 
Weighted average risk free interest rate   0.81%   1.32%
Weighted average volatility   97.83%   65.00%
Forfeiture rate   0.0%   0.0%
Expected dividend yield   0.0%   0.0%

Since there is a limited trading history for our common stock, the expected volatility is based on historical data from companies similar in size and value to us. The
expected dividend yield is based on our historical dividend experience, however, since our inception, we have not declared dividends. The risk-free rate for periods within the
contractual life of the option is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of the grant. The amount of stock-based compensation expense recognized during a
period is based on the portion of the awards that are ultimately expected to vest. We estimate pre-vesting forfeitures at the time of grant and revise those estimates in
subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates. Ultimately, the total expense recognized over the vesting period will equal the fair value of the awards that
actually vest. The expected life of options granted represent the period of time that options granted are expected to be outstanding and are derived from the contractual terms
of the options granted.

For the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, the Company recognized $1,391,316 and $1,118,813, respectively, as compensation cost related to options
granted.  The remaining $87,184 of compensation cost will be recognized over the next three years as follows:

Years ending December 31,  

Unrecognized
Compensation

Cost  
    

2013  $ 78,260 
2014   7,542 
2015   1,382 

Total  $ 87,184 
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(15)         Stock-based compensation (continued)

A summary of option activity as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, and the changes during the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, is presented as
follows:

 

  Options   

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price
per share  

Outstanding as of December 31, 2010   2,992,796  $ 3.20 
Granted   1,375,000  $ 2.00 
Exercised   -  $ - 
Forfeited or expired   (2,250)  $ 3.14 
Outstanding as of December 31, 2011   4,365,546  $ 2.82 
Granted   1,150,000  $ 0.23 
Exercised   -  $ - 
Forfeited or expired   (286,216)  $ 2.85 
Outstanding as of December 31, 2012   5,229,330  $ 2.25 

         
Exercisable   4,720,580  $ 2.42 

 

The weighted average remaining contractual term for outstanding exercisable stock options is 6.6 years as of December 31, 2012 and 6.3 years as of
December 31, 2011.

A summary of the Company’s nonvested options as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, and changes during the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, is
presented as follows:

 

  Options   

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price
per share  

Outstanding as of December 31, 2010   883,993  $ 4.69 
Granted   1,375,000  $ 2.01 
Vested   (943,084)  $ 3.85 
Forfeited or expired   (1,187)  $ 3.62 
Outstanding as of December 31, 2011   1,314,722  $ 2.48 
Granted   1,150,000  $ 0.23 
Vested   (1,901,722)  $ 1.52 
Forfeited or expired   (54,250)  $ 3.41 
Outstanding as of December 31, 2012   508,750  $ 0.66 
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SANUWAVE HEALTH, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Years Ended December 31, 2012 and 2011

 
(16)         Segment and geographic information

The Company has one line of business with revenues being generated from sales in Europe and Asia and all significant expenses being generated in the
United States.  All significant assets are located in the United States.

(17)         Subsequent events

The Company has evaluated subsequent events through the date of issuance of the consolidated financial statements.
 

Senior Secured Notes
The Company has been working with select accredited investors to raise capital through the issuance of Senior Secured Notes as discussed in Note (7).  Through
December 31, 2012, the Company had received subscriptions payable for Senior Secured Notes in the aggregate principal amount of $430,000 and had accrued
interest expense of $8,516. Up to $2,000,000 aggregate principal amount of Senior Secured Notes are being offered by the Company.

Subsequent to year-end, the Company received an additional $1,570,000 in subscriptions for the Senior Secured Notes.  The Company completed the offering on
March 8, 2013 and issued such notes.  Kevin A. Richardson, II, chairman of the board of directors of the Company, purchased $60,000 of the Senior Secured Notes.

Subscription Agreement
As discussed in Note (13), on November 27, 2012, the Company entered into a Subscription Agreement whereby the Subscriber has agreed to purchase from

the Company, and the Company agreed to sell and issue, a total of 4,000,000 shares of the Company’s unregistered common stock at a purchase price equal to $0.25
per share, for an aggregate sales price of $1,000,000.  As of December 31, 2012, the Subscriber had paid the Company $25,000 and was issued 100,000 unregistered
shares of common stock of the Company.  The Company will record the additional $975,000 and issue the corresponding 3,900,000 shares of common stock in the
periods in which the Purchase Price is received.

Subsequent to December 31, 2012, the Subscriber has paid the Company an additional $75,000 and was issued an additional 300,000 shares of unregistered
common stock of the Company which was recorded in the first quarter of 2013.

2013 Additional Capital Raise and Consulting Agreements
The continuation of the Company’s business is dependent upon raising additional capital.  Management’s plans are to obtain additional capital in 2013 through the
issuance of common stock or other equities. The Company has engaged financial advisors to identify the opportunities for a capital raise to fund the Company's
dermaPACE clinical work and provide working capital. The Company has issued to a consultant, 2,000,000 warrants to purchase the Company’s common stock at
$0.35 per share.  The four year warrants vest 300,000 on the date of grant and 1,700,000 upon the completion of a $5,000,000, or greater, capital raise.
 

In February 2013, the Company entered into a consulting agreement with a consultant to assist the Company with its strategy for raising additional capital for
which a portion of the fee for the services performed is common stock and warrants. The Company issued 100,000 shares of common stock under this agreement in
February 2013. In addition, the Company will issue to the consultant 1,000,000 warrants to purchase common stock at an exercise price of $0.35 per share with a term
of five years upon consummation by the Company of an qualified offering (as defined in the consulting agreement) resulting in gross proceeds to the Company of no
less than $4,000,000.
 

In February 2013, the Company entered into two consulting agreements for which a portion of the fee for the services performed is paid with common stock.
The Company has issued 173,000 shares of common stock under these agreements through March 22, 2013.

 
Employment Agreement with new Chief Executive Officer

  Subsequent to December 31, 2012, Joseph Chiarelli joined the Company to serve as the Chief Executive Officer and a director of the Company commencing
on February 25, 2013 with a two year term thereafter extendable for one year periods.  Mr. Chiarelli is entitled to an annual base salary of $200,000 for the first year and
$225,000 thereafter, with a performance and compensation review not less often than annually, at which time compensation may be adjusted as determined by the
board of directors.

 
In the event of the satisfaction of the following milestones, the Company shall award and pay to Mr. Chiarelli a cash bonus as follows: (i) $35,000 for the

Company completing a financing resulting in gross proceeds to the Company of no less than $5,000,000 at a price per share of not less than $0.35; (ii) $25,000 when
the final patient is enrolled in the Company’s dermaPACE Phase III clinical trial; (iii) $25,000 upon receipt by the Company of FDA approval for the use of dermaPACE;
and (iv) $25,000 upon the execution by the Company of a license or distribution agreement from which the Company is entitled to receive gross proceeds of no less
than $1,000,000 and the Company has received payments of at least $250,000.  In addition, with respect to each full fiscal year, Mr. Chiarelli is eligible to earn an
annual bonus award as determined by the board of directors based on the achievement of certain performance goals established by the board of directors. Mr. Chiarelli
is also entitled to participate in the Company’s employee benefit plans (other than annual bonus and incentive plans).  The employment agreement contains an
agreement not to compete, which covers the term of employment and two years thereafter, and a confidentiality provision, which is indefinite.

Upon the execution of his employment agreement, Mr. Chiarelli was granted options to purchase 2,250,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at an
exercise price of $0.35 per share.  The options vest and become exercisable in five installments as follows: (i) 375,000 vested at grant; (ii) 375,000 vest upon the
Company completing a financing resulting in gross proceeds to the Company of no less than $5,000,000 at a price per share of not less than $0.35; (iii) 375,000 upon
the execution by the Company of a license or distribution agreement from which the Company is entitled to receive gross proceeds of no less than $1,000,000 and the
Company has received payments of at least $250,000; (iv) 375,000 vest upon receipt by the Company of FDA approval for the use of dermaPACE; and (v) 750,000
vest in the event the Company achieves the milestones (i), (ii), (iii) and (iv) above during the initial two year term and the term is not extended by the Company.

Stock Incentive Plan
Subsequent to December 31, 2012, the Company amended the Stock Incentive Plan to increase the shares of common stock reserved for grant pursuant to

the Stock Incentive Plan to 8,500,000.  In addition, on February 21, 2013, the Company, by mutual agreement with the active employees and directors of the Company,
cancelled options granted to the active employees in the year ended December 31, 2011 and prior which totaled 1,113,644 shares of common stock at an average
exercise price of $2.92.   In exchange for these options, the active employees and directors received new options to purchase 2,243,644 shares of common stock at an
exercise price of $0.35 per share.  The Company will record the effect of this transaction in the first quarter of 2013.
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deemed not filed for purposes of section 18 of the Exchange Act and otherwise is not subject to liability under these sections.
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Exhibit 14.1

SANUWAVE HEALTH, INC.
CODE OF BUSINESS CONDUCT AND ETHICS

Purpose

This Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (this “Code”) shall apply to each director, officer and employee of SANUWAVE Health, Inc. (the “Company”).  This Code
provides a general statement of the Company’s expectations regarding the ethical standards that each director, officer and employee should adhere to while acting on behalf of
the Company. Each director, officer and employee is expected to read and become familiar with the ethical standards described in this Code and may be required, from time to
time, to affirm his or her agreement to adhere to such standards by signing the Compliance Certificate that appears at the end of this Code.

Administration

The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for setting the standards of business conduct contained in this Code and updating these standards as it deems
appropriate to reflect changes in the legal and regulatory framework applicable to the Company, the business practices within the Company’s industry, the Company’s own
business practices, and the prevailing ethical standards of the communities in which the Company operates.  While the Company’s Chief Executive Officer will oversee the
procedures designed to implement this Code to ensure that they are operating effectively, it is the individual responsibility of each director, officer and employee of the Company
to comply with this Code.

Compliance with Laws, Rules and Regulations

The Company will comply with all laws and governmental regulations that are applicable to the Company’s activities, and expects that all directors, officers and
employees acting on behalf of the Company will obey all such laws and regulations.  Specifically, the Company is committed to:
 
 · maintaining a safe and healthy work environment;
 
 · promoting a workplace that is free from discrimination or harassment based on race, color, religion, sex or other factors that are unrelated to the Company’s business

interests;
 
 · supporting fair competition and laws prohibiting restraints of trade and other unfair trade practices;
 
 · conducting its activities in full compliance with all applicable environmental laws;
 
 · keeping the political activities of the Company’s directors, officers and employees separate from the Company’s business;
 
 · prohibiting any illegal payments to any government officials or political party representatives of any country; and
 
 · complying with all applicable state and federal securities laws.

Directors, officers and employees are prohibited from illegally trading the Company’s securities while in possession of material, nonpublic (“inside”) information about
the Company. The Company’s Statement Regarding Insider Trading by Company Personnel and the Company’s Insider Trading Policy, which describes the nature of inside
information and the related restrictions on trading, shall be deemed a part of this Code.

Conflicts of Interest; Corporate Opportunities

Directors, officers and employees should not be involved in any activity which creates or gives the appearance of a conflict of interest between their personal interests
and the Company’s interests.  In particular, no director, officer or employee shall:
 
 · be a consultant to, or a director, officer or employee of, or otherwise operate an outside business:
 
 ❑ that markets products or services in competition with the Company’s current or potential products and services;
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 ❑ that supplies products or services to the Company, unless unanimous approval has been obtained from the independent, disinterested directors of the

Company;
 ❑ that purchases products or services from the Company, unless unanimous approval has been obtained from the independent, disinterested directors of the

Company;
 
 · have any financial interest in any such outside business that might create or give the appearance of a conflict of interest; provided, however, this prohibition shall not

include a passive investment in the stock of such outside business not exceeding 5% of the outstanding shares of such outside business;
 
 · seek or accept any personal loan or services from any such outside business, except from financial institutions or service providers offering similar loans or services to

third parties under similar terms in the ordinary course of their respective businesses;
 
 · be a consultant to, or a director, officer or employee of, or otherwise operate an outside business if the demands of the outside business would interfere with the

director’s, officer’s or employee’s responsibilities with and to the Company;
 
 · accept any personal loan or guarantee of obligations from the Company, except to the extent such arrangements are legally permissible;
 
 · conduct business on behalf of the Company with immediate family members, which include spouses, children, parents, siblings and persons sharing the same home

whether or not legal relatives; or
 
 · use the Company’s property, information or position for personal gain.

The appearance of a conflict of interest may exist if an immediate family member of a director, officer or employee of the Company is a consultant to, or a director,
officer or employee of, or has a significant financial interest in, a competitor, supplier or customer of the Company, or otherwise does business with the Company.

Directors, officers and employees shall notify the Company’s Human Resources Manager of the existence of any actual or potential conflict of interest.

Confidentiality; Protection and Proper Use of the Company’s Assets

Directors, officers and employees shall maintain the confidentiality of all information entrusted to them by the Company or its suppliers, customers or other business
partners, except when disclosure is authorized by the Company or legally required.

Confidential information includes (1) information marked “Confidential,” “Private,” “For Internal Use Only,” or similar legends, (2) technical or scientific information
relating to current and future products, services or research, (3) business or marketing plans or projections, (4) earnings and other internal financial data, (5) personnel
information, (6) supply and customer lists and (7) other non-public information that, if disclosed, might be of use to the Company’s competitors, or harmful to the Company or its
suppliers, customers or other business partners.  To avoid inadvertent disclosure of confidential information, directors, officers and employees shall not discuss confidential
information with or in the presence of any unauthorized persons, including family members and friends.

Directors, officers and employees are personally responsible for protecting those Company assets that are entrusted to them and for helping to protect the Company’s
assets in general.

Directors, officers and employees shall use the Company’s assets for the Company’s legitimate business purposes only.

Fair Dealing

The Company is committed to promoting the values of honesty, integrity and fairness in the conduct of its business and sustaining a work environment that fosters
mutual respect, openness and individual integrity. Directors, officers and employees are expected to deal honestly and fairly with the Company’s customers, suppliers,
competitors and other third parties. To this end, directors, officers and employees shall not:
 
 · make false or misleading statements to customers, suppliers or other third parties;
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 · make false or misleading statements about competitors;
 
 · solicit or accept from any person that does business with the Company, or offer or extend to any such person,
 
 ❑ cash of any amount; or
 
 ❑ any gift, gratuity, meal or entertainment that could influence or reasonably give the appearance of influencing the Company’s business relationship with that

person unless it (1) is not a cash gift, (2) is consistent with customary business practices, (3) is not excessive in value, (4) cannot be construed as a bribe or
payoff, and (5) does not violate any laws or regulations;

 · solicit or accept any fee, commission or other compensation for referring customers to third-party vendors; or
 
 · otherwise take unfair advantage of the Company’s customers or suppliers, or other third parties, through manipulation, concealment, abuse of privileged information or

any other unfair-dealing practice.

Any director, officer or employee who is unsure of the propriety of the offer or acceptance of any item of value (as described above) should contact the Company’s
Human Resources Manager for clarification and guidance.

Accurate and Timely Periodic Reports

The Company is committed to providing investors with full, fair, accurate, timely and understandable disclosure in the periodic reports that it is required to file.

As a public company it is of critical importance that the Company’s filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission be accurate and timely.  Depending on their
position with the Company, employees may be called upon to provide information to assure that the Company’s public reports are complete, fair and understandable.  The
Company expects all of its personnel to take this responsibility very seriously and to provide prompt and accurate answers to inquiries related to the Company’s public
disclosure requirements.

The Finance Department bears a special responsibility for promoting integrity throughout the organization, with responsibilities to stakeholders both inside and outside
of the Company. The Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and all Finance Department personnel have a special role both to adhere to these principles themselves
and to ensure that a culture exists throughout the Company as a whole that ensures the fair and timely reporting of the Company’s financial results and condition. To this end,
the Company shall:
 
 · comply with generally accepted accounting principles at all times;
 
 · maintain a system of internal accounting controls that will provide reasonable assurances to management that all transactions are properly recorded;
 
 · maintain books and records that accurately and fairly reflect the Company’s transactions;
 
 · prohibit the establishment of any undisclosed or unrecorded funds or assets;
 
 · maintain a system of internal controls that will provide reasonable assurances to management that material information about the Company is made known to

management in a timely fashion, particularly during the periods in which the Company’s periodic reports are being prepared; and
 
 · present information in a clear, understandable and orderly manner.

Reporting and Effect of Violations

Directors, officers and employees shall report, in person or in writing, any known or suspected violations of laws, governmental regulations or this Code to the
Company’s Human Resources Manager.  The Company will not allow any retaliation against a director, officer or employee who acts in good faith in reporting any such
violation.

The Company’s Human Resources Manager will investigate any reported violations and will oversee an appropriate response, including corrective action and
preventative measures.  Directors, officers and employees that violate any laws, governmental regulations or this Code will face appropriate, case specific disciplinary action,
which may include removal, demotion or discharge.
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Waivers

The provisions of this Code may be waived for directors or officers or non-officer employees only by a resolution of the Company’s “independent” directors as defined
by applicable market rules or regulations.  Any waiver of this Code granted to a director or executive officer will be publicly disclosed as required by the securities exchange or
association on which the Company’s securities are listed for trading.  Any change in or waiver of this Code for the chief executive officer or the principal or senior financial and
accounting officers will be publicly disclosed as required by the Securities and Exchange Commission.

COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATE

I have read and understand the Company’s Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (the “Code”).  I will adhere in all respects to the ethical standards described in the
Code.  I further confirm my understanding that any violation of the Code will subject me to appropriate disciplinary action, which may include demotion or discharge.

I certify to the Company that I am not in violation of the Code, unless I have noted such violation in a signed Statement of Exceptions attached to this Compliance
Certificate.

     
(Date)    

     
Name:      
      
      
Title/Position:      
 
Check one of the following:

 ❑ A Statement of Exceptions is attached.
 ❑ No Statement of Exceptions is attached.
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EXHIBIT 21.1
 

List of Subsidiaries

Direct Subsidiary of SANUWAVE Health, Inc.

 1. SANUWAVE, Inc., a Delaware corporation

Subsidiaries of SANUWAVE, Inc. – Indirect Subsidiaries of SANUWAVE Health, Inc.

 1. SANUWAVE Services, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company

 2. SANUWAVE AG, a company organized under the laws of Switzerland
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EXHIBIT 31.1
 

Certification of Chief Executive Officer
Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a)
Under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

 
I, Joseph Chiarelli, certify that:
 
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of SANUWAVE Health, Inc.;
 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in

light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,

results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules

13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
 
 a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that

material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared;

 
 b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide

reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generallyaccepted accounting principles;

 
 c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the

disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 
 d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the

registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting; and

 
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors

and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 
 a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely

affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 
 b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial

reporting.
 
Date:  March 26, 2013
 
/s/ Joseph Chiarelli
Joseph Chiarelli
Chief Executive Officer
(principal executive officer)
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EXHIBIT 31.2
Certification of Chief Financial Officer

Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a)
Under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

I, Barry J. Jenkins, certify that:
 
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of SANUWAVE Health, Inc.;
 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in

light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,

results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules

13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
 
 a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that

material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared;

 
 b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide

reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

 
 c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the

disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 

 d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting; and

 
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors

and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 
 a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely

affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 
 b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial

reporting.
 
Date: March 26, 2013
 
/s/ Barry J. Jenkins
Barry J. Jenkins
Chief Financial Officer and COO
 (principal financial and accounting officer)
 
 

EDGAR Stream is a copyright of Issuer Direct Corporation, all rights reserved.



EXHIBIT 32.1
 

CERTIFICATION

 
In connection with the annual report of SANWUAVE Health, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012 as filed with the Securities and

Exchange Commission (the “Report”), I, Joseph Chiarelli, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, hereby certify as of the date hereof, solely for purposes of Title 18, Chapter
63, Section 1350 of the United States Code, that:
 
1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
 
2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company at the dates and for the

periods indicated.
 

 
Date:  March 26, 2013

 
/s/ Joseph Chiarelli  
Joseph Chiarelli  
Chief Executive Officer  

 

EDGAR Stream is a copyright of Issuer Direct Corporation, all rights reserved.



EXHIBIT 32.2
 

CERTIFICATION
 

In connection with the annual report of SANUWAVE Health, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012 as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission (the “Report”), I, Barry J. Jenkins, Chief Financial Officer and COO of the Company, hereby certify as of the date hereof, solely for purposes of Title 18,
Chapter 63, Section 1350 of the United States Code, that:
 
1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
 
2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company at the dates and for the

periods indicated.
 

 
Date:  March 26, 2013

 
/s/ Barry J. Jenkins  
Barry J. Jenkins  
Chief Financial Officer and COO  

EDGAR Stream is a copyright of Issuer Direct Corporation, all rights reserved.


